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Monday, February 28, 2022
--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MR. MURRAY:  Good morning, everyone.  I think we will get started now.  This is the technical conference for OEB file number EB-2021-0002, which is Enbridge's demand-side management application.

My name is Lawren Murray, and I am counsel to OEB Staff.  Before my introductory remarks and appearances I am going to hand things over to Ms. Walter, who will begin with the land acknowledgement.
Land Acknowledgement:


MS. WALTER:  The OEB acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishnaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples.

This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Metis peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.

We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.
Procedural Matters:


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Ms. Walter.  Everyone, we have a busy three days ahead of us.  As many of you know, the time estimates greatly exceeded the amount of time we have available by a wide margin, so we have provided a revised schedule that would see the technical conference can be completed on time.

Now, given that the pandemic is entering its third year, many of us are now starting to get a hand on the electronic hearing system, but electronic hearings do have challenges, and in this regard I want to remind you of a few things.

First, we can't speak over one another.  You have to speak clearly and into the microphone.  Second, I would ask intervenors to turn off their video and audio when they're not asking questions.  If someone else is asking questions and you need to interject, I would ask that you turn on your camera and also identify yourself when you come on, because it is often difficult for the court reporter to ascertain who is speaking.

I would also ask that people try to limit their interjections where possible, as the virtual environment does have its challenges in terms of locating who is saying what.

And third, I would remind people while the chat function is enabled and available, nothing said in the chat function will be recorded or appear in the transcription for today's technical conference.

With me here today from OEB Staff are Josh Wasylyk, the case manager, along with Cherida Walter, the hearings provider on this matter.  I also have with me Sheila Gu, who is our articling student at the Board.

Let's start with appearances and proceed in the order of the schedule, starting with Environmental Defence.
Appearances:


MR. ELSON:  Good morning.  Kent Elson for Environmental Defence.

MR. MURRAY:  Green Energy Coalition.

MR. POCH:  Good morning.  David Poch for the GEC.

MR. MURRAY:  Pollution Probe.

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning, everybody.  Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.

MR. MURRAY:  Federation of Rental Housing Providers.

MR. QUINN:  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.

MR. MURRAY:  Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, Michael Buonaguro for OGVG.

MR. MURRAY:  Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. MURRAY:  Association of Power Producers of Ontario.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Good morning, Jonathan McGillivray, counsel for APPrO and Anwaatin.

MR. MURRAY:  Industrial Gas Users Association.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Ian Mondrow, counsel for IGUA.

MR. MURRAY:  And next one is Anwaatin, so Mr. McGillivray, you can introduce yourself again.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Good morning, Jonathan McGillivray for Anwaatin.

MR. MURRAY:  Small Business Utility Alliance.  Is anyone here from the Small Business Utility Alliance?  Okay.  Next one is the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning.  Shelly Grice, consultant for VECC.

MR. MURRAY:  School Energy Coalition.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. MURRAY:  Low-Income Energy Network.

MR. GARDNER:  Good morning, Matt Gardner, counsel for LIEN.

MR. MURRAY:  Ontario Sustainable Energy Association.

MR. LUSNEY:  Good morning, everyone.  Travis Lusney for OSEA.

MR. MURRAY:  Energy Probe.

DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.

MR. MURRAY:  Is there anyone else in terms of the intervenors who I am missing who's on the line?

MR. POLLOCK:  Scott Pollock, counsel for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Pollock.  Anyone else?

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning --


MR. MURRAY:  Go ahead.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, consultant for London Property Management Association.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  And anyone else?

MR. JARVIS:  Ian Jarvis, representing BOMA.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  Do we have everyone now, or is there anyone still missing?

MS. PARRY:  Myfanwy Parry, Housing Services Corporation.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  Having completed appearances, I will now turn things over to Mr. O'Leary to introduce the representatives in Enbridge and his client's first panel.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Murray, and good morning to everyone.  Our first panel consists of Craig Fernandes, Jeff Hodgins, Tom Grochmal, and Daniel Johnson.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 1

Craig Fernandes

Jeff Hodgins

Tom Grochmal

Daniel Johnson

Sutha Ariyalingam

And I just wanted to mention -- and I hope this isn't premature -- but Mr. Elson, the compendium that you sent last night was received quite late, so you will trust that this panel will have difficulty responding to any questions in respect to the materials that are attached that are new to this proceeding.

I just thought I should point that out, because they came in after nine o'clock last night, and Rule 14 says they should be produced 24 hours ahead of time.  So that means that this panel should not actually be speaking to any of this until Tuesday morning.

MR. ELSON:  Dennis, I am happy to address that in the course of my questions.  Does that work for you?

MR. O'LEARY:  I am just giving you a heads-up that there may not be many answers.

MR. ELSON:  I will address it in the course of my questions.  Thanks, Dennis.

MR. MURRAY:  Dennis, is there anyone else you have to introduce, or is that it from your side?

MR. O'LEARY:  This afternoon we will have a witness available for the large-volume program offering.  If there are any questions -- I believe, if I am correct, that's after -- immediately after lunch.  Mr. Shipley will be available, but the panel currently consists of the four witnesses that are before you.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  And before I hand it over to Mr. Elson to commence with his questions, I just wanted to canvass the room to see if there were any other preliminary issues?

Having heard nothing, I will hand it over to Mr. Elson.  You are first on the list.
Examination by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  And I am going to share a screen with some of the interrogatories I am going to ask questions about.  Can you see that up on your screen?

MR. FERNANDES:  We can.

MR. ELSON:  Excellent.  Okay.  Well, I will get going, then.  This is the answer to Interrogatory No. 1 of Environmental Defence, and you will see here that there is a chart that Enbridge put together comparing the DSM plan with the potential study.  And my question is seeking an undertaking for a colour copy of this chart so that we can see which lines match up to what.  Would you be able to provide that?

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Elson, can you scroll up to the original chart that was part of the question?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, I can.  There we go.

MR. FERNANDES:  Based on the shapes of the curves, can you not tell, like, the intention was to make sure that it was clear what the company was adding.

MR. ELSON:  It is just for clarity for the Board.  I think when we're putting evidence in front of the Board, it is much better if they don't have to look at three different pages and all of the information is in one.

It doesn't seem like it would be an onerous thing to do to add colour to it, which would mean that they could look at one table and see what is the technical potential, what is the economic potential, and what's scenario A, B, and C in the chart that I had referred to earlier.

MR. FERNANDES:  Is it your preference to have particular colours?

MR. ELSON:  No.  It's just --


MR. FERNANDES:  The same as the original?

MR. ELSON:  It's just that -- well, I guess that would be better, but it doesn't need to be, no.  As long as it matches between what you see on the chart and the legend at the bottom, then it is understandable from a reader's perspective.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we can do that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  REQUEST FOR A COLOUR VERSION OF FIGURE ES-4 FROM IRR.ED.1(A) COMPARISON BETWEEN APS AND DSM PLAN SAVINGS CHART.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Elson, before you continue, I know you circulated a compendium.  Are you going to be seeking to have that marked as an exhibit?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  I may as well do that when we get there.  I am not proposing to ask any questions on that at the moment.

Just one other request, Mr. Fernandes.  When you put that undertaking response together, if you could attach a title to it that is meaningful that is meaningful as some sort of background, that would help, rather than just the chart in isolation, so that someone can look at it and see that, yes, this is a comparison between the potential study results and the DSM plan.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we can do that.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Further down that interrogatory response to number 1, it says:
"Enbridge Gas notes that the APS uses a fixed assumption for net to gross values that is substantially different from the DSM plan values utilized, which would have a material affect on the comparison of the DSM plan values to any APS scenario."


What material effect would that have?  If we're comparing the potential amount and the DSM plan amount, which of them would go up or down if you were to use the other one's assumptions?

MR. FERNANDES:  I believe that in an overall sense, if you were to apply our current or our most recent net to gross values, that the first three grey lines that you see going from the bottom to the top would come down.  But there is a number of items that we have noted with respect to the APS that makes them difficult to compare to our plan, probably most notably is that they don't use the same base line which we would measure to.

So as much as we have responded with providing the graph as requested, I would have to remind that the blue line isn't actually comparable, because they're not measuring from the same basis.

MR. ELSON:  Could you undertake, on a best efforts basis, to put together a table that is more accurately comparable, for example by applying the net to gross ratios or values that are used in the potential study to what you have in your DSM plan?

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Elson, if I could enquire with you
-- sorry to interrupt, but first of all, is there a reason why that undertaking or that request wasn't made in an interrogatory earlier?

MR. ELSON:  It was made in this interrogatory and we have an answer.  What I am asking is something further to the answer.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  You are asking for a complete -- you are asking to take all of the adjustments that the company believes are necessary, to basically go back and rejig its entire plan and adjust it to the APS or vice versa.

And so I question first why it wasn't asked earlier.  And then to the witness panel, is that something that can be completed with only a modest amount of effort?

MR. ELSON:  Well, as to your suggestion there is something improper with my question, I would argue there isn't.

What we asked was for the two pieces of information to be put together, the DSM plan and the potential study.  That's pretty clearly relevant, because one of the directions that Enbridge had was to have regard for the potential study.

A response was provided in an interrogatory which said that there are caveats in terms of that comparison, and now we are asking what seems to me to be a pretty reasonable technical conference question, saying:   Can you provide a more accurate comparison that would address some of those caveats.

I think your second question to your own panel is the most relevant one at this point, which is to say, is that something that is possible and if not, why not.

MR. O'LEARY:  That wasn't the question.  The question was can this be completed without a significant amount of effort, but your questions about directionally what those adjustments will do, in terms of either the APS or the plan, are reasonable and that's why you asked that question.

Now you are asking detailed technical questions that may require a great deal of work, and I believe that is improper.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.   I hate to interject already, but, Mr. O'Leary, your witness has -- we're interested in this, too, is why I am interjecting.

Your witness has said this material that it has provided is not comparable.  It sounds to me like you are saying that we won't provide you with something that is comparable.  And I am not sure why.  Could you perhaps explain that?

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, perhaps that's a question that Mr. Elson has for the panel, and I believe it is in the answer as well, but -- Mr. Fernandes?

MR. FERNANDES:  I was going to try and seek clarity, because I think, you know, we do want to be helpful.

Can you scroll up to the original question, Mr. Elson? Because when I read the original question, the request was to add rows to the following figure from the Achievable Potential Study.

And, you know, we did do that.  It was adding what the DSM -- the proposed DSM plan was to the figure.   And it said please make and state in the assumptions any the caveats as necessary.

So we did do our best to portray that.  And now I believe what you are asking for is can we adjust the APS to be on the same basis as our proposed DSM plan.  And there is a number of things that would have to be adjusted to make that comparable and we didn't actually author the APS.

So if we want to go back down to the caveats, if you could help me understand which ones you would like adjusted for, then I would have at least some sense of the level of effort this would require.

MR. ELSON:  It is the highlighted last bullet which I read out to you earlier, Mr. Fernandes.

MR. FERNANDES:  You are looking for that to be applied at a -- I don't want to confuse the terms.  I'm saying gross, but a portfolio level not a granular level, just as the totality is shown in the graph?

MR. ELSON:  To make the two figures as comparable as possible.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  I believe we can do a best efforts to try and take a look at that.  But again, there's still going to be remaining caveats and the caveats we actually didn't author the APS report.  So we can do it on a best efforts basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want to -- Jay Shepherd.  I just want to complete my interjection.

What we're interested in is if this comparison between the APS and your DSM plan is not realistic, not a fair comparison, can you provide a comparison that is a fair one, in your view?  That is what we're looking for.  It may not be what Mr. Elson is looking for.  He's trying to be reasonable and we're not.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, the evidence of the company specifically refers to the APS and the work that it did in respect to the APS.

So there was abundant notice of how the APS was used by the company.  And now you are asking, at the 11th hour, weeks before the hearing, for an entirely new interrogatory that is more than just clarity in respect of this, and Mr. Fernandes has proposed to make a best efforts basis to adjust for the net to gross.

But there are a bunch of other caveats and you are basically asking to take the APS and convert it to something that is equivalent to the DSM plan, and my belief is that that is a substantial amount of work and way beyond the appropriate time to be asked for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am actually asking for you to complete your answer to this interrogatory.

In this interrogatory, you have said here, we're providing you what you asked for, but it is not comparable.

And the next -- the appropriate next step to assist the Board is, here's what is comparable.

MR. O'LEARY:  The evidence is we said that it wasn't comparable in the prefiled evidence, so that is not new.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think what I am requesting is being refused.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, unless Mr. Fernandes is able to add to what he has agreed to without a great deal of effort.

MR FERNANDES:  So, Mr. Shepherd, the problem that I am struggling with right now is the APS doesn't use the same baseline that we would be measured on for the proposed DSM plan, and that is quite a number of items.

You know, could we try -- and we have done this work.  It is listed in our evidence in trying to make numerous adjustments with the work with Posterity Group.  So to try and adjust the APS and show it on a comparable basis, we had done a lot of work on that, and there is a number of items beyond just the baselines with the adoption rate.

So it depends on, you know, how detailed we want to go.  We have spent a significant amount of time and trying to deconstruct the APS, but we didn't actually author it.  I am not sure.  It depends on what you are looking for.  It sounds like you wanted it fully adjusted to be comparable.  We haven't been able to do that to date.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's fine.  Look, it is not what I want.  It is your case to make.  So if you choose not to take the next step, that's your call.  I have asked.  Do it, or not.

MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Elson, can I just ask a question?  And I was looking for you maybe to repeat the undertaking, because I think maybe there is a bit of confusion through this discussion on exactly what it is.

What I heard was really two requests, which actually would be helpful to us as well, because it is on our list, and we can strike it off if it is dealt with here.  One would be to adjust -- well, obviously add the colours.  That was already agreed to separately.

But one was to adjust the net to gross so that it is an equal assumption on this graph.  So then it is apples-to-apples comparison of net to gross.

That gets part-way there.  Mr. Fernandes indicates that there is some other factors that would have to get adjusted to make it fully apples to apples.

So then the second graph would be the apples-to-apples full one or, if there is certain factors that he can't accommodate in making that apples to apples, then he listed out, but on a best-efforts basis to be able to make that second graph fully apples to apples.  Is that the undertaking?

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Brophy, I apologize.  I'm not sure who you are actually asking that question of.  Is it Mr. Elson or myself?

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah, I just wanted to validate with Mr. Elson if that is an accurate undertaking and then, Mr. Fernandes, that you are able to do that.  And then if it is, then that's one that we can cross off for our list.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I will tell you how I'd like to word the undertaking, which is a request that Enbridge Gas reproduce the chart ED 1 such that the potential study values and the DSM plan values are as comparable as possible, and particularly with respect to the caveat in the final bullet relating to net to gross values.  Is that something that Enbridge can agree to do?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we can take a best-efforts basis to make that adjustment.  We will almost certainly have a number of caveats to it.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  ED.1(A) – TO REPRODUCE THE CHART SUCH THAT THE POTENTIAL STUDY VALUES AND THE DSM PLAN VALUES ARE AS COMPARABLE AS POSSIBLE, AND PARTICULARLY WITH RESPECT TO THE CAVEAT IN THE FINAL BULLET RELATING TO NET TO GROSS VALUES.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I will just note for the record that Mr. O'Leary's interjection started at 9:43 and it is 9:54, which is eleven minutes within which I wasn't talking, and I will move on from here.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, just for the record, we also had the interjections of Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Brophy.

MR. ELSON:  I don't mean to single you out, Mr. O'Leary, but just to note the point at which my questioning stopped and restarted.

I will move now to page 106, and it may be that my friends return to ED 1, but for now let's move on.  In particular, page 3.  This is page 3 of ED 8; that is, Environmental Defence Interrogatory No.8 to Enbridge.

This is just a simple chart showing DSM savings historic and targeted.  Could you, please, undertake to add a row showing the estimated net cumulative savings for 2021 to 2027?  At the moment there is only the annual, and we're looking also for the net cumulative to be added to this table.

MR. JOHNSON:   Sorry.  I apologize.  I was just looking at this.  So the net gas savings -- the net cumulative gas savings is there for the plan.  So can you just clarify what it is you are asking for?

MR. ELSON:  Is that the, like, the lifetime, as opposed to the annual.

MR. JOHNSON:  Isn't that the third line?  Am I missing something?  I apologize if I am not gathering something here.

MR. ELSON:  You know what?  Now that I look at it I think you are right.  I think it is included in there.

Could you also add a row to this for each year's plan, how many cubic metres will be persisting in 2030?  And sorry, I am just on the wrong table here.  I am looking now at page 4, item B.  Could you add a row for each year's plan saying how many cubic metres will be persisting in 2030?

MR. JOHNSON:  Again, I apologize.  You are asking the persisting in 2030?  Isn't that the first line?  Or am I not understanding your question again?

MR. ELSON:  I don't think so.  So let's say, for example, in 2018 you are expecting, let's say, for example 150 million cubic metres of annual savings and they peter out over time.

How many of those savings are expected to persist in 2030?  I don't think that could be what the first row is here, because it is increasing on a cumulative basis as opposed to being the number for each year.

So is for 2022, for example, you're up to 529 million.  Maybe that is the number, but it seemed to me to be more than would be persisting on an annual basis by 2030.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  So you are asking for the savings from this table in 2030 -- well, sorry, not from this table.  Technically it is from the previous table.  Of the savings from the previous table how much persists into 2030?

MR. ELSON:  I am asking for an additional row.  The additional row would show for each year, for example, the 2018, the 2019, the 2020, the 2021 plans, how many of the gas savings from that year's plan will be persisting in 2030.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  So --


MR. ELSON:  It is an additional row.

MR. JOHNSON:  So can I -- I think I understand then, and maybe it is the way I misinterpreted this question or part B when we originally answered it.

So for 2018, for example, if the measured life was 25 years -- in other words, all of it would persist into 2030 -- that would be the value.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  So I think the challenge is, I think we did attempt to answer that.  This was done on an average basis, instead of the average measure life.  It was not done on a per measure basis.

So again, effectively I think that is why this does answer what your original question was, which is, for example, 2019 is really from the previous table 2018, plus 2019, it assumes the full values of those persist, because again, our average measure life is beyond 12 years.

I think what you are asking is, yes, we do have a subset of measures that if we didn't use an average, if we did it each individual measure, you have some measures where the measure life is 30 years, some measures where the measure life is five years, and those measures would not actually persist.  We didn't do it to that level of detail.  That would be a significant additional amount of work, and I will say the majority of our measures do last beyond 12 years.  So it wouldn't be significantly different than this, and it would be quite a bit of additional work.

MR. ELSON:  No, I am not looking for that breakdown.  What I think the first row is showing is the cumulative amounts, and I am looking just, for example, the box for 2022, it would be showing the savings from the 2022 plan, not from all of the plans before it, just the 2022 plan, how many of those savings are expecting -- expected to be persisting in 2030.

MR. JOHNSON:  Right.  So I guess I can answer the question another way then, which would be, if you look at part A, again, the way we answered the question, the first -- well, it depends if you want annual or if you want cumulative.  But that would be the answer, because we just used an average measure life.  So again, if you go from 2022 to 2030, that is eight years.  We used an average measure life for this -- I don't recall the number off the top of my head, but let's say it was 15 years for example, everything would persist into 2030 from 2022.  Does that make sense?

MR. ELSON:  Because you are using an average measure life of 15 years, you're assuming that everything persists?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  As I said, I don't think it was 15 years.  I don't recall what the number was.  But we for something that was looking at the overall portfolio, we would have used an average, not a measure by measure assumption.  That would have increased the amount of work exponentially.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And is that your average measure life, 15 years?

MR. JOHNSON:  No.  I would have to go and check that, if you need it.  I expect we do have it somewhere, and I just can't recall where off the top of my head.

MR. ELSON:  In the response, you used your actual measure life?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, subject to check.  I would have to double-check that, but that is my recollection.

MR. ELSON:  The way I have seen this done in other situations is that you assume that you are going to have a reduction of, let's say, five percent of your savings per year or something to that effect.

Is that some kind of analysis that you could do without having to delve into each of the measure lives?

MR. JOHNSON:  I mean, we could make a guess there, but it would be nothing more than a guess without a detailed analysis.

You know, I think if you want to propose a number of a reduction, it would be as good as a guess as mine.

MR. ELSON:  What we would like you to do is to let us know how many of the savings are expected to persist in 2030 in as accurate a way as possible, while balancing accuracy and work.

I think it would be -- leaving it to you folks would be the best way to do that rather than me proposing it.  And that is actually what we were looking for in this interrogatory response.

Obviously, just because your measure life is 15 years long, you are not going to have all of your savings from 2022 persisting in 2030.  So if you could take that back on a best efforts basis to provide a response if possible, that would be appreciated.  Is that something you can do?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  I think what we can do is sort of perhaps look at the historic -- you know, again if you are okay on trading accuracy for effort, we could sort of look at the, you know, historical numbers where the measure lives were lower than say five or ten years, we will come up with some kind of cut-off and what percentage that represents and use that as a proxy.

Again, it won't be terribly accurate.  I also don't think it will change significantly.  Most of our measure lives are quite a bit longer than -- well, it depends.

You mentioned from 2021.  Do you want this from 2018?  Or do you want it from a more recent time?

MR. ELSON:  You could do it from 2020, but I think 2018 provides actually a bit of a better comparison.  So 2018 would be ideal, yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  So again, the only caveat I will say to what you are asking then is it is a bit of a trade-off, because if you go back further in time - again I think the reason an average is not terribly unreasonable or why we were thinking that is if you go back further in time, you know, you would have some measures that would now persist to 2030.  So again if you went beyond, say, back further than 2015, you would have measures that persisted beyond 2030 that wouldn't be captured by that average just as you would be taking off ones that were.

I guess what I am getting at is if you go back far enough in time, that average is, I would argue, correct, or at least reasonably correct.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And it depends what you are looking for.  We're not looking for the cumulative which is shown here.  We are looking for how much of each years is expected to be persisting in 2030.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  I guess my only question then is, if we are looking at it for the purposes of the plan for 2023 onwards, I don't believe we have any measures less than five years.

So again, I want to comment that if that is what you are looking for, again you would have the answer which is the values from table A.

MR. ELSON  Because none of yours are less than five years?

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, a best efforts answer would, I think, be helpful to us.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  And this conversation is helpful as well.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  We can do that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  ADD A ROW TO THIS TABLE ED.8(B), P. 4 – FOR EACH YEAR FROM 2018 TO 2027, SHOW ANNUAL DSM PLAN SAVINGS THAT PERSIST IN 2030

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I am moving now to ED 11.  In this question, we asked Enbridge to provide a comparison between its plan and the Environment Plan.

We said if you believe that a previous interrogatory provides the best comparison, you don't need to reproduce it again.

And Enbridge pointed to ED 10 -- and again we're looking at ED 11 now.  So is Enbridge saying that ED 10 provides the best comparison between its plan and the Environment Plan?  And if not, could you provide that best comparison in just a simple table like two columns, environment plan and Enbridge Gas Plan.

MR. FERNANDES:  When you say "comparison", what would you like us to compare?

MR. ELSON:  The proposed gas savings in the current DSM plan with the amounts of savings in the Environment Plan relating to natural gas.

MR. FERNANDES:  So by necessity, it will be an incomplete comparison and maybe we can go over to a reference.

Ms. Adams, would you be able to pull up the joint ENDM MECP letter to the OEB?  It was part of the DSM letter in a link.

MR. ELSON:  I think, Mr. Fernandes, you're saying that not all of the Environment Plan carbon reductions from gas are meant to come from natural gas conservation?

MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  You know, I understand that point.  And I don't think we should - I don't think we need to reiterate it.  It's in that letter.

I am fine for you to mention that in your response and I think you should, to say this is not supposed to be equal -- that may be a polite way to put it.  But we would still appreciate the best comparison that Enbridge can do.

It may be what you're saying is ED 10 is the best comparison, in which case if you could just say that explicitly.  That is what I take from this response, but I don't know if it is true or not.  If you could say, yes, this is the best comparison between those two items and summarize it in a quick table.

Do you need to take that away to see if ED 10 is the best comparison?

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  But I think to be clear, the DSM plan and the Environmental Plan don't even cover the same time frame.

MR. ELSON:  Oh, I know.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think what we were looking at, we're going to 2027, the environmental plan has a 2030 target and includes items over and above gas conservation programs run by the utility.  So, yes, I think I would want to take that away and take a look at it.

So we could do something on a best efforts basis.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  ED.11 - TO CLARIFY THE COMPARISON IN ED 10 FOR PROPOSED GAS SAVINGS IN THE CURRENT DSM PLAN WITH THE AMOUNTS OF SAVINGS IN THE ENVIRONMENT PLAN RELATING TO NATURAL GAS

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I will turn now to ED 12, and particularly page 5 of ED 12.  And this is showing a comparison between the DSM budget and what it would be based on the previous two dollar per month residential cap.

And I believe this calculation was done based on the current ratios between residential, commercial and industrial spending as opposed to the ratios in 2014.

Could you confirm whether that is the case, and if it is the case, just recalculate this based on the 2014 ratios of residential, commercial and industrial spending?

Of course, those ratios are relevant because the methodology is that you set the amount for residential DSM spending based on the cap, and then set the amount for commercial and industrial spending based on the historic ratios.  Is that something you could do, Mr. Fernandes?

MR. FERNANDES:  I am not sure I really understand what you are asking or also how it is relevant to today.

MR. ELSON:  So this question pertains to the two dollar -- previous two dollar cap and what kind of budget envelope that would create today.

MR. FERNANDES:  I understand that.

MR. ELSON:  And the previous two dollar cap was a two dollar cap on residential spending, and then you determined the residential budget based on that and derived the commercial and industrial spending based on the historic mix between residential, commercial and, industrial spending.  Are we on the same page there?

MR. FERNANDES:  So back in 2014?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And then my understanding is that this interrogatory does the same thing, but based on the current mix between residential, commercial, and industrial.  Maybe I will start there.  Is that correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  I'd have to check on what the mix that it is using, in terms of the assumption.  Off the top of my head, I don't recall that.  But I would also note that the two dollars a month reference was what the Board used previously for the current framework and plan, but the DSM letter does not use that reference point.

So, you know, right now the direction we have from the OEB that would supersede that says to have a modest increase, and it explicitly notes the large increase in the previous framework, and the reference for you it is using is a modest increase from the current budget levels.

So, you know, depending on what the answer is about what particular one, this could be a fair bit of work.  And it's not terribly useful.

MR. ELSON:  Yes, I think, Mr. Fernandes, there will be debates about what the latest DSM letter means and whether the previous cap is relevant to interpreting what modest means and what other guidance in that letter means.  And that will be an issue for the proceeding.

But I just thought of a shortcut which would actually probably be quite an easy answer, which is:  Could you provide your mix between residential, commercial, and industrial spending as a percentage of the whole in 2014 versus your current plan?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think I am going to have to confer with my fellow panellists, because that will take beyond my relevant area.  So would we be able to have a quick breakout?

MS. WALTER:  Sure, I've opened the breakout rooms.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  And I am just looking, Mr. Fernandes, just for the totals.  So one thing you could do is have the total spending, break it out by residential, commercial, and industrial, and just have the percentages back then and the percentages now, and that would be enough.  It doesn't seem complicated to me, but go ahead and confer if you need to.

MR. FERNANDES:  Are you looking for 2014 year, or --


MR. ELSON:  2014.  2013.  Something --


MR. FERNANDES:  -- what was used in the previous plan?  Like, those are not necessarily the same things.

MR. ELSON:  When the Board provided its direction in 2014, the ratios that it was referring to then.

MR. FERNANDES:  And then the comparison to now, you mean what was used in this interrogatory?

MR. ELSON:  Well, I mean what the ratios are that were used in this interrogatory, yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  Let me just confer with my panel mates.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, thank you.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JOHNSON:  Hello, we are back.  Just making sure that everyone came back.  Yes, okay.

So Mr. Elson, I just want to make sure I understand what you are asking for, which is for 2014 the ratio in I think you said residential, commercial, and industrial.  Were those the three buckets you wanted the spend split into?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, unless there are more appropriate buckets that come to your mind.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  And so you want 2014 versus 2023, what the ratio of those three spends is?

MR. ELSON:  Perfect.  Thanks.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  So just for clarity.  I think we can take that away to your point.  If we come up with different buckets we will let you know what those are, just because again the legacy utilities did do things differently, in terms of how they split their budgets, but if I understand, your key focus is you want the understanding on the residential side.  So the residential versus others is your most important split.

MR. ELSON:  An even higher level -- yes, I guess that would be the most important split.  But an even higher level -- what I am trying to get at is, is that previous guidance accurately reflected in that table or would the number be a little bit higher or lower, so you can have that as background when you are looking at what to provide.  But, yes, I think you are correct to say residential versus other would be the key split there.

MR. JOHNSON:  And so the only other thing, just given your last comment there I want to confirm is, you mentioned -- we just talked about 2014 as the reference.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  The number that we have in this table on the left side -- and my -- if you are still sharing your screen, I can't see it for some reason.  I just thought I would raise that.  I don't know if it is because when I came back in.  But that 2022 value wouldn't necessarily be the same breakdown as 2020 -- or, sorry, 2014, but you want 2014?  I just want to make sure that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Yes, please.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  We can do that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  ED.12 – PROVIDE MIX BETWEEN RESIDENTIAL, COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL FROM 2014 VS 2023 RATIO OF SPENDING FOR EACH SECTOR.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I am turning now to ED 12, and this is a chart looking at annual gas costs, and I have a couple of questions about it.  There is a line for annual carbon costs, and is that all customers or just where Enbridge is paying the carbon cost on behalf of its customers?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  Sorry, I was just trying to look at the footnote there to remind myself.

So, yes, this would just be -- subject to check, this would just be the carbon costs that flow through Enbridge.

MR. ELSON:  Could you add to this table the volumes of gas that would not be applicable for Enbridge's carbon costs, and an estimate of those carbon costs?

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  So you want -- basically, if I look at that very top row that you have on there, you want the proportion of that number for which carbon costs are not applicable.  That's the first part of your ask?

MR. ELSON:  It would be the volumes for customers who pay their own.

MR. JOHNSON:  That's correct.  That is not the first one, because that's -- for which we have commodity price data.  So there would be no reference to what that volume is compared to the total volume, though, just so we are on the same page?

MR. ELSON:  Sure, yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  Then the second thing you asked for was?

MR. ELSON:  Estimate of the carbon costs for those customers, on a best efforts basis.

MR. JOHNSON:  So these are the exempt volumes, basically?

MR. ELSON:  Well, no.

MR. JOHNSON:  Exempt from Enbridge's carbon charges?

MR. ELSON:  Correct.

MR. JOHNSON:  I shouldn't say Enbridge's carbon charges.  The charges that Enbridge --


MR. ELSON:  Is responsible for collecting, yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.  I guess my only -- you said best efforts, so I just want to clarify.  The catch there would be that is not something we would have a number for.  It would be an estimate of what that would be.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  REFERRING TO THE TABLE AT ED 12 SHOWING ANNUAL GAS COSTS: (A) TO ADD TO THE TABLE THE VOLUMES OF GAS THAT WOULD NOT BE APPLICABLE FOR ENBRIDGE'S CARBON COSTS, AND AN ESTIMATE OF THOSE CARBON COSTS; (B) TO ENSURE THAT ALL OF THE UPSTREAM COSTS ARE INCLUDED, AND ADVISE, ON A BEST EFFORTS BASIS; (C) TO ADD TO THE TABLE ONTARIO GAS CONSUMPTION IN EGI'S FRANCHISE AREA; (D) TO INCLUDE ANY OTHER COSTS FOR GAS THAT ARE MISSING


MR. ELSON:  And the commodity price, I assume annual commodity costs, that's going to be including upstream costs like upstream shipping and tariffs, that sort of thing, the cost to get the gas to Ontario?

MR. JOHNSON:  I don't have the answer to that.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think that is what I was going to ask Mr. Johnson.  I think we would have to go back and confirm that.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  On the avoided cost side, I could answer how we've done that.  But I don't know the answer for this table.  That would have been provided by a different group.

MR. ELSON:  Can you add that to JT1.6, to ensure that all of the upstream costs are included and if they're already included, to let us know.

MR. JOHNSON:  I can undertake to let you know if they are included.  I don't know that I could undertake to provide it if they aren't.

MR. ELSON:  Best efforts.  Do the best that you can.  And if you can't, just let us know why.  Sounds good?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.  I guess what I would say is, is that information we provided in ED 16 not sufficient for your needs?

MR. ELSON:  No.  This isn't an avoided cost question.

This is a -- this is looking at how much customers in Ontario are spending on gas as one potential reference point for the appropriate budget and savings levels for DSM spending.

So we are trying to figure out how much is everybody spending on gas.  And then what is the DSM budget as a proportion of all of the spending that is occurring in Ontario.

Now, I know there is complexities to come up with that total number and caveats and so on.  So we are trying to come as close as we can to what is the total amount of spending.

MR. JOHNSON:  I see.  Okay.  So I think that makes it easier now that I understand your objective.

So if there are transmission costs or storage costs that are not included here, you want that included simply to get an overall picture of total -- natural gas energy cost?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, please.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  Understood.

MR. ELSON:  If we can add that to JT1.6.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Great.  And while you are at it, could you include the total Ontario gas consumption and total Ontario gas customers on a best efforts basis.

I assume the reason you said N/A is because there are a couple of customers who aren't Enbridge customers.

But if you could provide the best number that you can come up with and add that to JT1.6 that would be appreciated, just so we can try and calculate some of these numbers.

MR. JOHNSON:  So I will say on a best efforts basis -- again, unfortunately the individual or individuals involved in this are not here.

But if it was not provided initially and that was the question to your point, presumably there is some reason.

MR. ELSON:  That's fine.  Best efforts is fine, Mr. Johnson, and we can add that to 1.6.

MR. FERNANDES:  Sorry, Mr. Elson, the reference point of total Ontario gas consumption to compare to our DSM plan that only covers our franchise territory wouldn't be a relevant comparison.  So are you asking for us to have a total Enbridge through-put?

MR. ELSON:  That would, I think, be a good answer.  Yes, Mr. Fernandes.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we can take that away on a best efforts basis.

MR. O'LEARY:  It is Dennis O'Leary.  Sorry to interrupt, but if you look at footnotes 1 and 2, it does say that the annual gas volumes forecast for the province of Ontario is not available and total customer forecasts for province of Ontario is not available.

So I think you already have the answer to those.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And I think what is being noted is the same as what Mr. Fernandes is saying, which is that we're not responsible for all gas customers, but you are responsible for a hell of a lot of them and that's enough for me.

[Laughter]

MR. ELSON:  So if you provide an answer with respect to your franchise area, that is sufficient and actually quite helpful.

MR. JOHNSON:  I think --


MR. ELSON:  Go ahead, Mr. Johnson.

MR. JOHNSON:  I think what Mr. O'Leary was saying is that information not available to you in GP3, or is there something different -- just so we're on the same page here?

MR. ELSON:  I would like to leave this area and if you could on a best efforts -- I think you know what we're looking for, add this to the table in terms of Ontario gas consumption.  If that has to be just for your franchise area, that's fine, and Ontario gas customers, if that is just for your franchise area, that's fine.  Can we add that to JT1.6?

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, thank you.  I will move on to -- I will just ask one more question.

Are there any other costs here for gas that are missing?

MR. JOHNSON:  Not off the top of my head.

MR. ELSON:  Maybe I will ask this one last question, Mr. Johnson, which is if you could take it away, if there are any other costs for gas that are missing, if you could add those into the table or flag them for us.

MR. JOHNSON:  So what about something like tax?  Would you want that included?

MR. ELSON:  I think that would be helpful, if you can.  Or if not, just note that it is excluded.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  If you could add that to 1.6.  Was that an okay?

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry.  Yes, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, thank you.  I will move on again and thank you for your help with those pieces.

I am looking at avoided costs and I guess just taking a step back.  Avoided costs are often determined by looking at marginal costs, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  They can be.  I think they're done in different ways for different components of it.  But in some cases, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And I would like to turn to a different document, which I will put up on the screen.

Well, let me ask you at a broader level, how Enbridge determines its avoided capacity -- or sorry, avoided costs for electricity.

MR. JOHNSON:  Avoided costs for electricity?  I think we actually answered that in this IR, but I can tell you at a high level it is, we used the IESO wholesale electricity cost.

MR. ELSON:  Why don't you use the IESO avoided cost figures?

MR. JOHNSON:  The main reason I would say is because they're a lot more complex.  So we use a value that is basically, you know, cents per kilowatt-hour or dollars per kilowatt-hour depending on how you want to look at it, whereas the IESO values have different times for different time of year for kilowatt-hours, and then they also have a capacity value.  That's quite a bit more complex, and since electricity is not a significant part of our portfolio, adding that complexity doesn't seem valuable.

MR. ELSON:  And when was the last time that you looked into that methodology, the methodology of using wholesale prices?  When was that decision made and when was it last reviewed?

MR. JOHNSON:  I don't know when the decision was made.  I would say it was probably quite a while ago.  And what I would say is it would have been reviewed as part of this proceeding at a very high level.  So we would have, you know, probably to the extent of what I just said to you, which is it is not a part of our portfolio.  It would add a lot of complexity.  You know, the current method is potentially less accurate, but a lot less effort.

MR. ELSON:  So when you say it would have been reviewed at a very high level, did Enbridge go back and look again at the avoided cost figures that the IESO has compared to the wholesale cost figures to see, is this still appropriate?

MR. JOHNSON:  So, yeah, we would have looked at, you know, the IESO avoided cost figures again at a very high level.  Again, the methodology as I understand it that they use in terms of, you know, having kilowatt hours versus kilowatts hasn't changed.  So we would have looked at, yes, they're using the sort of same methodology.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I am going to pull up those avoided cost figures that you would have looked at, and you will see those on the screen here.  Would these be reasonable to use, to look at avoided costs in a DSM plan?  Aside from the complexity issue?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, I guess my --


MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Elson, I don't think you can just brush aside the complexity issue.

MR. ELSON:  I don't disagree with you.  There is challenges in using these, but are they -- are they accurate figures?  Are they accurately reflecting avoided costs?

MR. FERNANDES:  But these aren't our figures.  We didn't create any of them.

MR. ELSON:  Nor are the ones that you use, which are the wholesale value, and I am asking whether these are accurate for the purposes of calculating avoided cost figures for electricity and DSM programs, if you could address the complexity, let's say.  I think Mr. Johnson was about to answer.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah, I guess what I would say is I haven't seen -- I know, you know, this was alluded to at the beginning of this conversation.  This is something that was sent through late last night.  I have had a chance to literally glance at them, so I couldn't answer your question off the top of my head.

MR. ELSON:  Now, I thought you said that you had reviewed these when you put your materials together for this DSM plan, that you reviewed the avoided cost figures and the marginal -- sorry, and the wholesale cost figures.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, so what I can say is we did, you know, get values from IESO, but these don't match.  So that's where I am struggling to answer the question.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, perhaps, Mr. Murray, I should have marked this as an exhibit earlier, but now we've gone into some questioning.

And if we could mark the Environmental Defence compendium and two attachments as exhibits, and I will leave it in your hands, Mr. Murray, do you think that we could mark the attachments as separate exhibits or have it all as one exhibit, because the two attachments are Excel files?

MR. MURRAY:  Were they provided along with the compendium yesterday?

MR. ELSON:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And filed as one?

MR. ELSON:  No, they were filed as three separate documents, because the attachments are Excel spreadsheets, which is why they had to be filed separately.

MR. MURRAY:  Why don't we mark the compendium as Exhibit KT1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE COMPENDIUM.

MR. MURRAY:  The first Excel chart, which is titled -- can you provide me with the title, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  It is entitled "IESO Annual Plan, Outlook, avoided costs".

MR. MURRAY:  And that will be Exhibit KT1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.2:  EXCEL CHART ENTITLED "IESO ANNUAL PLAN, OUTLOOK, AVOIDED COSTS"

MR. MURRAY:  And the second table is titled?

MR. ELSON:  "IESO Annual Planning Outlook, Data Tables"

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit KT1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.3:  EXCEL CHART ENTITLED "IESO ANNUAL PLANNING OUTLOOK, DATA TABLES"

MR. ELSON:  Okay, thank you.  Well, let me take you to a comparison, Mr. Johnson.  In these avoided cost figures by the APO -- sorry, by the IESO, you see that the annual avoided energy cost column currently is in the range of 23, 29 -- sort of between 20 and $32 per megawatt-hour for the plan period.  Do you see that there?

MR. JOHNSON:  So I can't see the math, if that is an average, but...

MR. ELSON:  No, it's not an average.  It ranges from $23 per megawatt-hour to $32 per meg -- sorry, to $33 per megawatt-hour.

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, I wasn't sure if that is supposed to be the value representing everything to the left or -- but, okay.

MR. ELSON:  I am going to stop sharing this and take you to the wholesale values used in your evidence.  I just need to pull it up.

And here the figures are in kilowatt hours, but in megawatt-hours it would be about $151 in 2021, for example, per megawatt-hour.  Do you see that there?

MR. JOHNSON:  I do.

MR. ELSON:  So why are the wholesale values so much higher?  We're talking about $151 per megawatt-hour compared to $23 per megawatt-hour, and why are they so different?

MR. JOHNSON:  I guess I'm -- is that a question for me?

MR. FERNANDES:  You're --


MR. ELSON:  Yes, it is, yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Elson, if you go back to your compendium, these are not comparable items.  This is taking all of the costs and including it in an annual or a megawatt-hour rate or kilowatt-hour and the other one disaggregates it and includes a demand component.  We are not the IESO.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  How the IESO does that, we simply just don't have that information.

MR. ELSON:  And I am I am not asking you to tell us what the IESO did.  I am asking you to justify your avoided cost figures, when the IESO has avoided cost figures with an energy component that is far, far lower.  It is in the range of $20 per megawatt-hour versus $151 per megawatt-hour.

If you don't have a response, that's fine.  I just want to give you a chance to comment on it before we raise it as an issue in the hearing.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah, I guess what I would say is, you know, having just been presented with that, and as I say, it doesn't match values that we have seen before, I don't have an answer for you.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Is that something that you would like to undertake to get back to us on, to justify the use of the wholesale rate versus the avoided cost rate?  Or have you provided sufficient evidence?  I just don't want to be surprised by an explanation at the hearing.

So if there is something more that you would like to think about and undertake, it would be appreciated.  If not, then I am happy to move on.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.  I guess you split that into two pieces.  One, which is why we use the values we use, but I think you had two questions built in there.  Perhaps you could try and -- what it is you were worried about.

MR. ELSON:  What I would like to know is whether Enbridge has justification for using values that are so much higher on their face than the avoided cost figures that the IESO has.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.  So again, I guess the high-level answer to that that Mr. Fernandes had already indicated is, one, we use a dollar per kilowatt-hour, whereas I believe the table you were showing us -- because it is similar to something I have seen before -- has a dollar per kilowatt-hour and a capacity component.  So it is a bit of apples and oranges.

MR. ELSON:  And the relevant capacity is going to be the winter capacity for Enbridge, correct, because we're talking about heating equipment predominantly?

MR. FERNANDES:  We're talking about the electrical component.  So I don't think you can necessarily make that claim across the board.

MR. JOHNSON:  I would agree.  As you may be aware, Mr. Elson, we have base load and heating load measures.

So base load measures would be measures that save gas year round and if there was an associated electric component, it would save the electricity year round in that particular application.

Again, we have done that separately on the gas side because, you know, it is material to us.  We have certainly not tried to break that down on the electricity side.

MR. FERNANDES:  And I don't think we even know how IESO applies this particular table, Mr. Elson.  We haven't had time to take a look at what you are referencing.

Do you have a reference for -- like this is a table, I am assuming, in some other report.  Can we have the reference for that as well?

MR. ELSON:  Of course.  It is the annual planning outlook from the IESO.  You are familiar with that I assume, Mr. Fernandes.

MR. FERNANDES:  I actually am not familiar with that, because I work in the gas utility.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  But in terms of an annual planning outlook, is this even a similar item?  I mean, are they using it to plan their capacity costs?

MR. ELSON:  Well maybe I will ask both you, Mr. Fernandes, and you, Mr. Johnson.  Do you even know how to apply this to your measures?  Would you be able to?

MR. FERNANDES:  Certainly not until we understand how, you know, number one, what in principle this is used for.  And then I think we were speaking previously about, you know, the time variability.  Like there is a number of items here showing on and off winter peak and to be able to forecast that usage is a pretty complicated item that we simply don't do today.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  That is a good enough answer for me.  Thank you, Mr. Fernandes.

Do you have documentation outlining your methodology for calculating and forecasting avoided electricity costs in addition to what's been disclosed in this proceeding today?  And if you are not sure, could you undertake to look for that and disclose it, please?

MR. JOHNSON:  Can you just repeat the question for me again? Do we have?

MR. ELSON:  Documentation outlining your methodology and justifying your methodology for calculating and forecasting avoided electricity costs.

MR. FERNANDES:  Can you provide a reference of what you are speaking to, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  We have asked a number of questions about avoided costs in ED 16, and you provided a fair amount of documentation and there wasn't much documentation there with respect to the methodology for calculating and forecasting avoided electricity costs.

I am asking whether there is documentation outlining your methodology and justifying your methodology for calculating and forecasting avoided electricity costs and, if yes, could you provide it, please -- some sort of handbook, some sort of guideline, some sort of internal practice, something where it is written down what you are supposed to do, and why.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Elson, it is Mr. O'Leary.  Just so I am clear, are you asking the witnesses to point to the pre-filed evidence that is deals with avoided costs.

MR. ELSON:  No, I'm not.

MR. O'LEARY:  You are asking for them to produce something that is in addition to what was requested in your interrogatories?

MR. ELSON:  No.  I am asking for them to produce something in addition to what was produced.

We did ask for the underlying documentation, and we received some reports that get into a lot of detail about some areas of avoided costs, and not as much in terms of electric avoided costs.

It may be that there is no documentation outlining why the wholesale price is used, how long it's been used, justifying it, explaining it.  And if that is the case, then that is a sufficient answer.

We are just asking, is there internal documentation outlining the methodology and justifying the methodology for calculating and forecasting avoided electricity costs in addition to what's been disclosed.

MR. FERNANDES:  Can you provide that interrogatory reference again, please?

MR. ELSON:  ED 16.  ED 16 has some information and we obviously don't need it again.  I am just asking if there is some sort of internal documentation that you could provide on a best efforts basis, or just let us know that there isn't.  That would be appreciated.

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Johnson, are you okay with taking it on a best efforts basis?  I don't think we have had a chance to pull up and look at what the response was, but more clarity about specifically what you are looking for would be helpful.

MR. JOHNSON:  I think -- from my recollection, I think we did outline at a high level the methodology, but I can undertake to see if there is additional detail; if available, we can provide that.

MR. ELSON:  And I think what I am looking for not only as an explanation in the interrogatory, but whether there is some sort of internal documentation to provide us with a handbook, or a study, or guideline, or something of that nature, to look to see if there is any internal documentation in that regard and to disclose it, if you can find it, please.

MR. JOHNSON:  Again just so I am clear, though, because I think you are asking for two different pieces.  One was the methodology and one was the reason behind it.  Is that correct?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  Materials that would touch on either of those topics.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.7.
UNDERTAKING JT1.7:  TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE CALCULATION AND FORECASTING OF AVOIDED ELECTRICITY COSTS.

 Mr. Elson, I am also looking at -- it is 10:47.  So unless you are almost at the end of this topic, I think now would be a good time for a break.

MR. ELSON:  Sure.  Sounds good.

MR. MURRAY:  Why don't we reconvene at eleven o'clock.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:47 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:00 a.m.

MR. MURRAY:  Welcome back, everyone.  Before I hand it back to Mr. Elson, Mr. O'Leary had one announcement he wished to make.

MR. O'LEARY:  Just, I neglected earlier to introduce a very important part of the Enbridge team, which is Asha Patel, who is with the regulatory group, and I would just like everyone to say hello.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  With that, Mr. Elson, I am going to hand it back over to you.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Good to meet you as well, Ms. Patel, and I will jump back into some questions, and I have one more question on the same topic area which arises from attachment 2 to the Environmental Defence compendium, which is Exhibit 1.3, I believe.  This, I believe, would be a question for Mr. Johnson, which you can take away if you wish.  These are the data tables from the most recent IESO annual planning outlook and this is the figure showing the weighted average marginal cost forecast.

Do you have anything else to add as to why Enbridge would propose to use the total wholesale costs as opposed to the marginal costs, as published by the IESO?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.  Again, so I am not familiar with this.  So I don't have anything to add at this time.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I will give you an opportunity to provide an undertaking.  I mean, we're going to raise the issue that it seems to us that it would be more appropriate to use marginal costs as opposed to average wholesale costs.  Is that something that you would like to take away and consider?  I am not demanding it, but...

MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah, I would certainly like to take away and consider that.  I think that is quite reasonable.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Shall we mark that as an undertaking?  JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  DATA TABLES FROM IESO PLANNING OUTLOOK, WEIGHTED AVERAGE MARGINAL COST FORECAST – WHY WOULD ENBRIDGE PROPOSE TO USE TOTAL WHOLESALE COST INSTEAD OF MARGINAL COST PUBLISHED BY THE IESO.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, thank you.  And on the question of avoided costs, how did Enbridge decide to forecast that carbon prices will not increase beyond 2030?

MR. JOHNSON:  So I don't think that is accurate.  We do forecast the carbon prices would grow by inflation after 2030.

MR. ELSON:  On a real basis they won't grow.  So let me ask you that question in a different way.

How did Enbridge decide to forecast that on a real basis carbon prices will not increase beyond 2030?

MR. JOHNSON:  I wouldn't say that we did it specifically -- it is more that we forecast in the same way for all our different components.

So for any values that we know a specific value out in time, carbon being a great example, probably the one that we know the furthest out in time, that it is specified to increase to a certain point, we use those values.  And then beyond that for all of our different components we simply escalate by inflation.  So that is just -- it is consistent with all other components that we have.  So for example -- sorry, go ahead?

MR. ELSON:  With respect to gas, do you not have a forecast?  Gas prices?

MR. JOHNSON:  So again, if we have a forecast out for a certain period of time we would use it.  Then beyond that point we would use inflation.  We would not -- so using gas as the example, if it were going to increase for a couple of years, it was doubling next year, we would not presume that it doubles from then on.  We would use the forecast that we have out to a point, and then we would escalate by inflation beyond that point.

MR. ELSON:  And so you have forecasted gas costs and you have not forecasted carbon costs beyond 2030.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think, Mr. Elson, what Mr. Johnson is saying is there is no basis for us to have a forecast beyond 2030, because the announcements from the government have not stated anything beyond that.  So we are not projecting they go down either.  We are simply saying at that point we're applying a consistent policy to all avoided costs.

MR. ELSON:  Well, you are projecting, aren't you?  You are projecting that they will not increase on a real basis beyond 2030.  That is what the assumption is underlying your application.

MR. FERNANDES:  We have to have an assumption.  We use the same assumption for all costs.  If there is a basis on which to forecast them, we do.  And after that, I think Mr. Johnson has already stated that it is inflation after, is the assumption.

MR. ELSON:  And were there any materials that Enbridge considered in setting the avoided costs of carbon beyond 2030?  Any attempts that were made to look at the likely trajectory?

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Elson, do you want us to clarify what we have done any further?  I think we stated what was done.

MR. ELSON:  If you are saying that that is all you did, then that's fine.  What I am asking is something further, and I apologize, it was a double-barrelled question.  I will split them apart.

Did you look at any documents to provide more accurate estimates or specific estimates of the carbon price in real terms beyond 2030?

MR. JOHNSON:  No, we did not.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And just to confirm, I assume that Enbridge did not look at modelling of the carbon pricing necessary to meet Canada's 2040 and 2050 carbon targets in deciding that there would be no real increase in the carbon price and your avoided cost figures beyond 2030; is that fair to say?

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry.  So are you -- can you repeat that question, or maybe I could repeat it back to make sure I understood it.

Are you asking if we modelled, what carbon price would be needed to hit government objectives specifically for the purpose of avoided cost?

MR. ELSON:  No.  I am asking if you looked at reports or studies or did your own modelling or any kind of modelling looking at the carbon pricing that might be needed to meet Canada's 2040 or 2050 carbon targets when you decided to use, as your assumption, that there would be zero increases beyond 2030 on a real basis.

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Elson, those dates are far beyond the term of this proposed plan, and there is not -- you know, I don't think we could say that the carbon price alone is what's going to drive that objective.  There is a number of other policies and factors.

So I am not sure what you are trying to clarify from our evidence, but I think we have made it clear the assumption that we have used.

MR. ELSON:  I do know the assumption that you have used, which is the zero percent increase on a real basis. I am just trying to determine how much is under the hood, how much you looked at that number and tried to figure out whether zero percent increase on a real basis is accurate or not, and the specific question was:  Did you look at any reports or other studies that modelled the carbon pricing necessary for the carbon targets that Canada has nationally as one of your inputs for that?  It sounds like the answer is no, but confirmation would be appreciated.

MR. FERNANDES:  Can you let us just confer for a brief minute and go to a breakout room?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And Mr. Fernandes, before you confer, I will add to that, that if there was other materials that you looked at, if you could provide them as part of an undertaking response, that would be appreciated, so that we can have an understanding upon what basis that decision was made.  Thank you.

MR. FERNANDES:  Thank you, Ms. Walter.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JOHNSON:  Are you there, Mr. Elson?  My screen somehow resets whenever I come back in.

MR. ELSON:  I am here, yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  I want to clarify.  I asked this and you said no, and then when you provided further clarification, it seemed to be what I was asking.  So I apologize if I am being repetitive here.

You are asking if specifically did we do any analysis on future carbon prices, specifically in terms of developing our avoided costs?

MR. ELSON:  And I guess the reason I said no is I wasn't limiting it to Enbridge itself going back and doing its own modelling on the kind of carbon pricing necessary going forward beyond 2030, but also including looking at what other groups or other authorities have said on the subject, other reports, because I think it would be a lot more to expect Enbridge to go back and do that modelling itself, but maybe it has done than it would be to say that Enbridge would be looking at what materials exist from other authorities and maybe doing your own modelling, but also looking at what other folks have done.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  So I guess what I can answer then is in the context of avoided costs whether it is others or ourselves, no, we did not look at anything beyond the federal carbon price.  That's what we used.

Again I think that is consistent with -- we haven't done modelling on electricity pricing as another example that you have already raised, or water pricing.  We have done no modelling of that.

So again, ourselves or others in the context of avoided cost.  So did I answer your question?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, you did, thank you.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  I would like to turn to two interrogatories.  One interrogatory is ED 19 to Enbridge, where we had asked whether Enbridge would oppose using a societal discount rate in the range of zero to three percent.  And in response, Enbridge said that it will apply a discount rate that is approved by the OEB as part of the DSM framework, which wasn't fully answering the question that we were looking for.

And so maybe I will take it a little bit more particular and refer to the OEB Staff 2 response to Environmental Defence, where OEB Staff experts said, "We would recommend using a society discount rate which would be lower than the 6.08 percent for cost-effectiveness analysis."


And in C:   "We recommend using the rate on a 10 or 15 year government bond as a proxy for the societal discount rate."


Does Enbridge agree with these comments?

MR. JOHNSON:  When you say these comments, our comments?  Now you have switched over to -- another IR, I believe?

MR. ELSON:  Optimal Energy's comments as the expert --


MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  -- for OEB Staff.

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Elson, this reference where the question came from, was this specifically directed at what we were previously talking about, which would be avoided costs and potentially the calculation of the TRC Plus?  Or was it with respect to amortization?  Given it's not --


MR. ELSON:  That's a good question.

MR. FERNANDES:  -- I am not --


MR. ELSON:  The question is about the discount rate used in the TRC analysis, or more generally in the cost-effectiveness analysis.  And you are you currently use a discount rate that is historically set and the experts for OEB Staff have recommended using a lower rate that would be consistent with a 10 or 15 year government bond.

And is that a recommendation that Enbridge agrees with or doesn't agree with?

I am happy for you to take it away in an undertaking, but it would be helpful to have that clarity before the hearing.

MR. FERNANDES:  Our response was that this is what's been historically used and if the OEB determines that a different rate should be used, we would use that.

MR. ELSON:  I know.  That doesn't really answer the question.

You may take no position and that's fine.  And maybe you are saying we take no position.  But we think there should be a lower discount rate.

Do you oppose that?  Do you agree with that?  Or do you take no position, if you know what I mean.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we would say we take no position at this time.

MR. ELSON:  And is that something that you would like to undertake to take away?  I know you say you take no position at this time.  I wouldn't want to be surprised by that becoming a contentious issue.  If that is something you could take away as an undertaking to let us know if you have a position on the specific recommendations set out in 10 (a) ED 5, OEB Staff 2, that would be appreciated.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we mark it with best efforts.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  ENBRIDGE’S POSITION ON THE SPECIFIC RECOMMENDATIONS ON 10A-ED 5-OEB STAFF.2 – DISCOUNT RATE TO BE USED FOR COST EFFECTIVENESS SCREENING

MR. ELSON:  I am hoping you will come back and say you agree with the recommendation, but clarity would be sufficient.  Thank you, I appreciate that.

Turning now to some interrogatory responses to Enbridge, this is ED 22, Exhibit I-10-EGI-ED 022.  On page 3 of this interrogatory response, there is a reference to NRCan's HOT2000 software.  Is that something you are able to file in this proceeding?

The reason that we are asking for it is that we had asked for calculations of the cost-effectiveness of certain items in Enbridge's Whole Home offering and you responded by referring to this software.  But we don't have access to it and is that something you could file on a best efforts basis after seeking permission from NRCan?

MR. HODGINS:  Can I just clarify, Mr. Elson, what you are looking for us to file?  This is a software program that is used to calculate savings through NRCan auditors.  So can you clarify what that would look like?

MR. ELSON:  The software in a zip file.  I don't even know if that is possible to share or not.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think Mr. Hodgins is struggling because it is a registered energy auditors that use this application.  I am not certain whether there is licence fees or whatnot, but probably more relevant is it requires training to use appropriately.

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.  My inclination would be to say that I don't think it is something we can file.

MR. ELSON:  And when you use it for your purposes, do you have a number of pre-set inputs?  Or do you have to redo the inputs every time you use the software?

MR. HODGINS:  Well, it is used by registered energy auditors, registered through NRCan, and they use the software.

I don't believe there is any pre-set inputs.  I am not the expert on it.  Like I said, it is used by the auditors that we use to help calculate pre and post savings.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Could you, please, run the HOT2000 software with the inputs for an average Enbridge customer and provide the output for a furnace upgrade calculated in accordance with that software? 

MR. HODGINS:  Well, we don't use the software ourselves.  The registered energy auditors use the software.

MR. ELSON:  We are just trying to determine the cost-effectiveness of the furnace option -- or, sorry, the furnace incentive.  And you provided an answer saying that NRCan's software is used to calculate the savings, including interactive effects.

So what I am asking for is to use that software to calculate the savings, and to avoid interactive effects to look at just the furnace incentives, so going from -- well, in accordance with the criteria in your program.

MR. FERNANDES:  So Mr. Elson, with the criteria in our program, we don't offer a furnace on its own.  And we are not proposing that.

MR. ELSON:  I don't disagree with you.  I am just trying to isolate the particular impact of just the furnace.

Presumably the running just the furnace option would overstate the impact, because the other measures would be further decreasing your usage.

If you could take that away on a best-efforts basis, run the program, provide us with the output with any caveats as necessary, that might be one way to get an answer to this question that we don't really have yet.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, Mr. Elson, it is Mr. O'Leary.  I think I have heard that the company is not the entity that undertakes the use of the NRCan software.  Therefore, there would be some difficulty with that.  But I also am concerned by the question as a matter of relevance.

I mean, the program offering does not look at furnaces on a standalone basis, and therefore how can that be of any help to the OEB panel?

MR. ELSON:  Well, let's break that apart into two pieces.

Mr. Hodgins, do members of your staff know how to use the HOT2000 program?

MR. HODGINS:  Do members of my staff know how to use the HOT2000 program?  I don't believe anybody on our staff is a registered energy auditor.

MR. ELSON:  That may be fair.  They may not be registered auditors.  Do they know how to use the program?

MR. HODGINS:  I am not aware of anyone that is -- is informed to use that program.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Grochmal, you are muted.  Do you have a comment?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, so I am just giving this a little extra thought.  I am not -- in order to use the program and use it properly, you need to be trained to use it.  That's what Mr. Fernandes was sort of making the point.

So I think what matters more is do we have access to the software and someone competent to train in.  To my knowledge -- I can take away and confirm -- I don't believe we have somebody that is just -- that has that, but I would have to confirm.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I think I will leave it there, because it is not my responsibility to justify the program, and I will move on to item (d), please.  This table outlines DSM participants that receive the furnace rebate in the applicable program year.  Can you please provide data for 2021 and add a forecast for 2022 to 2027?

MR. HODGINS:  Well, in terms of -- I will answer the second part first.  In terms of the forecast, I think we have answered that.  We don't forecast on a measure basis, so we could not provide that on a measure basis.

As for 2021, we could provide that.  I am not sure that the 2021 results -- I will leave that to Mr.  Johnson -- are finalized yet or what the timing is on that.

MR. JOHNSON:  That's correct.  We are probably not expecting that to be finalized until close to the end of March.

MR. ELSON:  So right now you have non-final results, draft results?

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  If you could undertake to provide the 2021 figures with draft results, that would be helpful.  Thank you.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  ED.22(D) – TO PROVIDE THE 2021 FIGURES WITH DRAFT RESULTS FOR ITEM (D), DSM PARTICIPANTS THAT RECEIVE THE FURNACE REBATE

MR. ELSON:  Now, I understand you don't do a formal forecast on a measure basis, but can you provide any indication of whether the 2021 figures will be roughly representative of the figures during the 2023 to 2027 period?

MR. HODGINS:  As I said, we don't forecast on a measure basis, so I don't think we could provide any indication of what that would look like.

MR. ELSON:  No.  I am not looking for specific numbers, but really high-level qualitative commentary, and maybe I can ask a very specific question.

Do you expect the values for 2023 to 2027 to be materially different from the values for 2021?  And if so, why?

MR. HODGINS:  Yeah.  Once again, I don't think that I could provide what that would look like without knowing what the future conditions are in the market.  You know, I don't think we could provide that.

MR. ELSON:  So you are not expecting it to be the same or less or more?

MR. HODGINS:  Well, as I said, I don't know if I could qualify it into one of those categories for you.

MR. ELSON:  That's fine.  If you have no idea, I just want to know.  To me that is answering the question.  You're saying you don't have any reason to say that 2023 to 2027 will be different from 2021.

MR. FERNANDES:  So Mr. Elson, are you asking us to take just a trend line?  Again, we don't forecast on that basis, I think Mr. Hodgins said.

MR. ELSON:  No, I am not looking for a forecast.  You would know a lot more about the program than I do.  And when you think about all of the relevant factors, do you see any reason for 2023 to 2027 to be different from 2021?  I think the answer was no, and I think that is sufficient unless you have anything else to add.

MR. FERNANDES:  Maybe we just take that away, Mr. Hodgins, and take a quick look on a best-efforts basis.

MR. HODGINS:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. ELSON:  Sure.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  ED.22(D) –   TO ADVISE IF IT IS EXPECTED THAT FURNACE INSTALLATION RATES FOR 2023 TO 2027 WILL BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM THE VALUES FOR 2021 AND IF SO, WHY.

MR. ELSON:  And I have a question relating to these offerings, which is whether Enbridge could provide a table with its best estimates of the installed cost for furnace, boilers, tanked water heaters, and tankless water heaters for those below your incentive cut offs and those that meet your incentive cut-offs on a high-level basis.

MR. HODGINS:  Can you repeat that question --


MR. ELSON:  I can, yes.

MR. HODGINS:  -- for us, because I am just not sure that I am understanding what you are looking for.

MR. ELSON:  I am looking for a table with Enbridge's best estimates of the installed cost for furnace, boiler, tanked water heater, and tankless water heaters, both for those below your incentive cut-offs and above the incentive cut-offs.  So how much more is it going to cost a customer on average to get a piece of equipment that meets your requirements, and we're looking for the installed cost, because I know that you folks have a lot -- I mean, I could go and look at Home Depot, but I know that you folks have a lot better data and I would rather rely on your numbers when looking at these than Home Depot.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Elson, it is Dennis O'Leary again.  Can I just ask you, to what interrogatory does this question relate?  Just so we can perhaps understand how this will assist, in terms of clarifying the company's response.

MR. ELSON:  It relates to ED 22.

MR. FERNANDES:  Which part?

MR. ELSON:  It relates to the questions where we had asked for calculations of the cost-effectiveness of these various measures, and Enbridge did not provide calculations of the cost-effectiveness.

And so we are trying to do our best to assess those.  And in particular, we are looking for estimates of the installed costs for furnaces, boilers, tanked water heaters, tankless water heaters.

My understanding is that Enbridge has estimates of -- you can't design a program without knowing what these costs are.  So I assume you have something, and we would appreciate the numbers.

MR. FERNANDES:  But can you scroll down to the response, please.

MR. ELSON:  This is the response.

MR. FERNANDES:  Which part are you....

MR. ELSON:  So we had asked for cost-effectiveness calculations, and we didn't get answers on cost-effectiveness of this equipment.

So we are now asking for a follow-up question which will, you know, partially address that issue, which is the installed costs of various pieces of equipment.  Maybe I can take a step back -- well, let me leave it there.  Is that something you can undertake to do?

MR. FERNANDES:  But I believe you said for equipment that we would incent and we wouldn't incent?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, yes.  The reason we are looking for the cost of equipment that, you know, the average equipment that doesn't meet it versus that does meet your incentive cut-offs is to get an idea of how much extra customers have to spend to get a piece of equipment that meets the incentive cut-offs.

MR. GROCHMAL:  You are looking for the incremental costs on those different measures; is that correct?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  We are looking for the incremental cost.  And ideally, we would like what they're incremental to because that additional information is helpful.  Is that something you can provide, sir?

MR. GROCHMAL:  That's a question I will put back to Mr. Hodgins, or do we need to confer?

MR. HODGINS:  Yes, I think we should confer.

MR. ELSON:  I will just add that a best efforts basis is sufficient.

MR. HODGINS:  Okay, thank you.

MR. ELSON:  Thanks.

MR. MURRAY:  Is that being given as an undertaking?

MR. HODGINS:  We are going to confer, first.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. FERNANDES:  I believe we are back.  It takes a little bit of time to go in and out of the room.

MS. WALTER:  Yes.  Everyone is back.

MR. HODGINS:  Sorry, I am having a little bit of trouble with my computer right now.  Sorry.  There we go.  Sorry.  My apologies, Mr. Elson.

Yes.  We would take that on a best efforts basis.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  TABLE WITH ENBRIDGE’S BEST ESTIMATES FOR INCREMENTAL COSTS AND INSTALLED COSTS FOR FURNACE, BOILER, WATER HEATERS – BOTH BELOW AND ABOVE INCENTIVE CUT-OFFS.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I will now turn to ED 23.  and could you undertake to provide a table showing how many customers received this incentive payment in 2018-2021?  2021 will be draft results, but that is sufficient.  This is for the water heaters.

MR. HODGINS:  It's specific to how many received an incentive payment related to water heaters, is that the question?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, please.  For the tanked or tankless.  Actually a breakout between the two would be appreciated.

MR. HODGINS:  Similar to what we provided in the last IR, we looked at for furnaces?

MR. ELSON:  Correct.  Yes, please.

MR. HODGINS:  Yes, we can take that as an undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  ED.23 – HOW MANY CUSTOMERS RECEIVED INCENTIVE PAYMENT IN 2018-2021 (DRAFT) FOR WATER HEATER ($400 INCENTIVE), BROKEN OUT BETWEEN TANKED AND TANKLESS

MR. ELSON:  This is interrogatory ED 26 and looks at capital costs to connect new residential developments.

Does this include any other or -- sorry, does this exclude any other customer costs?

Let me go through a list.  Does it include the gas line from the property line to the meter?

MR. JOHNSON:  I think we would have to have -- if we can confer quickly about this.

MR. ELSON:  Maybe I will ask a question before you go into another room, which is:  Could you confirm whether this includes all of the customer costs necessary to hook up to natural gas, including the gas line for the property to the meter and the cost of the meters and the piping from the meter to the furnace; and, if not, to include whatever additional information you can in this table, in a table that merges the data for all of the rate zones.  If you could take that away, that would be great.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. FERNANDES:  Do we have everyone back now?  I have to admit the timing of the breakout room is kind of like walking to a different room.

MS. WALTER:  Yes.  Everyone is back.

MR. FERNANDES:  I can't quite see anything yet.  It usually has a lag.

But, Mr. Elson, the context of that question -- oh, I think you have moved on.

MR. ELSON:  I froze the screen when you left.  And when you come back, it appears that when I freeze the screen, it goes blank for you.

I have now unfrozen it for my next question, but I can go back, if you would like me to.

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  I just wanted to make sure we had down what you were looking for.

So this particular question, the context was new residential development.  So this is new attachments?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  Because the folks on the panel wouldn't necessarily have some of this information.

So you were looking -- just to confirm, what were the portions of costs you wanted to ensure were included?

MR. ELSON:  All of the capital costs, including the gas line from the property to the meters, the cost of the meters, and any internal piping.

MR. FERNANDES:  So the company would not have anything beyond the meter in terms of costing, but I think we can try and do that on a best-efforts basis, to provide the other items.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  ED.26 –TO CONFIRM CAPITAL COSTS FOR NEW RESIDENTIAL CONNECTIONS, INCLUDING GAS LINE FROM THE PROPERTY TO THE METERS, THE COST OF THE METERS, AND ANY INTERNAL PIPING.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I will turn now to our compendium, and in tab 1, which is the Minister of Energy's mandate letter to the OEB, which I am sure you folks are familiar with, and in particular, bullet 1 on page 3, where the Minister says:

"I would like to express my strong interest in a framework that delivers increased natural gas savings."

And I say that as the background for the following questions.  If Enbridge was instructed to come back to the OEB with increased savings, where would those come from?  I am talking about the context where the increased savings would be coming along with a commensurate increase in budget.  Where would you start looking for those increased savings?  Would it be the same programs with greater incentives?  New program areas?  Deeper incentives for building envelope?  Geothermal program?  Cold-climate air-source heat pumps?  What are the prime candidates or technologies?

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Elson, it is Dennis O'Leary.  I am just again going to ask, how does this question relate to an interrogatory response that was given?  And what clarity are you looking for in respect to that response?

MR. ELSON:  Well, it partially doesn't relate to one, because the mandate letter comes out after the interrogatories were submitted.  It does relate, in part, to ED 28 and ED 20 -- sorry, ED 33, which were asking about geothermal programs and cold-climate air-source heat pumps.

And I think from a higher-level perspective, it is important to know what Enbridge would do if directed to find increased savings, which is something that we are looking for, and perhaps other intervenors as well.

Mr. Fernandes, do you have comments on that?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think the context is important, and, you know, I will leave it to my fellow panelists to fill in as appropriate, but if you are -- if you are saying that, you know, on this proceeding the OEB determined that we needed higher budget and target levels than what was proposed by the company, we would certainly endeavour to do it.

If we were asked specifically, I think we have already provided a response to Staff's 13, with a sensitivity analysis for the major sectors that we proposed.

So I think that would be the starting point.  But the context of your question, it totally depends on the kind of time frame and the scope or the level of what you're talking about, because something that's, you know, significantly large would take more time necessarily.

We do have a, you know, a large proposed offering.  You know, it's greater than $140 million a year, so substantial increases from that level would necessarily require the requisite planning and acquisition of resources in order to effectively deploy it in the market.

So I understand your line of questioning, but it's not very specific.  So I am not sure how we could answer that, other than in a general sense.

MR. ELSON:  I mean, that response is helpful, Mr. Fernandes, and I will break it off into more digestible chunks, short-term and long-term.

So if Enbridge needed to find, let's just say 10 to 20 percent more savings for 2023, when would it need direction to do that?  And what steps would be necessary to do that from Enbridge's perspective?

MR. FERNANDES:  Sorry.  I had a little blip there.  You said 10 to 20?

MR. ELSON:  Just as a way to make the discussion more concrete, yes.  If Enbridge needed to find 10 or 15 percent more savings for 2023 --


MR. FERNANDES:  So then you are also referring to savings rather than budget?

MR. ELSON:  Well, I mean, the savings would have to come along with a commensurate budget increase, and we're talking about an increase in savings as opposed to -- we don't want higher budgets, we want more savings.

So if you are going to be able -- if you are going to be directed to provide more savings, what steps would be necessary to do that from Enbridge's perspective, and when would you need that direction?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we are going to have to confer on that, because it does span a number of areas.

MR. ELSON:  Sure.  I am fine for you to confer or for you to take it away as an undertaking.

MR. FERNANDES:  Let's have a quick breakout and then we will get back to you, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Just before you break out so that you can talk about both of my questions, my next one is going to be about the 2024 to 2027 range and how much you could reasonably ramp up your savings on an annual percentage basis, assuming commensurate necessary budget increases.

So I am really getting into the exact question you were talking about, Mr. Fernandes, which is:  What kind of a ramp-up can you do in 2023, and then for the next period for 2024 to 2027 and what are the various considerations?  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. FERNANDES:  That was faster coming back this time.

So, Mr. Elson, maybe we can get Ms. Adams to pull up Staff 13 response, because I think we did provide quite a bit of information that is relevant.

MR. ELSON:  Issue 6 for Ms. Adams.

MR. FERNANDES:  I forgot, issue 6, EDG.

MS. ADAMS:   It is not allowing me to share my screen.

MR. ELSON:  I shared it, which might be a matter between switching back between the screens.  Issue 6-Staff-13?

MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.  If you can scroll down a little, there is quite a number of sub parts on this one, so page 5 and 6.

MR. ELSON:  Seven and six?

MR. FERNANDES:  Five and six.  Right here.  You have just gone past it.  We did a couple of things in here to try to be helpful.

Table 1 on page 3, just a little bit up from where you are at, you know, is using the 2019 APS showing a couple of the scenarios.  It explains how the scenarios overlap.  So all scenario A is included in scenario C.

So taking the major sectors, if you scroll down to table 2 and looking at the incremental values between scenario C and A, or the portion of scenario C that is over and above Scenario A, we show some broad calculations based on a 2019 APS view.

We have said that there's some inherent issues with using that.  So further down, Mr. Elson, the company provided two views, one showing a 10 percent budget increase and what we thought was reasonable in these tables.  There is a plus 10 percent by sector, and those are the major sectors that make up, you know, most of the savings.

Then there is another table showing a plus 20 percent budget increase,  But they weren't done from a viewpoint of a 10 or 20 percent increase in the savings.

And the thing we would note is that when we get into incremental savings, results are strongly non-linear with budget.

So, you know, I think we provided a fair bit of information on what the expectations might look like under the current kind of portfolio structure.

MR. ELSON:  That reference is helpful.  My question is different, which is to say -- well, I have a couple of questions.  Let me go back to 2023.

When would you need direction and what steps would be necessary to have an increase of, let's say, 10 to 20 percent in your savings for 2023?

MR. FERNANDES:  So if you look at the totality of what we presented, again a slightly different lens, this was 10 or 20 percent from budget.  It is non-linear, so the savings are lower than the increase in the budget, or, you know, incrementally the marginal costs would be expected to go up.

I think our 20 percent is close to the 10 percent increase in savings, a 20 percent increase is something that is far beyond anything that we looked at in preparation of our plan.  So I don't think we could answer that on quite, you know, easily.

And once we get to a large increase, we would probably want to look at the entirety of our portfolio.  So I think beyond that, it is a major endeavour and it is a different plan, potentially.

MR. ELSON:  So if you are talking about a 10 percent increase in the savings, when would you need direction to do that, and what steps would be necessary to do that?

I am not saying 10 percent is enough because I don't think it is, but I am just asking the question there to start.

MR. FERNANDES:  On that part, I think some of my colleagues may need to weigh in.  But that's getting to the point where how big is big?  It's not necessarily an easy item to answer.

Again, I think I would put the perspective around it, we're talking something which is asking us to put more than 25 or 30 million -- I am just doing the rough math off the top of my head -- into the market.  That's a substantial amount of resources that is required to do that.

So we've asked in this proceeding to have approval by August so that we could reasonably be in market for January 1st.

I think that would be stretching the bounds of what is reasonable and, you know, we obviously would endeavour to do what the OEB directs.  But that would put us in a position where we may not be deploying those additional resources fully effective for the year.

MR. ELSON:  Or you might have to wait.  Some of them don't get deployed until February 1st.

MR. FERNANDES:  That's what I mean.  It wouldn't be fully effective for January 1 almost certainly.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  So for 2023 -- and I actually think 2024-2027 may be the more important topic, but let's just keep working linearly here.

For 2023, if the OEB directs you to find an additional let's just say 10 percent savings in August, do you have to redesign your programs and come back to the Board?  Because you already have the DSM VA, so you would have to adjust your programs at that point.  So these are the kind of considerations that I would like you to actually take away and come back and comment on maybe in an undertaking response, because the Ministry of Energy has said increased savings and if that were to happen for 2023, well how do we make that happen?

Do you need to be putting on the table now more concrete options for the Board to consider so it could say in August, we direct you to -- Enbridge to take the additional 10 percent option, for example.

So is that something that you can go away and think about and provide a response by way of an undertaking, how to procedurally provide additional more savings for 2023?

MR. FERNANDES:  So first, that would go beyond the direction we were provided by the OEB.  So they explicitly referenced in the DSM letter existing budget levels and having a modest budget increase.

So you're now referencing something that is 20 percent plus for next year --


MR. ELSON:  I am not talking about budgets, Mr. Fernandes.  What I am talking about is increasing your savings levels and what direction would you need, when, and what steps would be necessary to, for example, increase your savings levels by 10 percent in year 2023 plan.

You don't have to agree that is a good idea.  You don't have to agree that is consistent with modest increases.  I think that is a lot below what would be a modest increase, but I think we should move that debate to a different day.

The question is, if the Board is to have an option in August to say yes, we want to if I can an option that has more savings for 2023, you know, what needs to be on the table?  How do we set ourselves up for that, because that is coming pretty soon.

Is that something you could speak to by way of an undertaking or speak to now?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we would prefer to take that away, but make sure that we're noting that we provided a, you know, specifically provided a sensitivity analysis for this purpose.  You know, if you had additional questions that weren't -- or clarifications on what's already been provided, it would certainly be helpful, because you are now asking a different question.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  And this was kind of a mother-ship response to a question that ED actually asked as well, in terms of providing a sensitivity analysis.

So is there something in the response that, you know, isn't there?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  Other than the fact that --


MR. ELSON:  Which is when you would need the direction.  What steps would be necessary to achieve those increases by 2023 on time?  I mean, for example, could the OEB in August say:  Yes, we think you should achieve 10 percent more savings.  Now go away and do it.  Or do you need to have additional information in front of the OEB to let them make that decision, such as how much greater incentives you are going to provide to achieve those additional savings.

MR. JOHNSON:  Mr. Elson, perhaps I could ask a question that might help with this.

You are referencing 10 percent, and I think maybe the challenge is this number is a little bit different.  But -- and, you know, this number isn't quite 10 percent, but it is quite far off.  If you were -- would you accept perhaps this value?  Like, when would we need to know in order to accept what we presented here in table 4?  Would that help?

MR. ELSON:  Sure, yes.  To do table 4, when would you need direction and what would be necessary to do before that time.  Okay?

MR. MURRAY:  I just want to confirm that's been given as an undertaking?

MR. ELSON:  I think so.

MR. FERNANDES:  Confirmed.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  TO RESPOND TO TABLE 4 – STAFF.13, AND PROVIDE WHEN IT WOULD NEED OEB GUIDANCE IN ORDER TO IMPLEMENT INCREASED SAVINGS DIRECTION OF +10 PERCENT.

MR. ELSON:  For 2024 to 2027, how much could Enbridge reasonably ramp up its savings on an annual percentage basis, assuming commensurate necessary budget increases?

MR. FERNANDES:  Given the direction provided by the OEB, the company has not looked at detail in significantly larger plans.  We were asked to look at modest and want to make sure that the context is there, that the OEB direction was issued in, you know, December 1st, 2020 and we were asked to file our plan in five months.  So we did not actually look at a lot of things beyond what we thought the direction or the scope of the direction was.

MR. ELSON:  Well, to be fair, Mr. Fernandes, I think a lot of parties have differing views on what the direction was.  There is reference to "modest" in the near-term, and that was said a couple of years ago.  And I think we are coming out of the near-term as we speak now, and I also disagree with what "modest" means, and I think there is other, more meaningful guidance in that letter.  But, you know, we are trying to put that aside for now, as to the debate of what the budget levels should be.

I am just trying to focus on ramping up and what kind of ramp-up Enbridge believes it can do, because it may be that the biggest constraint here is ramp-up, and so for 2024 to 2027, how much could Enbridge reasonably ramp up its savings on an annual percentage basis, assuming commensurate necessary budget increases.

Is that something that you could take away by way of an undertaking?

MR. FERNANDES:  I apologize, Mr. Elson.  That is really open-ended.  Can you be specific?  And this might entail a lot of work depending on what that answer is.

MR. ELSON:  Well, what I would suggest that you do is look back at increases that you have done in the past and look at your staffing and how quickly you could increase those, for example.

I mean, I don't want to tell you how to do it, so I don't want to give more direction, because you will do a better job than I will, which is why I am asking you.

One of the limitations is how much money you are going to spend.  Another limitation is how quick can you do a ramp-up with the resources that you have.  My understanding is that you have a great team and you could ramp up pretty quickly, but I would like to have your view on that for 2024 to 2027, what kind of ramp-up would be reasonable with whatever caveats you wish to add and whatever data sources you refer to, including maybe your previous ramp-ups and the kind of increases you could expect from your staff.

Can you undertake to do that on a best-efforts basis?

MR. FERNANDES:  I am still looking for clarity on the scale of increases that you are looking for.

MR. ELSON:  Well, that is what I am asking about, is what kind of ramp-up is feasible from a ramp-up perspective in terms of percentage.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Elson, it is Mr. O'Leary.  You know, I am having a little trouble with this as well.  The reason being is that there is a whole world of hypotheticals out there, in terms of what the Board's -- the OEB's directions are in respect of any potential ramp-up.

You know, it is hypothetically limited to one area only.  It may exclude other areas.  They may require certain program offerings to be expanded significantly and others curtailed.

So really, you are asking, in my humble view, a question that cannot be answered with any reasonableness.

MR. ELSON:  I don't agree.  I mean, we have even in the First Tracks evidence comments on what ramps-ups are possible in other jurisdictions, and we are not looking for an answer that gets into the kind of details that you are talking about, Mr. O'Leary.

We are just looking at what kind of ramp-ups Enbridge believes is reasonable, stating whatever caveats, and whatever assumptions it wishes to state.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, that's the problem, is, you know, the point is there would be so many caveats and hypotheticals in there that you've got something that -- in an answer that is frankly meaningless.  I don't see how that really assists anyone in this proceeding.

MR. ELSON:  We are not looking for a meaningless answer.  We are looking for the kind of insights that Enbridge has that we don't.  Enbridge can get back to us and say, for example, here are the kind of ramp-ups that we have done in the past.  Here is the biggest ramp-up we have done year for year.  We think we can do it again.  Here is the biggest ramp-up we have done year for year.  We think we can do better than that.  If you want to make it more particular, we can do that.  What is the fastest ramp-up that Enbridge has done, and does it think that it could do it again in 2024 to 2027?

MR. O'LEARY:  So you recall that the evidence specifically states that if there is a material increase required by any decision in this, the company may have to go back and reconsider and refile its plan.  So you're asking --


MR. ELSON:  Mr. O'Leary, I am not asking for a new plan.  What I'm looking for --


MR. O'LEARY:  That's what I'm -- sorry --


MR. ELSON:  Go ahead.

MR. O'LEARY:  -- that's what I'm -- that's what I'm saying really is what you are asking for, is for the company to go back and in an undertaking response tell you how it could file and what would be in a new plan, and I just think that is an unreasonable question.

MR. ELSON:  I am not asking for a new plan.  I am looking for --


MR. FERNANDES:  So Mr. Elson, could I try and -- I want to try and be helpful.

In terms of the context of how we approach the plan that is actually proposed, it was taken from the direction from the Board and the historical.  So I think we have already been through the two dollars a month.

So if we go back and take a look at that, what the Board did previously was put a budget constraint on the gas utilities, now amalgamated.  So we were, you know, from
a -- you had referenced the Achievable Potential Study.  So from that sort of high-level policy document point of view, we were in a budget constraint scenario.

So the way the company approached the direction from the OEB with a modest budget increase is, we looked to say that that would mean gradually relaxing that budget constraint over time.  It was a qualitative direction that we were given.  And what the company has filed was a quantitative version of that, where there's a formula, and we have explicitly culled out, you know, inflationary increases, plus a component that accounts for policy growth that directly addresses what you're saying.

And when we filed our original plan proposal, we actually asked for that to be considered right up front because it is so fundamental to the rest of the plan.

So it is not that I am looking back as any of those decisions; what's happened has happened.  But what I am really asking from you is can you give me some sense, in that sort of context or framing, of -- you know, for that period 2024-2027, what kind of growth are you looking for?

We expect that we're going to be coming from a budget constraint and relaxing it.  How fast are you looking for that to be relaxed, because that has been very consistent over a long period of time from the OEB.  To understand the budget and the bill impacts from the conservation programs,  they have never come at it from hitting a target point of view, to my knowledge.

So if you could help us in, you know, what kind of range are you looking at from budget increases from that point would certainly at least be helpful because, as Mr. O'Leary said, there is everything that is possible and everything in between and those are, you know, 10, 20, 50 different plans.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Mr. Fernandes, we don't want you to spend more money.  We want you to save more gas.  So I am reluctant to say spend more money, because I don't know how much gas you can save with more money.  That is something that is much more your expertise.

But I could particularize it and we could say would it be reasonable to ramp up your savings on an annual percentage basis assuming the commensurate necessary budget increase of -- let's look at two scenarios, 10 percent a year and 25 percent a year for 2024-2027.  Can you comment on the feasibility of that from an organizational perspective?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we could do our best efforts, understanding that by necessity we're not going to be trying to create specific plans, but we are going to be using high-level guidance.  I think we can take that away.

Before we do, Mr. Shepherd, you showed up on the screen.  Are you looking to add or...


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a follow up question on this, but I want you to give the undertaking first.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  Can we have the undertaking, please?  Are we giving the undertaking?  I just want to confirm.

MR. FERNANDES:  Confirmed.

MR. MURRAY:  Undertaking JT1.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.16:  TO PROVIDE COMMENT ON THE FEASIBILITY OF RAMPING UP SAVINGS AND ASSUMING THE COMMENSURATE NECESSARY BUDGET INCREASE, UNDER TWO SCENARIOS, ANNUAL PERCENTAGE BASES OF 10 PERCENT AND 25 PERCENT PER YEAR, 2024-2027


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  This is just a quick follow-up.  I think it was you, Mr. Fernandes, who said that during the development of this plan, you didn't look at anything -- any more aggressive savings trajectories. Is that right?

MR. FERNANDES:  No, I don't believe that's what I said.  I believe I said that we looked at it from being in a budget constraint scenario and that the Board's qualitative guidance of having modest budget increases from current levels, we were looking at it in relaxing that budget constraint over time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But what I am trying to understand is, at any point during this planning cycle -- which actually started probably in 2019, I would guess -- at any point did you say, okay, what could we do?  What is possible?  Let's leave aside the money for a second and let's just look at, if the sky is the limit, what would that be?

Because normally when you do scenario analysis, you start with the extremes and then you work to the more reasonable middle.

Did you do anything like that, any scenario analysis like that?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think where we started, Mr. Shepherd, was trying to get a sense of -- rather than trying -- rather than trying to do too many things, given the amount of time that we had, we were looking for policy direction.

I think we will probably almost certainly get into it this afternoon, the presentations that were made to the Ministry of -- I am going to call them energy and environment rather than their longer names -- where we were looking for clarity from the Environmental Plan because the range of possibilities is so wide.

We did receive direction.  It came from the OEB, and it was accompanied by a joint letter from Energy and Environment and that is where we narrowed down to actually build our plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I can --


MR. FERNANDES:  You could say we could do anything.  Of course we could do anything.  But historically, it has come -- the OEB's an economic regulator and they have come at it from that point of view of being, you know, a budget constraint and having the budget changed.

So that is the viewpoint that we took, because we felt it was appropriate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not being critical.  I am simply asking a question.  At some point, did you do the blue sky analysis?  Did you look at it and say what's possible at any time?   At any time.

MR. FERNANDES:  I don't think we did.  I mean, certainly not I mean in the policy context of, we had on the electrical side with the CDM, there is a conscious effort to cut back on some of the conservation efforts because of bill impacts and various other items.

We were looking to clarify.  I believe it might have been yourself -- and I may be wrong on that -- in one of the early stakeholder meetings for the framework consultation -- but one or more parties brought up and asked the OEB Staff themselves if they had had any direction from the government with respect to the policy and specifically the Environmental Plan, and we had gone out and sought that clarity as well.

Because it is so critical for us to understand before we invest too much time and effort in designing a plan, you know, overly simplistically I would say it is impossible for you to hit a target if you don't have a target.

So we did do that work to try to understand what it is -- what the ultimate goal is.  And then the other context that we're talking about here is, if we look at the direction that the OEB gave in the DSM letter, it's not exclusively about gas savings.

So they're very clear that there's a number of items that we needed to look at.  They're not solely gas savings.  The bill impacts are important.  But so are a number of other items that are included in that direction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is correct that you could -- you could do a lot more.

If money was no object, you could do a lot more.  I understand why you didn't look at that; that makes sense to me.  But I am asking the sort of broader question.  It's not like it is impossible.  It is just expensive.  Is that right?

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Shepherd, I am just wondering, given the time, whether or not we would be looking on breaking any time soon.  Mr. Shepherd, I was going to politely suggest -- you seem to be getting into an area of cross-examination that I would have thought was more appropriate for the actual hearing rather than here.

And in the interests of time, are you foregoing some of your time down the road to ask these questions now?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am allowed to interject, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  But we have only have so much time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not finished and I was not intending to cross-examine.  I am sorry if it sounded like it.  I was actually trying to understand what Mr. Fernandes had said.  If you don't want me to ask any more, I will stop now.

MR. O'LEARY:  I think you were clearly cross-examining.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  We will come back to the issue.  Mr. Elson, do you have a sense of how much longer you will be?  I would like to get through you before lunch.  But if it will be a significant amount of time, perhaps we should break here.

MR. ELSON:  I think it would be the latter, so I am fine to break now.

MR. MURRAY:  To the extent you can sort of try to pare down things over lunch to try to keep us on track.  I realize there has been a few interjections but we are trying to keep as close as possible on time.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  It is 12:20.  Why don't we come back at 1:05.

MR. ELSON:  Thanks.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:07 p.m.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, everyone.  We're back on the record.

Before I hand it back over to Mr. Elson, I did -- Mr. O'Leary, is your large-volume witness now here?  Or if not, is he or she going to be here shortly?

MR. O'LEARY:  The large-volume witness is available, to my understanding, all afternoon.  So one thought would be to complete Mr. Elson's questions and either launch into questions in respect to large-volume program offering or allow Mr. Poch to complete his, but I am in your hands.  But he is available all afternoon.

MR. MURRAY:  What I am thinking is that, Mr. Elson, after you are finished, perhaps any of the other intervenors, if they have questions for the large-volume witness, to maybe identify to either Ms. Walter or myself or Mr. Wasylyk at the break to say you have questions for them.  And then after Mr. Elson is done, what we will do is then shift to have any questions that people have specifically for the large-volume witness before proceeding with the regular schedule and GEC.

So I think that is going to be the plan we're going to approach, and with that I will hand it back to Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  We were just, when we left off, talking about appropriate ramp-up periods, and before we leave that, and just so that the Enbridge witnesses understand what we're looking for in relation to JT1.16, I just want to add that Mr. Shepherd had a good point to differentiate between what is feasible and what is desirable or what total budget there should be.

We are asking what kind of ramp-up percentages are feasible on an annual basis, based on Enbridge's knowledge of its own organization.  I expect it is a fair bit higher than the 25 percent that we had discussed.  We are not asking Enbridge to propose new budgets, we are not asking Enbridge to propose new plans, we're not asking Enbridge to say what's desirable.

It is really trying to focus more specifically on ramp-ups, to the extent and with best-efforts basis, and even if it isn't figures but just a discussion of it, the best you can do is the best that we'll get.  So I am happy to leave that there and see what comes back, unless you have any response to that, Mr. Fernandes.

MR. O'LEARY:  No.  Perhaps Mr. Fernandes may have a response, but, Mr. Elson, the undertaking was given as it was given, and we will not be adding further to it.  I think it is time to move on.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, I think you know what we're looking for, and we will see what we get.

In terms of an increase in savings, we talked a little bit about 2023 and what kind of savings could happen.  I am just trying to flesh out what the steps might be.

I imagine you can't just take more dollars and put them into your existing programs because you already have the DSMVA and you can "overspend" as it is right now.  So you would have to do something more than just add dollars to your existing programs, you would have to change incentive structures or something of the like.  Is that fair to say?

MR. FERNANDES:  In order to achieve greater results?

MR. ELSON:  Greater -- yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  In terms of savings in terms of gas?

MR. ELSON:  Correct.

MR. FERNANDES:  So that is a complicated question.  Kind of generic answer, I believe, is in some markets the ones that are larger are segments of the markets.  There may be more potential than others, and so, you know, it depends on the specifics of a marketplace.

We did break out by sector the proposed scorecards.  So I don't think you can generically describe it across all of the customers that we serve, because there's different types of constraints in terms of being able to drive more savings.

So it might look very different in a residential market versus a low-income market, versus an industrial market.

MR. ELSON:  And if you're looking to get more savings in 2023, are you just adding dollars to the budget or also having to change program criteria, such as the level of incentives that customers can achieve?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think incentives would be one of the tools that would potentially be used, but not exclusively.

Again, in terms of ramping up savings, the direction that we have received has two components to it.  It is looking for savings, clearly, but it is also looking at balancing that with greater bill impacts.  That is one of the driving factors as to why we broke out the scorecards to the various sectors, because they more closely align with rate classes.

So, you know, for instance, are you proposing that you want us to look at having a vastly different budget for industrial, say, compared to low-income?  Or -- the Board's direction was not exclusively focused on savings.  There is actually quite a number of -- I think one of the experts used countervailing, but there is one more than one goal and objective.

MR. ELSON:  Yeah, and I am not just talking about squeezing more out of the existing budget, although that is also ideal if you can, but, you know, let me move on, Mr. Fernandes, and ask just two particular questions.

If you were to be directed to achieve more savings in 2023 -- sorry, 2024 to 2027, would you being looking into the possibility of a geothermal program and/or a cold-climate air-source heat-pump program?

MR. FERNANDES:  Potentially, based on the rest of the direction.  I'm not sure we can answer that.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I will go for potentially, but it depends.  Is that --


MR. FERNANDES:  Definitely maybe or...

MR. ELSON:  Okay, definitely maybe.  Okay.  I am going to turn, in the interests of time, to another area, in particular, some follow-up questions to ED 33 relating to heat pumps -- sorry.  I just shared my notes.  I didn't mean to do that.

Okay.  I am turning now to an NRCan document in tab 2 of our compendium, heating and cooling with a heat pump, and I don't think any of these items will be contentious, hoping to run through these quickly.

Does Enbridge agree that the heat pumps are a proven and reliable technology?

MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, Mr. Elson, first of all, none of the witnesses have seen this document and, secondly, this clearly is cross-examination on a document that they haven't seen.  I respectfully request you move on.

MR. ELSON:  I mean, cross-examination is an open-ended -- is a closed question where I am trying to lead the witness, and what I am trying to confirm are some details about heat pumps.

This particular piece I am happy to move on to, but there are some items where I want to know if Enbridge has a different position, and I will move to the pieces that are more important, because I don't think that is a contentious one.

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Elson, before you move on, I'm sorry, I missed the interrogatory reference.

MS. ELSON:  ED 33.

MR. FERNANDES:  33?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  But this document is not attached to ED 33.  ED 33 asks a number of questions about heat-pump performance, including which region is appropriate, and so on and so forth.

So page 18 of the compendium, and in particular I am at page 9 of the NRCan document.  It says on a seasonal basis the heating seasonal performance factor of market available units can vary from 7.1 to 13.2, region V for air-source heat pumps, and it also says that these HSPF estimates are for an area with a climate similar to Ottawa.

Are those statements you would agree with?  Or is that something you'd want to take away as an undertaking response?

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Elson, the document -- and my apologies.  I'm supposed to turn on my video when I do this.  Mr. Elson, the document says what it says, and it is from another entity.  It is not an Enbridge document.  So I respectfully suggest, again, you are simply cross-examining on something that wasn't even produced in sufficient time to allow the witnesses to review it.

MR. ELSON:  If the witnesses want to take it away as an undertaking, I am trying to have a common understanding of what the market available units in terms of heat pumps can do, in terms of an HSPF factor.

We asked a whole lot of questions about HSPF in ED 33.  This is the fastest way to do this, Mr. O'Leary, and if you weren't objecting, I assume your witnesses would just be saying yes and we would be moving on.

I think your objections are taking up more time and potentially it will just mean we will have to deal with these nit-picky details at the hearing.

I don't see any reason why not to make sure we have a common understanding of, for example, what HSPF V region is referring to, and does that include Ottawa or not.

MR. O'LEARY:  Please take the witnesses to ED 33, that would be the source of the questions --


MR. ELSON:  Mr. O'Leary, what is the point of me taking the witnesses to ED 33 where we had the debate about Ottawa and region V?

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, again, this is a document put out by someone else.

MR. ELSON:  By National Resources Canada.  It is not put out by nobody.

MR. O'LEARY:  So you can present that at the hearing as for whatever basis that you want.  To ask these witnesses now for confirmation on something they haven't reviewed, which is only remotely linked to an interrogatory, I suggest goes way beyond the intention of a technical conference.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. O'Leary, my problem is that this document is not going to be put in by a witness.  So I can't rely on this docum4ent as concrete evidence of the assertions stated therein.

MR. O'LEARY:  Do you have --


MR. ELSON:  What I am trying --


MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, yes.

MR. ELSON:  What I am trying to get at is a number of very basic facts about air source heat pumps, so that we have a common understanding on the record.

I don't think these technical points are ones which should be wasting the panel's time at the hearing.  We tried to get into some of these issues in ED 33.  We got some good answers.  This line of questioning I had only envisioned taking about three minutes, because I don't think these are contentious issues.

If your witnesses are concerned about wanting to go back and think about are the market available units ranging from 7.1 to 13.2, that's fine; we can have an undertaking.

I don't think there is any unfairness there.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Elson, in fairness, you do have a witness that is going to be speaking to heat pumps at the proceeding.  So it would be unfair to suggest you don't have a means of introducing this and having someone speak to it.

MR. ELSON:  My challenge, Mr. O'Leary, is I don't want to have a fight in this hearing about the capacity of an air source heat pump.  That is a total waste of the panel's time and I don't think this is a contentious issue.

I don't know why you are attempting to stop this questioning instead of letting us get on with the day.



MR. O'LEARY:  I would like everyone to get on with the day, that's for sure.  Are you going to move on?  You have my objection.  I think it is inappropriate.  We are going to rely on the rule.  This panel has not seen this document, therefore will not be responding to questions.

MR. ELSON:  I will ask a question untethered.  Mr. Fernandes, or anyone on your team, would you agree that on a seasonal basis, the heating seasonal performance factor of market available units of air source heat pumps can vary from 7.1 to 13.2 for region V?  Would that be a fair statement?

MR. O'LEARY:  And is that a question that arises out of ED 33?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Would you please take us to that.

MR. ELSON:  If it's your time not mine I'm happy to, yes, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. O'LEARY:  I think this panel is entitled to be taken to the interrogatory response that you say has some lack of clarity.

MR. ELSON:  Again, I am happy to get into the basis of these questions.  But I am not okay with this taking up my time.  So I will take you there, but this is going to be dragging on the day.  If we do this for every question and had done this for every question, we would have a very, very long day.  But I will pause and move over to ED 33.

I am looking at ED 33, and this is the first item here where we have said that -- we have asked for confirmation about the scope of HSPF 5 and I believe in the question -- I will have to flip up to the question we specifically asked, whether Ottawa region was part of region 5, and Enbridge said it can't confirm whether or not that is the case.

So this is a follow up question to that.  I don't know why Enbridge couldn't confirm that in the interrogatory response, and again I provided that NRCan document as helpful guidance, but we don't have to refer to that, if you prefer not to Mr. O'Leary.

So this is part of what we're trying to determine in terms of ED 33.  I will pause the share and continue reading ED 33 to pull up the other references if you wish.  Would you like me to do that, Mr. O'Leary?

MR. O'LEARY:  You were going to ask the questions.  Ask them in respect and using ED 33 as the basis for those questions.

MR. ELSON:  I'm not sure I understand. I asked a question and you said that it was not tethered to an interrogatory.  I have now taken you to the interrogatory.  Shall I return to my questioning?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, you can ask questions about ED 33.

MR. ELSON:  I'm not asking questions about the interrogatory.  It is questions about the topics covered in the interrogatory, but I will continue.

Witness panel, can you confirm that HSPF region 5 includes Ottawa?  And if not, can you explain why not?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I think -- it is Tom Grochmal here, Mr. Elson, that we were pretty clear in our response that it was for technical reasons that we just -- I think it was based on a map that was provided by you, was it not?

Anyhow, we couldn't confirm the northern boundaries, not to say that it isn't.  It sounds like you have other information that suggests that it is, and I am not in -- if it is coming from NRCan, I will trust it is accurate given they're an authority in the matter.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Would you agree that the HSPF ratings for air source heat pumps that are market available range from roughly 7.1 to 13.2 for region 5?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Are you asking me whether I agree whether NRCan has done their homework properly?

MR. ELSON:  No, I am asking if that is your understanding as well.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I think NRCan's understanding is based on a database of available equipment that's available for sale in Canada, and my understanding is that it is a very long list.

So again, if you are asking me to confirm whether that very long list is properly represented by NRCan, I think perhaps it is best to ask them.  I will trust that they know what they're doing.

MR. ELSON:  I guess I am trying to understand if you're saying up to 13.2 is too low or too high, or if you're saying you have no reason to object or disagree with that NRCan number.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Too low?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Or too high?

MR. ELSON:  Either.  Let me ask you the question.  Would you agree there are market available units with a 13.2 HSPF in region 5 in Canada?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, I guess what I do is I would go probably to the same source of information in NRCan is referring to and I would perhaps use that as a source of reference to answer that question.

Do you want to get into that level of information?  I haven't looked at it myself, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Sure, if you needs to, you could give an undertaking to let us know whether that is a correct statement or not, are there market available units in the range of 13.2 in region 5.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Is it helpful if I said, in a general Sense, it looks reasonably correct.  Is that good enough?

MR. ELSON:  That's good enough.  I don't want to give you work.  Thank you, sir.

MR. GROCHMAL:  You're welcome.

MR. ELSON:  The lifespan of air source heat pumps tend to be in the 15- to 20-year range?  I am basing that again on the NRCan information, but I won't -- I will or won't take you there, depending on what you prefer.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I think -- did you not ask us a question about life?  I feel like you did, Mr. Elson.  It was an interrogatory and we already provided you with an answer.

MR. ELSON:  I will go back and double-check, and that can be a small clarification if necessary.

MR. GROCHMAL:  And subject to check, I believe 15 years, Mr. Elson, was sort of our estimates.  So --


MR. ELSON:  Yeah.

MR. GROCHMAL:  -- if you're quoting 15 to 20, I would say you're within the range.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And in terms of ground-source heat-pump, lifespan of about 20 to 25 years sounds reasonable to you?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah, I'm not comfortable really providing that without taking away and doing some research of our own.  I don't have that available.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And if I were to say that that's what NRCan provides, would you say that is reasonable?  Or is that something you still want to take away?

MR. GROCHMAL:  You know, I did -- given NRCan's authority in this matter, I wouldn't have any obvious reason off the top of my head to question it.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  So Mr. Elson, though, if I have this correctly, the document you're referring to from NRCan is really kind of an illustrative portrayal for consumers.  Is that correct?  Because it is not necessarily the same that would be the same sort of rigour that would go into something like what might be done for a technical resource manual.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I mean, that's -- these are the questions that I am getting into.  So if those numbers are different then I would want to know.

So to be honest with you, your application is farther away from ground-source heat pumps than the other kind of heat pumps we would address, so in the interests of time I think I should just move on, but your point is well taken.

I am going to turn to ED 38 and page 2 of ED 38.  We had asked for the cost of some gas heat pumps in other jurisdictions converted into the price in Canadian dollars, and you said that the equipment is going to need to undergo some changes, so that might not be representative, which is a helpful caveat, but we would still like, as a basis, the cost of -- and let's just take the first example you provided -- the Robur K 18.  What is the cost of that in Canadian dollars?  Is that something you can provide?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Specifically for the K 18, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  That, or if there is another one where the data is more easy to find in terms of the cost of a residential gas heat pump where they're on sale somewhere else in other jurisdictions, then the price of that in Canadian dollars.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I believe we already provided you with estimated costs for residential gas heat pumps, did we not --


MR. ELSON:  Yes.  That is my next question, actually, which is on the screen here, and it is -- sorry.  You said $6,700.  So my next undertaking -- and maybe we can wrap them into one -- is if you can explain the basis for that estimate?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, I can tell you the basis of the estimate without undertaking it --


MR. ELSON:  Oh, yeah, sure, okay.  Great.

MR. GROCHMAL:  -- just from our discussion with the suppliers based on their forecasts of costs at production volumes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, that is -- oh, cost at production volumes?  Fine.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, actually, you know what?  Sorry, just let me -- one second, actually, Mr. Elson.  You know what?  I can take -- that's fine.  I can take that one and clarify.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.17.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.17:  TO EXPLAIN THE BASIS FOR THE ESTIMATED COSTS FOR RESIDENTIAL GAS HEAT PUMPS.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  If you don't have anything to add other than what you stated on the record, that is fine for our purposes.

Could you also provide the cost of some of the units that are on sale in Europe?  And let's just take the Robur K 18 to make it simple, the cost of that in Canadian dollars.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I guess what's the -- just let me ask, sir, what is the -- again, we've made it clear -- like, the issue that -- it's not necessarily appropriate, because, you know, to bring these units over from Europe or China to North America.  They need to be modified, they need to be recertified.  They may reflect different input costs, too.

So would it still be helpful to know that, in spite of all of those caveats --


MR. ELSON:  It would be to me to -- yes, to me it is another data point.  What a supplier says is often not what a supplier charges at the end of the day.  So to me it is just another concrete data point which we had asked for before.  And, you know, we understand that there is caveats.  I can't imagine that it would be less than what it is in other jurisdictions, but, you know, we would take any caveats as necessary.  Is that something you can provide?

MR. O'LEARY:  Is that not something, Mr. Elson, that you could ask your witness to do?  Aren't these publicly available figures?

MR. ELSON:  No.  I am looking for Enbridge to justify its choice of subsidizing gas heat pumps.  So I am testing your evidence on the price of that.  And I am asking your witnesses to provide something a bit more concrete than discussions with suppliers, because discussions with suppliers, when they're meeting with utilities, you are proposing to subsidize their products, may not be the actual price at the end of the day.

So I am just saying, can you provide the price of the Robur K 18, which is just one unit, and convert that to Canadian dollars, just so I can take a look?

MR. O'LEARY:  So Mr. Grochmal has indicated that he questions whether that foreign price would be relevant for all the reasons that he gave.  So he's saying that would not be representative and therefore not of benefit to anyone here or the commissioners.

And he has given you an undertaking in respect to the $6,700.  I think that is all you can ask for.  I think I am going to suggest you move along.

MR. ELSON:  Well, you can suggest that I move along.  I don't think that is what your witness said.  He didn't say it is not at all relevant.  He said the price is going to change.  Now, the price changing between jurisdictions doesn't mean that the price in a different jurisdiction is completely irrelevant.  I don't agree it is irrelevant.  If you're making something more than a suggestion that I move on and refusing to provide the price in other jurisdictions, that's going to leave me where I am, but --


MR. O'LEARY:  We are refusing to provide the price in the other jurisdictions.  That is something you could do yourself.

MR. ELSON:  Could you, in relation to in part D, provide a range of seasonal coefficient of performance figures or confirm that these are seasonal coefficient of performance figures?  This is part D of ED 38, where there is a reference to 1.1 to 1.6.

Maybe I will start with a simple question.  Is that a seasonal coefficient of performance or a high and low depending on what the temperature is outside?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry.  I am just taking a moment to read the response here, Mr. Elson.

You know what?  I would just take that away to get you some clarification on that piece.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Maybe I will phrase it as clarification for D and  H, because H is also talking about a coefficient of performance.  Really what we're looking for is the seasonal average coefficient of performance for region 5, if possible, or if you provide region 4, just let us -- just be clear which region it is for.

MR. GROCHMAL:  No, that's fair.  That's fair.  That is something we should be able to provide a quick clarification on.

MR. ELSON:  Thanks.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.18.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.18:  IN RELATION TO IN PARTS D AND H, TO PROVIDE A RANGE OF SEASONAL COEFFICIENT OF PERFORMANCE FIGURES OR CONFIRM THAT THESE ARE SEASONAL COEFFICIENT OF PERFORMANCE FIGURES, IN ED 38, WHERE THERE IS A REFERENCE TO 1.1 TO 1.6.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, appreciate that.

And J and K provide the installed cost estimates for gas heat pumps and the cold-climate heat pump, air-source heat pump.

Could you provide by way of an undertaking the basis for each of those estimates, for example if you have, if it's an amalgam of estimates from different providers, that you provide that additional detail?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry, just before I answer you, Mr. Elson, there is a footnote to the second highlighted --


MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, thank you.  Okay.  so we explain it there.  Is that not sufficient?

MR. ELSON:  If you could provide a further breakdown that would be appreciated.  I don't know how hard that is to find, but, you know, a further basis for those estimates would be appreciated.  You know, what are they saying when they say something is going to be $15,000 or 11,100.  For example, if you have some quotes where they say, here is the unit and here is how much it is going to cost and here's the sizing, that sort of thing would be helpful.

MR. GROCHMAL:  So a breakdown as in like equipment costs, installation costs, as much granularity behind that number?  Is that what you're asking for?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  For both J and K.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, we should be able to do that, Mr. Elson.  I have no problem with that.

MR. ELSON:  Thanks.  I appreciate that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.19.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.19:  FOR J AND K TO PROVIDE THE BASIS FOR EACH OF THE INSTALLED COST ESTIMATES FOR GAS HEAT PUMPS AND THE COLD-CLIMATE HEAT PUMP, AIR-SOURCE HEAT PUMP.

MR. ELSON:  I am moving to Staff 77 and there is discussion -- this was a long interrogatory response about cold climate air source heat pumps, hybrid systems with gas and electric heat pumps, and it also addresses gas heat pumps at some point.

On page 4, there is a reference to the NRCan model.  And can you undertake to seek consent from NRCan to disclose that model in this proceeding, whether under a confidential basis or otherwise, and disclose it if you can?


MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry, for what purpose, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  So that we can understand how you calculated the savings for hybrid heat pumps.  You used this model to calculate the savings for hybrid heat pumps and it is just a bit of a black box to us.

So if that is something that that could be disclosed, I understand you have to ask NRCan, but if you could do that, please do.  And frankly, if not, if you could request a confidentiality order from the Board, because I think that would be the alternative, the alternative route.  Is that possible?

MR. O'LEARY:  In terms of requesting the confidentiality order from the Board, that is certainly not a question that this panel should be responding to.

We would only consider that with full knowledge of the circumstances.  So that will not be part of any undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  Yes, sorry.  Perhaps I am unclear and I wasn't suggesting that.  What I am looking for is to ask NRCan if you can disclose the model, if they give consent to disclose it in an appropriate form.

MR. O'LEARY:  Again, and it is something that is relevant that would be useful for the purposes of the OEB in this proceeding?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  And how is that?  Because I understand from Mr. Grochmal that he's not certain that it would be of any benefit.

MR. ELSON:  I think I addressed Mr. Grochmal's concerns.  He asked why we are asking for it and it is because it was used to calculate the presumed savings for the hybrid heat pumps.  And without the model, it is just a black box and we don't know how it's been done.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, we will ask and respond to you with a determination.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. FERNANDES:  My only concern, Mr. Elson, is whether the terming of a response.  So I think we can ask, but that is all that is within our control.

MR. ELSON:  You can ask, but you can't make NRCan answer.  Thanks, Mr. Fernandes.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be JT1.20.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.20:  TO PROVIDE THE CALCULATION FOR HYBRID HEAT PUMPS SAVINGS


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  We found staff 77 to be a very helpful interrogatory response, but it also raised a whole lot of additional questions for us.  And rather than go through each one, we would like to request a full breakdown of all of the underlying figures and assumptions underlying Staff 77, including the estimated installed cost of each kind of equipment referenced in the interrogatory, the sizing of each kind of equipment, the estimated annual energy consumption of each, and the peak energy consumption of each.

Is that something that could be provided on a best efforts basis?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, I think -- I think specificity would be helpful, Mr. Elson.  Like if you scroll down here, you can tell the scenarios where I have I think an entire page of assumptions.

So I guess I am not clear on what you are looking for.  I heard a couple of things.  It sounded like you wanted more costing insight.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  So we would like a full breakdown of any underlying figures and assumptions that aren't already included in Staff 77.  And the ones that I am expressly identifying are the estimated installed cost of each kind of equipment referenced in the interrogatory, the sizing of each estimated annual energy consumption of each, and peak energy consumption of each.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry, sizing?  What sort of sizing do you have in mind?

MR. ELSON:  You know, BTUs.

MR. GROCHMAL:  It is right there in front of us.  It says the scenarios -- you can convert a tonnage to a BTU.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And the challenges that we weren't sure throughout whether it is the same unit because there is a number of different tables.

So if we could have, I guess, a table that outlines the equipment in each with the cost of the equipment and the sizing of it, and the average annual energy consumption, that would tease-out a lot of details that we were unclear about.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Average annual energy consumption?

MR. ELSON:  I guess I would say the estimated annual energy consumption, because there is --


MR. GROCHMAL:  Is it not in the table?  Sorry, like --


MR. ELSON:  No, because it is grouped together, right, because you will have –

MR. GROCHMAL:  Look, we have it broken down by electrical and natural gas.  What else are you looking for?

MR. ELSON:  I know, but like electrical will be a combination of your air conditioner and your heat pump, or it's going to be a combination of different pieces.

So like a full breakdown by equipment would provide additional information.

I mean, if there's something that is already in there, we don't need it.  What would be helpful would be a breakout per piece of equipment, how much it is going to cost.  You know, one of the challenges that -- I don't want to get into this, I don't want to talk about it very much so I am trying to ask a high-level question.

One of the particular challenges we had was some of the avoided cost figures down here, we couldn't figure out how these all added up in terms of the different pieces of equipment.

And we weren't sure we were doing the math right.  So we're looking for a table of the assumptions of these pieces because I actually think there might be a mistake when you start looking at these numbers, because we couldn't get them to match out.  So we're looking for a breakdown of the underlying figures and assumptions particularly in relation to the installed costs -- Sorry, the installed equipment.  Is that something you can provide?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry, can you go back to where you were?  Right where you were.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  The installed costs you had highlighted, right?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  It is not clear how that breaks down?  And you are concerned there is an error in the math?

MR. ELSON:  That is part of the question that I am hoping we can answer in an interrogatory where you provide a table with the equipment, and the installed cost of all of the different pieces.

The challenge when dealing with heat pumps is you have multiple pieces of equipment that are being addressed under one cell here.

I don't have time for you to figure it out right now.  So if you could provide it by way of an undertaking so we can move on.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I wasn't proposing to try to give you that.  I am just trying to understand what exactly you are asking for, to be honest, so that I can be helpful.

And so you are looking for what's behind some of these installed costs, for instance, because as you correctly noted, there is a couple of pieces of equipment that kind of make up these individual scenarios.  Did I understand you correctly?

MR. ELSON:  Right, yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  That is on the cost side.  Then you say on the savings side, you have -- granularity.

MR. ELSON:  Installed cost, sizing of each, estimated annual energy consumption and peak energy consumption.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah, I think on a best efforts we can give it a shot, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, I appreciate it.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.21.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.21:  TO PROVIDE FIGURES AND ASSUMPTIONS NOT ALREADY INCLUDED IN STAFF 77, IN RELATION TO INSTALLED COSTS.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I am turning now to page 11 of this interrogatory response.  You say the peak load for the all electrical scenario shifts from typical summer air-conditioning peak of about 12.4 kilowatts to a larger winter heating peak of 7.9 kilowatts.

Could you provide a detailed breakdown of how that peak load was calculated, please?

MR. GROCHMAL:  There is -- Mr. Elson, on this one there is no breakdown.  It is a product of the simulation by NRCan.

MR. ELSON:  And would that be for the all electric scenario as well?  I thought the NRCan model was used for the hybrid heat pumps, but not also for the cold climate heat pumps, the all-electric.

MR. GROCHMAL:  No.  I believe -- and I guess it is subject to check -- it is modelling both hybrid versus the all-electric scenario.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Could you go back and look into the NRCan model and see if you can provide the peak summer and peak winter load estimates for all of the tables in this interrogatory, including an explanation of how they're derived, because I don't know in this number here where that winter heating peak -- like, how it is being calculated or what the breakdown is, for example.

I don't know what your modelling can provide, so all I can ask for is, on a best-efforts basis, as much information as you can, you know, how these numbers are divvied up between the different kinds of equipment or any other detailed.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Okay.  And so you want that for all scenarios?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, please.  It may be the same for the scenarios, because I saw this referenced further up, but, yes, the peak summer and peak winter load estimates and an explanation for how they get calculated to the best of your ability, knowing that some of this might be under the hood of the NRCan model.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes.  And that might be my caveat, Mr. Elson, is that I'm not sure how much granularity is visible within the NRCan tool --


MR. ELSON:  Sure.

MR. GROCHMAL:  -- so we can have a look, certainly --


MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  -- and see if we can say what is behind that 7.9, for instance, what is behind that 4.4.  Would that suffice?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, it would, thank you.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  So that will be Undertaking JT1.22.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.22:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE PEAK LOAD CALCULATION, FOR ALL SCENARIOS GIVEN


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  When you were developing these spreadsheets, or these tables, I assume you had more detailed underlying Excel spreadsheets that had an additional breakout.  Is that fair to say?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, hold on.  What specifically are you referring to here?

MR. ELSON:  For example, table 3.  Table 3 was developed with what would have been a more complex Excel spreadsheet with additional pieces in it.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Okay.  So you are looking for -- sorry, can you just repeat your question?  What are you looking for?

MR. ELSON:  I am just trying to -- I am assuming and trying to get confirmation that when you put this table together, table 3, you did so with more complex and more detailed underlying Excel spreadsheets, and that this is a summary table.  Let's say that.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah, I would have to look.  I mean, some of the words on this table, Mr. Elson, is like a direct pull from the simulation, the cumulation results.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Some of it, you know, like costing, as we discussed, might come from other sources.  So I can take a look and see what we have and we can provide that.  That wasn't -- you know, either not like right here or, you know, is sort of under the hood and we can't see from NRCan, if that, you know -- I think that is what we can reasonably commit to doing for you here.

MR. ELSON:  I would appreciate that.  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  So that will be Undertaking JT1.23.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.23:  TO PROVIDE CONFIRMATION THAT WHEN TABLE 3 WAS PUT TOGETHER, IT WAS DONE WITH MORE COMPLEX AND MORE DETAILED UNDERLYING EXCEL SPREADSHEETS.

MR. ELSON:  Are you familiar -- I have a question about the impact of this equipment electrically.  Are you familiar with the After Diversity Maximum Demand figures?

MR. GROCHMAL:  You're going to have to define that term for me.  So I think maybe I've answered your question simply by saying that.

[Laughter]

MR. ELSON:  It's possible.  So I will describe what it is, and I think you probably answered my question by reading from a study that looks at ADMD, and the contents of the study are not all that relevant, but the concept is.  It says:

"It is known that for networks where demand is aggregated over a number of customers N, the magnitude of peak power demand is less than the simple addition of peak power per customer over all customers.  This is due to the phenomenon of diversity, the notion that as the number of customers increases, the maximum time coincident demand per customer falls.  The metric to be used to describe peak power is therefore known as the After Diversity Maximum Demand, which is the ADMD."

Are you familiar with that term, the ADMD, or something equivalent?

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Elson --


MR. ELSON:  Yeah.

MR. FERNANDES:  I apologize, Mr. Grochmal, for jumping in, but I am pretty sure the panel has some understanding of diversity factors.  But what you're referring to is clearly from the electric grid, which has a very different dynamic.  For peak loading on the gas side it is primarily driven by weather, particularly in Ontario.

MR. ELSON:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. FERNANDES:  That makes up the vast majority of that demand, and it is not really diversified because, you know, all customers experience the same weather in a particular area.

MR. ELSON:  That's fair.  What I am looking for -- so instead of calling it the ADMD you would call it a diversity factor?

MR. FERNANDES:  Sorry, I think that that is more commonly used by our counterparts at the IESO.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.

MR. FERNANDES:  But we don't have people here on the panel that are, you know, doing system design for the gas network.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  And the question flows from Staff 77, where there was a reference to the peak load being 7.7 kilowatts under the all-electric scenario.  Do you have an estimate of the After Diversity Maximum Demand or, in your terms, the diversity factor for heat pumps?

MR. FERNANDES:  For planning the electric system?

MR. ELSON:  No.  For the purposes of cost-effectiveness and the impacts of heat pumps.

MR. FERNANDES:  I'm sorry, Mr. Elson, those are two very different things.  This one is referring to diversity factors, I believe, on a system planning perspective.

There is no diversity factor for, like, an avoided cost for a customer.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I mean, it is relevant to how you calculate the capacity costs, right?  If you're saying you don't, that's fine.  I don't know.  Maybe you haven't done this thinking, which is an answer and I can move on, but if you were to be determining the avoided cost you would determine the energy costs and the capacity costs, and to determine the capacity costs you need to know what the diversity factor is.

So it's not actually 7.7 kilowatts, it is something less than 7.7 kilowatts because of the diversity.  So is that something that you have any knowledge of or not?

MR. FERNANDES:  Again, you put out a compendium, I think previously, with Mr. Johnson.  You were going through the tables from IESO, and some of them had a demand cost and an annual savings cost.

I don't think the panel has had the opportunity to review what that was used for, but I believe it was from the perspective of the system operator.  I am not certain.  But what I am really saying is that the article that you are putting up I think is from a system operator point of view, not from a conservation program perspective.

MR. ELSON:  Sure.  I am talking about avoided costs for gas.  If you don't know how to apply a capacity factor, then that's -- or a capacity cost, then that's -- that's an answer that is sufficient for me, and I can move on.

If you do have information -- sorry, is that your answer?

MR. FERNANDES:  Unless, Mr. Grochmal, you have anything else to add, I --


MR. GROCHMAL:  Nothing --


MR. FERNANDES:  -- I believe that is our answer.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

I am getting there.  Sorry, folks.  Do you have an update on your discussions with the federal government on the Greener Home Grant?

MR. FERNANDES:  I believe late last week we did file an update.  At this point, did you want to review that?  Because, Mr. Elson, I think we can get Ms. Adams to navigate through that.

MR. ELSON:  No.  I missed that, so I will read that and not waste your time.  Sorry, sir.  I will move on.

Do you have an update on the $40,000 loans that the federal government had been planning to provide for green projects?

MR. FERNANDES:  Sorry...

MR. ELSON:  Did we lose someone there?

MR. HODGINS:  No, it is Mr. Hodgins.  Can you just scroll down?  I am just not sure -- yes.  So it is referring to the question -- I was going to ask about, the question was referring to the CMHC --


MR. ELSON:  Correct.

MR. HODGINS:  -- interest-free loans or not.  So our answer is, no, we don't have an update on that.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And I had asked the question about the Open Bill program.  What arrangements would be needed to have this $40,000 loan repayable through the Open Bill program?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think that would require us knowing the details of the CMHC agreement and having some form of contract with CMHC.

MR. ELSON:  Because we had asked could the loan be repayable through Enbridge bills, the Open Bill program.  And we said if it is unclear, please describe the potential issues and barriers.

And Enbridge just said -- responded with one word, yes.

Could you undertake to provide a bit more detail, I mean ideally reaching out to CMHC.  We would like to make that recommendation.  I mean, we think that there is a huge potential benefit of being able to repay that loan on your gas bill so that your savings and your costs are matched and you don't run into cashflow issues.

But we're wary of making that recommendation without knowing what that entails.  Is that something you could undertake to comment on, you know, you could say here are the things that we need to work out and here's how long it would take, and here's what it would cost or it wouldn't cost anything.  Here is what we would need CMHC to do, for example, is that something you could comment on in a bit more detail?

MR. O'LEARY:  Just before you begin, Mr. Fernandes, I am not certain that this witness panel is in a position to talk about what would specifically be required to be in place, in terms of the Open Bill rules and agreements that are in place.

So I just want to extend a word of caution that it may be something that that will have to go elsewhere and it would not be necessarily something that any of these witnesses could speak to at the hearing.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I was actually looking for an undertaking response, because I think it is best if we deal with it that way.  Is that something you can take away on a best efforts basis?

MR. FERNANDES:  So I just want to caution that what the biggest concern with something like this is timing, in terms of being able to get a response that's meaningful or helpful may not fit within the time afforded.

But I think we could take away best efforts, but I am very cautious about making sure the expectations are appropriately low, given the amount of time we would have to reach out to NRCan and any potential, you know, requirements and the technical details of what that would look like.  It is almost certainly going to extend beyond the time we have to respond to undertakings.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  That is understood.  Particularly the NRCan piece may not get into the undertaking response, but I think at least some additional guidance from Enbridge would be appreciated so that we know, you know, what the cost would be, so on and so forth.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think I misspoke there and I said NRCan and I meant CMHC.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Undertaking JT1.24.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.24:  TO PROVIDE COMMENT ON REPAYMENT USING THE OPEN BILL PROGRAM


MR. ELSON:  And I am almost wrapping up here.  Thank you, folks, for your patience.  If I could turn to actually a response from ED Staff.

Mr. O'Leary, I think your microphone might be on.

We had asked Board Staff's expert -- market transformation programs are inherently forward-looking.  In this light, please comment on the prudence of developing a market in more efficient gas heating (i.e., gas heat pumps and hybrid systems versus electric cold climate heat pumps.

And the response was:
"We think it makes more sense to develop a market for electric cold climate heat pumps given (1) the technology is more mature, (2) they yield more GHG savings, and (3) it is currently thought to be easier to further decarbonize the electric supply than the gas supply."


And I am just wondering if you have responses to what Board Staff experts have said, because it would be helpful to know that now before the hearing.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Can I see the question one more time, Mr. Elson?  I haven't had a look at this before.  My only comment, if it helps -- the dichotomy posed by the question is unclear to me, this idea that more efficient gas heating is distinct from electric cold climate heat pumps.  Maybe that needs to be explained to me before I can go much further.

We tried to explain in Staff 77 that cold climate heat pump is -- it's a heat pump and it potentially needs a back up depending on the application.  That back up could be gas, that back up could be electric.

So I think we have been pretty clear in our interrogatory responses that we have no issue with cold climate heat pumps you know, as sort of the box, like it's -- if it's, you know, can work within the context of a higher heating solution, great.

But maybe I am missing something here.  Maybe you can me understand what this dichotomy refers to.

MR. ELSON:  I think the -- I don't know if it uses the word dichotomy, but there is a dichotomy in your application because you are proposing to incentivize gas heat pumps and hybrid systems and not cold climate heat pumps.  And Optimal says actually, if you have to choose, it should be the other way around.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Cold climate heat pumps, are they not defined by the seasonal ratings, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  The cold climate heat pump would be one that can provide your whole house heating.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Is that a fact?  You're saying by definition, a cold climate heat pump is one that can provide full house heating?  Can you show me the reference for that?

MR. ELSON:  That is the way that some people would be referring to it and I that I is the way that Optimal is.

I don't think this interrogatory has an answer to it, but the idea of a cold climate heat pump would be that you would have resistance backup, yes, in your air handler or it could be coupled with a thermal energy storage system.

So here what Optimal is saying is that you should be looking at these cold climate heat pump options instead of, for example, the gas heat pump.

MR. GROCHMAL:  These are all electrical solutions, is that's what you mean, right?


MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Do you think that was clear to Board Staff when the question was posed?

MR. ELSON:  I can ask during the hearing, but that is my understanding.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I just want to -- go ahead, Mr. Fernandes.

MR. FERNANDES:  Thank you.  The broader context, Mr. Elson, is that, you know, we have a plan that covers 2023 to 2027 and with these products being around a 15-year average measure life, I can understand the context of saying, you know, there's goals for 2050, but there's plenty of time between now and then for equipment to be replaced.

And it's been a longstanding guiding principle that to not -- not lose opportunities for consumers.  So you know, you have to put it in the context as well, not just a simple yes-or-no question.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Did Enbridge consider incentivizing heat pumps coupled with residential electric thermal storage, similar to what's being incentivized in Quebec and Nova Scotia?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry, thermal electric storage.  I didn't have much chance to read what you filed late last night; is that what you're referring to, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  That would be, but you don't have to refer to that.  I am just asking if, yes, you had considered that as one of the options for incentives.

MR. GROCHMAL:  They're all by -- okay.  So this is an electric, it's an electric technology?  Anyway, you know what?  I guess the answer is I don't believe we did.  I think that is the quick answer.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, that's fine.  Thank you.  I have a question -- and this is my last one, you will be glad to hear -- about the, this came up in the First Tracks' interrogatories, particularly the one on page 9 which I will flip to.

And Enbridge actually provided a response.  This question refers to the incentive pool and a recommendation, at least from our perspective and also from some of the experts that the incentive pool be pegged to something so that the incentive pool increases if Enbridge comes back to propose a plan with higher savings.

And we asked Enbridge to do two calculations, which would be the pegging as if it was based on the existing program.  So there's one ratio here which is dollars to cubic -- sorry, cumulative cubic metres or dollars to net benefits.

If the incentive pool were pegged to something, should that be the lifetime cubic metres or the net benefits, or something else?  And you may want to take that away by way of an undertaking, but...

MR. FERNANDES:  Can you confirm which interrogatory response you are referring to?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, I can.  This is an interrogatory response to Environmental Defence, I.5.EGI.ED.11.  It was one that went to the First Tracks report, but Enbridge provided part of the response.

MR. FERNANDES:  And so it's --

MR. ELSON:  And the general topic is, if the maximum incentive pot is to grow, what should it be pegged to.  I think we have First Tracks' evidence, but we don't have Enbridge's position on that.  So if you have a position I am happy to hear it now.  Or if it is something you want to take it away and think about, I am happy to hear by way of an undertaking.

MR. FERNANDES:  So you're referring about having the maximum shareholder incentive?  I believe one or more parties is pushing on it having a -- that shareholder incentive being expressed as a percentage of net benefits or, you know, whether it is PAC or TRC.

Is that what you are referring to?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And in particular, so that if Enbridge is directed to come back with a plan that achieves more savings, that you would have a higher incentive pot if you have a -- if you come back with a plan that achieves more savings, so you're not -- it is not a static pot, no matter how good your plan is, in colloquial terms.

MR. FERNANDES:  So presumably you are referring to our next plan?

MR. ELSON:  And when your next plan would be.  Maybe the Board will direct you to provide a better plan for 2023 or maybe 2024 or maybe not until 2028.  That will be part of the subject of this hearing.  But when you are next directed to come back with a higher budget, yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  Because that is what I wanted to make sure.  That wasn't our direction that we had to file this plan that's been proposed.

MR. ELSON:  We think that the current budget should be higher, and particularly, not that the budget should be higher, but that the gas savings should be higher, and, you know, we're hoping that that direction will come through, but either way at some point between what we have on paper right now and a proposal that has more effort from Enbridge and a proposal that has higher gas savings and higher net benefits, if the incentive pool were to grow, do you think that should be proportional to cubic metres or net benefits, net benefits under the TRC, net benefits under the PAC, or to something else.  Is that something that you can comment on by way of an undertaking?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we can comment on it.  It's going to be quite broad to set expectations, but I think we can do that.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.25.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.25:  TO ADVISE, IF THE INCENTIVE POOL WERE PEGGED TO SOMETHING, SHOULD THAT BE THE LIFETIME CUBIC METRES OR THE NET BENEFITS, OR SOMETHING ELSE.  ALSO, IF YOU WERE TO MOVE TO A PEGGING BASED ON NET BENEFITS, DOES ENBRIDGE BELIEVE THE NUMBER SHOULD MAINTAIN AT 5.34 OR BE HIGHER OR LOWER, AND DOES ENBRIDGE HAVE A POSITION ON THAT.

MR. ELSON:  And the current ratio right now between the incentive pool and the TRC benefits is roughly 5.34 percent, subject to check.  It is just dividing one number by the other.

So if you were to move to a pegging based on net benefits, does Enbridge believe the number should maintain at 5.34 or be higher or lower, and does Enbridge have a position on that?  Is that something you could provide by way of undertaking?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we could include that with the previous, if that is helpful.

MR. ELSON:  That would be helpful.

Thank you.  Those are our questions.  I appreciate the patience, and I will try to whittle down my questions for the future panels.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  I think now we will take our first afternoon break and come back at 2:25.  As I indicated previously, I think the plan now is to shift and have Enbridge's large-user witnesses come in.  And so anyone who has questions for that, please identify during the break to either Mr. Wasylyk, Ms. Walter, or myself if you have questions.  I understand APPrO has about two minutes of questions, so the plan would be to start with APPrO, and then any other questions for the -- specifically for the large-volume user witness, and then after that we will proceed with GEC after that.

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Murray, I just wanted to clarify.  The additional witnesses with the rest of the panel, it is just some portions of responses may need the additional witness?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes, yes.  What we're trying to do is, if there is any questions for this witness, we're going to get them done now.  They might be sort of interspersed, but then we want to make sure we get those questions done now.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. BROPHY:  So APPrO -- it's Mike Brophy from Pollution Probe.  You are just advancing APPrO, so they will just do their complete thing and then we will resume the schedule as published, or...

MR. MURRAY:  I think that is the -- APPrO and anyone else.  Like, if it looks like there is a lot of people with a large number of questions, then maybe we will deal specifically with the large user, but I don't think APPrO has very much time, and if there aren't a lot of people, I think it makes more sense to just get APPrO done and then we will move on with everyone else.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Thanks.
--- Recess taken at 2:15 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:24 p.m.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, everyone, we are back on the record.  Mr. O'Leary, I understand we have a new witness now.  If you could please introduce the witness.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  I would like to introduce you to Mr. Ariyalingam, who is the witness who will address the large volume program offering.

MR. MURRAY:  With that, I will pass things over to Mr. McGillivray, who can ask the witness any questions of the new witness or the rest of the panel with respect to his client, APPrO.
Examination by Mr. McGillvray:

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you very much.  Jonathan McGillivray, counsel for APPrO.  I should say at the outset, I am not sure if these questions go to the new witness, but they are related to the large volume program so I thought I would address them now and get them out of the way.

[Technical interruption]


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  Apologies for that.  I was just indicating I am not sure if my questions go to the new witness or not, but they are on the large volume program so I thought I would address them now and get them out of the way.  It is a fairly narrow area, so I will just go directly to APPrO 5, which is under issue 10(e), that is the interrogatory response.  I would like to look at the response to part A.

I am not sure if that can be brought up.  I think I maybe able to bring it up, if that is helpful.  That's great.  Thank you.

In part A of this interrogatory, we asked if you can provide the rate impact of exempting gas-fired generators from any obligation to contribute to the DSM costs associated to the large volume customer rate classes, which I believe are rates T2 and Rate 100.

You did that in table 1.  I won't comment on whether this is what we were expecting or not.  But I am just hoping you can help provide some clarity on what this table is showing and walk me through, in particular, the rows of this table.  I think I understand the columns, but I am not sure that I understand each of the rows.

And also as part of your response, hopefully help me understand footnote 1, which says that the whole table, I think, was derived from the allocated 2023 DSM budget costs which I believe are in schedule -- Exhibit F, tab 1, schedule 3 of the evidence.

So could you walk me through this table, in particular the rows of the table?

MR. JOHNSON:  I'm not sure we have the individual who would have put this together on the panel.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think the questions you are asking, Mr. McGillivray, are rate structure questions.  So when you are talking about the rows and the monthly demand charge, the first 140,000 and all over and then interruptible commodity charge, those are rate design questions.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Am I right they would go to the second panel?

MR. FERNANDES:  We weren't aware there was rate design questions to be asked.  So I don't think we have proposed a company witness.  So if we can understand your question, I think the best thing we could do is undertake to provide a written response.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Sure.  I will try to put it -- I will try to put it to you in a general fashion, so that hopefully it can be provided by way of undertaking response in sort of an explanatory manner.

My goal is to understand how to refer to Exhibit F, tab 1, schedule 3, and track the information provided in that schedule to this chart provided in table 1 of the interrogatory response.

In particular, I think I can find, for example, the two figures referred to in the footnote, 4.783 million and 1.184 million, I can find those in schedule 3.  But I am wondering if you could provide additional clarity on where the billing units figures come from and how they were derived for the purposes of preparing this table in the interrogatory response.

MR. FERNANDES:  And you are looking at Exhibit F, tab 1, schedule 3?

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  That's right, yes.  So for example, if I look at the column of that schedule that says 2023 proposed DSM unit rate for rates T2, I think I see 0.1046, but I am not able to track that back into the table provided in the interrogatory response for the same rate class.

So I am just wondering about how the two tables connect.  And I guess the simplest way of putting it is, if this table was derived from the 2023 DSM budget costs, how was that derivation performed?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we can take that away as an undertaking.  I am not sure what the procedure of this would look like, but if we have additional questions, is it suitable to reach out to confirm?

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  That's fine with me.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  I just want to make sure, because I want to make sure we're helpful in providing -- I apologize that we don't have someone who can respond to that right here, but we will try to get you a response.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.26.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.26:  TO EXPLAIN THE DERIVATION OF THE TABLE AT EXHIBIT F, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 3.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I appreciate that.  Those are all of my questions, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  With that, I guess unless anyone else has specific large user questions, then we will go over to GEC, Mr. Poch.

MR. POCH:  Have you got me, my voice and picture?  Are we on?

MS. WALTER:  We can hear you.
Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Okay, great.  Thanks.  Let's start with Exhibit I1.EGI.ED.2.  I will skip that first one.  Thanks to Ms. Adams for helping out here.

So you need to -- yeah.  In a number of interrogatories you provide a lot of information about avoided distribution costs.  Here Environmental Defence actually was asking you about providing average marginal costs per cubic metre of design day demand being added to the system, and you demurred, saying that is about IRP.

I am trying to understand the distinction here.  Has there not been over the years -- hasn't DSM over the years reduced pressure to reinforce the system?  Have I missed something?

MR. FERNANDES:  I'm sorry, Mr. Poch.  What is your question?

MR. POCH:  Well, you declined to answer this question about average -- these average costs, and I guess I assumed it is relevant because -- well, I guess the first question is:  Hasn't demand-side management over the years reduced pressure to reinforce the system?

MR. FERNANDES:  It may have in the past, Mr. Poch, but we had specific direction from the OEB through the DSM letter, and that was further clarified when they had the IRP framework decision, and they basically stated that they agree with the company's position that IRP and DSM are separate and distinct.

MR. POCH:  No, I understand that.  I assume we're talking IRP here, you're talking about specific effects on specific parts of the system from specific projects.  And this interrogatory is asking you about on average over the years what the average -- the marginal cost of expansion has been for -- per cubic metre of design day demand.  And it is that that I think we agree DSM is aimed at.

So I think I am concerned that you have misunderstood the question here, and it seems relevant to me, and I would like to get an answer, if that is possible.

MR. JOHNSON:  Well, I could perhaps take a crack at it.  To your point, maybe we are missing each other here.

I mean, the component that I think you are referring to is captured in our avoided cost calculations within ED 16, so for reinforcements we do capture that component of avoided costs, and I guess it is not done -- I am not an expert on this.  Again, we had a consultant do that work a number of years ago, but I don't believe it works exactly as the marginal capital cost per se.  It does look at sort of the overall capital costs for reinforcement projects.

So I think that is probably why we assumed if you're looking at marginal capital costs you're looking at specific applications, and therefore that would fall into IRP.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I think maybe we're getting hung up on the word marginal as opposed to average.  I'm not sure I appreciate the distinction you are making, but can we not come up with an average number of what it's costing per cubic metre of design day demand that you add over the years, what the correlation between that and capacity costs are --


MR. FERNANDES:  Sorry, Mr. Poch, what does that have to do with the plan that is filed and proposed?

MR. POCH:  Well, isn't DSM intended to, amongst other things, keep your capital costs on the supply-side down, including system reinforcement zones?

MR. FERNANDES:  No.  The OEB clarified that, that those are separate and distinct objectives.

MR. POCH:  All right.

MR. FERNANDES:  The DSM plan forecast goes into a number of other things, such as gas supply planning and potentially into the infrastructure planning process, but that is not something that is on the record here or proposed here.  So I don't --


MR. POCH:  I am going to move on.

MR. FERNANDES:  -- if we go back to our plan that we've actually filed here, what bearing does this have?

MR. POCH:  I guess I am just trying to understand the distinction you're making here between what is being asked for here and what is included in avoided costs.  I would have thought this is included in avoided costs.

MR. FERNANDES:  And Mr. Johnson did clarify that we include something in avoided costs.

MR. POCH:  So then what are you refusing to provide here?  I guess you made a distinction here.  You say this isn't relevant.  What is this, as opposed to what is in avoided costs?

MR. JOHNSON:  So again, in avoided costs, the way it's -- and again, I will preface this with, I am, you know, moderately knowledgeable but by no means an expert on this -- within avoided costs we do account for the benefit of avoiding reinforcement projects, but that's done by, you know, taking a number of reinforcement projects within sort of a period of time, looking at the total through-put, taking the sort of gas savings as a percentage of that to figure out what the avoided cost is from DSM as it relates to those projects, but it's not looking at marginal capital cost.

I would have to take away and think about if it is looking at -- if that effectively does look at average capital costs.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  So it seems to me you're making a distinction between average reinforcement in particular and marginal.  And somehow you're treating marginal as project-specific, as opposed to, you know, average marginal.  Do I understand correctly?

MR. JOHNSON:  I agree, I think, with the first part of what you said.  I'm not sure what average marginal would be.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I think we have gone as far as we can on that one.  Let's move on.

I would like to get a better understanding of the policy context as you perceive it, and I understand your comments you made numerous places that the 18 percent, 3.2 megatonnes of GHG reduction in the environment plan isn't all intended to come -- necessarily to come from utility conservation plans, but I would like to understand a little more how you see yourself fitting into there.

First of all, the difference between incremental and non-incremental, you address this in I -- topic 2 of ED again Number 9.  And in your response you say at D and E, you know, you weren't involved in the development of the plan, and you give what the auditor -- the environmental commissioner says, but you don't actually state whether you agree that the 18 percent or the 3.2 megatonne goal is incremental to what's already underway.

Do you have some reason to doubt the Environmental commissioner's interpretation of the -- that the goal is incremental?

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Poch, we are trying to be responsive.  So we didn't author the report.  We don't know how it was done.  We provided the information that we've seen that is public that relates to that.  I have no reason to doubt the environmental commissioner, but I don't believe that office authored the report either.

MR. POCH:  Okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  So I don't know how much more helpful we can be than what we have already provided.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Maybe we can go to topic 2, CCC 4 in the -- and there you list the various meetings you had, and if we go to the appendices, which is the attachment 1, at page 7 of that attachment, we see -- and I think this repeats in a few of the other attachments -- you raise the matter there.  On page 7 and page 8 you raise two matters where you are showing how different people have different interpretations, and you give the environmental commissioner's interpretation about it being -- what year
-- the base year is 2021, and that it is incremental.

Were you -- in those meetings with government, were you not advised whether or not it is incremental?

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we need to kind of back up and take the context behind it.  So if you look at the date, this was in, if I recall correctly, the summer of 2019.

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  So the context was that many of the interested parties here were participating in part of the OEB-led stakeholder consultation for the next framework, or the post-2022 DSM framework.

As part of one of the early, if not the earliest stakeholder sessions, I believe the question was asked, you know, we need some direction.  There was some general conversation between the parties.  And the question was asked and put back to the OEB Staff about whether they had any conversations with the government to get direction specifically around the plan and what, you know, the kind of budgetary guidance would be before we go too far along.

So that was the genesis of us reaching out to government.  So that context needs to be there, the timing of when this was done.  And if we very quickly walk through the slides -- Ms. Adams, if you could move forward a little bit -- what we were doing was, you know, advising the government about the framework consultation, talking about the Made in Ontario Environment Plan, saying that there are various interpretations of this, in terms of what we're trying to do.

And I think earlier in the day, I was speaking with Mr. Shepherd and I said it was very much like, you know, you can't hit a target if you don't have a target.

So can you help us understand what your policy intentions are so that -- because, you know, we're the ones who are expected to deliver that.

So if we kind of move forward through the slides very quickly, I can tell you what was presented.  There was an update of what had happened in the framework consultation, which I think many of the parties here are aware of, if they look at the dates.

We were concerned -- if we move to the next slide, Ms. Adams -- about continuity --


MR. POCH:  Mr. Fernandes, I am going to going to interrupt you just because in the interests of time.  My question is much simpler than that.  I understand the context of what these slides are about, but it seemed to me as part of the presentation you made the point to the government folks that there were different interpretations being placed on the environmental plan.

Did you not then -- did that not precipitate a clarification from the government about whether or not the goal was incremental and what the base year was?

MR. FERNANDES:  No.  Quite simply, if you look at the sequence of those attachments -- I mean, quite frankly, I could take you to the last one, that's probably the easiest.

If we could go, Ms. Adams, sorry, just let me pull this up.

I think it is attachment number 6 -- or you know, much later dated.  I think it is actually 7, I apologize, Ms. Adams, where you know, we filed much later and were consistently throughout all of these, if you look at the last paragraph of attachment 7, we're still asking for the government to provide clarity.  Sorry, Ms. Adams, I don't think you quite have it up.

If you go through the background to the next steps, we clearly at a much later date, still asking for the same thing.  And that is consistent throughout all of the presentations that were made.

So the first clarification that we got, the company received with the DSM letter and the embedded or linked joint letter from Energy and Environment, which we could pull that up.  Are you aware?  You're aware of the letter I am speaking to?  It was part of the original OEB's direction which came with a November 27th date.

There was a joint letter from Ministry of Energy and Environment to the OEB that immediately preceded the OEB's direction to Enbridge.

MR. POCH:  Sure.  And we've had the mandate letter since, I understand that.  I guess I was just -- I was -- I am just surprised that in this answer, in your answers and we can look also at ED 9, topic 2 ED 9.  We will get these ambiguous answers where you're saying, well, the chart looks like it is a base year 2020, so it is the 2021 impacts and beyond that count.

But we're still, at this point, you giving these ambiguous answers as to what you believe the government -- the plan is, not being firm about it.  Saying, well, I don't disagree with the environmental commissioner, for example.

I'm startled that you haven't -- you don't have a firm understanding.  You haven't been able to obtain a firm understanding.  Am I correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  Well, I think we should pull up the joint letter from Environment and Energy to the OEB.

I think they were clear in that they did not want the OEB to interpret the environmental plan as a prescriptive target.

MR. POCH:  No, I understand that they made it clear it wasn't a prescriptive target as to which portion -- is this what you're referring to, as to which portion has to come from utility programs.  Are you reading those letters as saying that the plan itself to the -- as broad as it is, isn't definitive?

MR. FERNANDES:  Ms. Adams, if you could scroll down just a little bit.  I think it is the paragraph shown on the screen.

Under 2018 Environmental Plan Natural Gas Targets, in the third paragraph.

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  It says in the middle:
"We are therefore writing to clarify that this estimate is not intended to be prescriptive target that the OEB would be required to facilitate through ratepayer-funded natural gas DSM programs."


MR. POCH:  Yes.  Okay, I am reading that as saying we're going to get 18 percent -- obviously, there's some estimate there of our target from natural gas conservation as opposed to from, you know, vehicle, whatever and everything else.

And they're saying this, and correct me if I'm
wrong -- if we have a different reading of this, let's get that clear now.  I am reading this as saying, but you know, that all that 18 percent doesn't have to come from, you know, Enbridge's -- Enbridge Gas's programs.  There will be other means that we'll get natural gas conservation.  It might come from, you know, whatever it might come from.

Are we reading it the same way?  They're saying --


MR. FERNANDES:  I am reading it exactly how it is worded.  It's saying that the Environmental Plan is not intended to be a prescriptive target.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  But is there some disagreement now?  Is there any lack of clarity that the plan -- it has a base year of 2020 and that the -- and that it is talking about incremental conservation, wherever it comes from.  Is there any doubt about this?

MR. FERNANDES:  I'm sorry.  What is your question, Mr. Poch?

MR. POCH:  The two questions which you have been vague in answering about are whether the base year is 2020 for the plan and whether the 18 percent, plus or minus, is incremental to existing efforts or not.

The environment commissioner seems to be pretty clear about it and you have said -- you have said today you don't really have reason to disagree.

But I just want to make sure we're not going to be debating this in the hearing room.  Can we agree for the purpose of this hearing we can assume the policy context is 3.2 mega tons from natural gas conservation, not all from Enbridge necessarily, and that the base year is 2020 and that is incremental to what has already happened.

MR. FERNANDES:  I have no reason to doubt any of that, but we didn't author the report.

MR. POCH:  All right.  That is as good as we're going to get, okay.

So if we turn to topic 2, ED.10 at page 4, there is in fact a table which kind of lays it out and I just want to make sure we agree, or we have a common understanding.

If we look under the 2007 column, for example, if you look at persisting since 2020, there is a number of about roughly 2.2 million, that would be I guess some tons of CO2 equivalent and that's what the plan calls for.

And if we look at what your plan calls for, it is four lines below that, and it is 150,000.  Correct?  So that's the portion of that -- what you've done is you have just literally applied the 3.2 megatonnes, assuming it's being -- you know, there is a straight-line achievement of it, and you have just -- you're saying what your plan calls for that you filed here before the Board and how it compares.

So if we wanted to contrast the two, those would be the two numbers, and the equivalent numbers in quantities of gas are in the chart, the bottom half of the chart.  Is that fair?

MR. FERNANDES:  I apologize, Mr. Poch.  Could you go through which years you are referring to again?  I was trying to --


MR. POCH:  I was just looking at -- for example, I understand that what you have done here is simply laid out the environment plan on a roughly straight-line basis and you've laid out what your filing is here that only goes to 2027, understandably.

And I am just looking at -- if we want to -- if we want to look at -- you know, contrast the two, I could, for example, say by 2027 -- assuming it is achieved on a pretty straight-line basis -- the environment plan is calling for roughly just over 2.2 million tonnes, and your plan on an incremental basis would provide 150,000 or 150-and-a-half-thousand of that.

It's not unfair for me to treat those two as the same -- if I am trying to contrast one with the other, those are the two numbers I should look at?

MR. FERNANDES:  I'm going to have to check something with another panel member.  I don't think we have the folks up here that actually put this together, but I need to confer with the other panel members just for a brief moment.

MR. POCH:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay, I think we're all back.  I do believe the way that you are portraying that, Mr. Poch, is correct, subject to the, you know, numerous caveats that are noted in the response.

MR. POCH:  Sure.  Thank you very much.  Okay.  So that would be -- you know, I did the math -- correct me and my numbers if they're wrong -- it's about 6.6 percent of the 18 percent, so roughly, you know, ballpark, 1 percent of the total goal of the plan.  I take it that that -- that conforms with your understanding?

MR. FERNANDES:  I'm sorry, I didn't follow that math.

MR. POCH:  Well, I just -- I'm just saying, your numbers are tracking at about six and a half percent of the plan's -- what the plan calls for from natural gas conservation.  And that's 18 percent of the total plan.  So I just multiplied that out and got a roughly 1 percent of the total plan then is you're expecting to be able to provide from this five-year effort.

MR. FERNANDES:  Again, the 18 percent includes some other items, and it's not a prescriptive target.  Presumably you've done your math on what basis, but percentage of the total environmental plan, I am not sure how that is relevant.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Well, that's just simple math, so let's not get bogged down in it.

Can we turn to GEC 1 in topic 2.  We asked you to provide the -- for the last three years any studies and documents about the -- how you're interpreting the impacts of the climate policy and on gas use and to provide all communications with the provincial government in that regard.

And similarly, in GEC 17, topic 9.17 -- you don't need to turn it up -- we asked for the same thing with respect to the federal government, and you referred us back to this answer.

You are indicating there that you -- there haven't been any -- hasn't been any recent work that you can -- documentary work that you can provide in the last three years, and then I assume -- this is the next paragraph -- the second paragraph of your response says that you believe that we're asking for materials that aren't relevant for the purpose of this application.

I assume that is responding to our request for your communications with the government in this regard.  Is that correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  So first and foremost, we have a very large amount of material on the record in this proceeding.  So we've tried to provide what's actually relevant.  So we have provided the communications related to DSM which we have had with the government, and we just went through that.

The company and the corporation has a lot of communications with government.  They're not relevant to the DSM plan, in that nothing in any of these other communications was used to inform our DSM plan.

MR. POCH:  All right.  So what you're -- for example, the slide sets that we referred to a moment ago, is that what you're referring to with your communications to government?

MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  I am not aware of others on the record here.  Can I take it then there have been no other communications with respect to what the government expects of your conservation efforts?

MR. FERNANDES:  Specifically for things that relate to the DSM plan that we proposed, we filed what is appropriate.  So that's --


MR. POCH:  Well, I am not asking if you filed what is appropriate.  I asked if you filed all of them that pertain to that.

MR. FERNANDES:  That's what we said.  There is a number of other communications with a number of other things.  For instance, we may have communications with renewable natural gas, and that could be related to the environmental plan, but it's not related to our DSM plan.  So --


MR. POCH:  I understand.

MR. FERNANDES:  -- we filed what is appropriate for providing a full record for the plan that we proposed.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, if you turn to your slides that you provided on Friday, there is an update there with respect to -- I think we have to scroll down.  There is a couple of -- yes, a couple of slides there about an update on where we're at with the discussions with NRCan about the Green Homes Program.  Correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  And it indicates you're going to be doing it throughout Ontario with the exception of, I think, reserve lands, and you will co-fund, but that customer incentives have to conform to the ones in the federal green plan because they want to have uniformity across the country.  And that still to be worked out is funding and attribution and so on.  That is just by way of background for people listening and for the record.

So my questions are, are there any current DSM residential program measures that aren't covered in the Greener Homes program, and how do you anticipate that will get fit into that framework?

MR. FERNANDES:  So --


MR. JOHNSON:  Do you want me to answer that, Craig, or --


MR. FERNANDES:  -- I think we can say there are some that are currently not covered, but Mr. Hodgins can probably cover it.  Again, I don't want us to be speculative on something that is still under negotiation.  So go ahead, Mr. Hodgins.

MR. HODGINS:  Yes.  I was just going to point you to Staff 31, which has a complete list of measures that are in the Canada Green Homes Plan versus what is currently in ours.

As Mr. Fernandes says, at this point we haven't worked out the details of that.  So I can't comment on how those will be handled.  But there is some -- to answer your question, there is some that are unique.

MR. POCH:  So is it your intention that some of those will not be co-delivered, or they will be co-delivered even though they're not in the green plan, in the federal government's plan?

Can you offer us any indication at this point, or it is all subject to discussion?

MR. FERNANDES:  It is still subject to discussion and being finalized, but the intent is to offer a single program that phases the market from a participant perspective.  And it will be jointly funded.  There is a number of items in there that are still under negotiation and some of the items that are probably more relevant, like NRCan is targeting the building owner where Enbridge could have rental properties that would be eligible.

So I think what we're saying is it is going to look like a single offering to the market, and it may go over and above what NRCan has, but it will not go below in terms of its reach.  Does that make sense?  That's our aspirational rational goal.  Again, it is not concluded.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Any sense of timing for when we will have further details?

MR. FERNANDES:  That's dependent on both parties.  I can't comment right now.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Is it fair to say we could expect that the result will be that you will have higher savings by reason of this, higher gas savings by reason of this cooperation?

MR. FERNANDES:  We do expect that there will be, you know, Ontarians will be better off.  That's the guiding principle that the ministry from the government of Ontario asked us to operate under.

So there's two aspects to that, you know, could be more savings per participant and more participants.  Some of them extend beyond our franchise territory and into other areas by the nature of the Greener Homes Program offering today.

But the other piece of what you're saying is that there is also, in a jointly-funded program, we are in the process of looking at attribution.  So it depends on how much on those final details get attributed to the funding coming from Enbridge in the DSM program.

So the totality of the program almost certainly is the case, but we still have to have a forecast and an attribution agreement to understand how much would be credited to Enbridge.

MR. POCH:  I assume one of the drivers here is that scope and scale are economies for your overhead costs because you are co-delivering.  I think we don't even have to discuss it.  It is obviously a goal of this.  But are you saying that you are hoping that this cooperation will also give you more reach on the programs you have than you would going it alone?

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  We're hoping -- we're hoping that, you know, the alternative that is before us is to have two separate programs with substantial overlap in the same market.

So by working together, we do hope there is going to be much better results for both NRCan reaching their goals and for Enbridge reaching ours.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Let's go on to topic 6, GEC 11.  We were asking you here about -- back it up.  GEC 11.  It's not showing up on my screen yet.

MS. WALTER:  I can't see -- I can see it on my screen.

MR. POCH:  Oh, okay.  For some reason it is not coming up on mine.  It doesn't matter; I don't need it.

We are asking about regulatory stakeholder costs here and you have this budget of 0.71 million.  And we asked you for a breakout for, I think, the current proceeding.  You didn't -- you didn't give that.

It seems -- my interpretation of your answer is that you took an average of some of your annual clearance proceedings and midterm assessment and so on.  This is obviously the framework hearings are a much bigger production.  I wonder if we can press you for an answer for an estimate of broken out in these categories I've suggested, the four categories which are OEB costs, intervenor costs, external legal fees, and stakeholder costs.  If you could do that for what your experience has been with framework and plan proceedings and what you are expecting from this one.

I appreciate it will be a very rough estimate, but can we get that?  It seems to me it is a cost of the whole process and one of the issues here is where do we go from here, how long this plan should last and whether there should be some form of refiling and I would like to get some sense of what the costs are involved in all of that.

MR. FERNANDES:  So, Mr. Poch, you are asking us to estimate your and a number of other parties' estimated costs?

MR. POCH:  Well, you have been through framework proceedings before and I took my answer from here is that you didn't actually look at those.  You looked at smaller hearings and so on and you've got costs.  You must be thinking about what your costs are for a process like this.  I appreciate it's going to be a very rough estimate but you've got your -- all of these categories, including the Board's cost and your counsel's costs and so on.

I would like to get a sense of what those costs are.

MR. FERNANDES:  So, Mr. Poch, we did provide the most recent example, so the IRP framework proceeding, you know, and that we did point down as a points of reference so that was about $750,000 and it doesn't include the company, OEB's staff time or external costs.

MR. POCH:  Exactly.  That's exactly right.  Sorry to interrupt.  I want a broader sense of what the costs are.  I would like to know the other category of costs.

So maybe you could do it for that hearing, then, what your external costs were, what the OEB's cost bill was, and you know, these various categories of what the costs are associated with running a hearing like that.

I appreciate it probably is difficult for you to put your allocated internal staff costs down.  I know you have had difficulty doing that in the past, but if you have an estimate for that, that would be helpful, too.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  So the categories you would like this broken out in are OEB costs and --


MR. POCH:  Yes, go ahead.

MR. FERNANDES:  What I see written down, I think you mentioned some other additional categories over and
above --


MR. POCH:  I have a hunch this will be an interrogatory so I will list them.  By way of example, can you break out the IRP framework proceeding costs into the OEB's costs, intervenor costs that you bear, your external legal fees, any other stakeholdering costs that weren't included in the cost awards, and any estimate you have of the fully allocated costs of your staff time in that proceeding, and any other categories where you have been able to either estimate or track them that are associated with running that proceeding.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we could take -- and again, I know we responded with the IRP framework, but you were looking for an estimate for this proceeding?

MR. POCH:  I am.  And I'm reading what you are telling me is that would be an order of magnitude comparable.  Is that fair?

MR. FERNANDES:  It is going to have a multiplier on it.  I mean, depending on how much effort are you looking for us to go in on this?

MR. POCH:  I am happy for you to give me that and any indication of how you think that scale will scale for this proceeding, will it be -- will this proceeding be half that or twice that?  Or -- you know, and I appreciate what caveats you will.  I appreciate it's obviously going to be a very ballpark number, and that's certainly --


MR. FERNANDES:  So a rough estimate, and that is assuming that the procedural elements will be limited to what is known today.  Okay.  I think we can do that.

MR. JOHNSON:  Can I ask one point of clarification on that?  You mentioned intervenor costs and then OEB costs.  For OEB costs are you referring to any costs that flow to us, or if the OEB -- because we would have no visibility to costs of the -- okay.  Perfect.

MR. POCH:  I appreciate that.  It would just be the costs that you have to bear.  The OEB will be aware of its own costs, and they can tack those on.  Thank you.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.27.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.27:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF IRP FRAMEWORK PROCEEDING COSTS TO SHOW OEB'S COSTS, INTERVENOR COSTS, LEGAL FEES, AND OTHER STAKEHOLDER COSTS NOT OTHERWISE INCLUDED; ANY ESTIMATE OF FULLY ALLOCATED COSTS OF STAFF TIME; ANY OTHER CATEGORIES WITH ESTIMATES OR TRACKED COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PROCEEDING; AN ESTIMATE TO SHOW HOW IT WILL SCALE TO THIS PROCEEDING.


MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Sorry, I was going to take you to some of the responses to interrogatories on your reply evidence that were Enbridge in particular.  I want a response from you as opposed to from Mr. Weaver, were you offered one, and the first one I wanted to look at was topic 5, GEC 8.  And we asked -- we wanted -- we asked how the unamortized costs that Mr. Weaver is responding about, assuming amortization, so how they would compare to the -- what we have called the unamortized asset balance.  I guess you probably refer to it as your -- for non-DSM matters as your undepreciated asset balance.  And you responded that you don't see how it is relevant.  You didn't want to answer that.

We're interested in this because we think the relative size of the assets that you have yet to collect in rates for -- shed some light on how investors would view the risk, which is what Mr. Weaver's concern is.  So I would like to renew my request, and given that shading, if you could provide some answers, it would be helpful.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Poch, it is Dennis O'Leary.  We responded, indicating that we don't consider it relevant, but, in addition to that, if what you are looking for is the amount that is currently included in rate base, that is something that you could obtain through the public record.

But again, we maintain the view that it is not relevant for the purposes of considering the amortization issue.

MR. POCH:  Well, perhaps you could save me a lot of time, since I don't do rate hearings these days, if that number is readily available to you.  I am sure you could put your finger on it in a minute.  If you could provide that, that would keep the costs of this proceeding down.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, I don't know how readily available it is to this panel.

MR. POCH:  So I take it you are declining to provide an undertaking in that regard?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  In topic 5, GEC 10(a), we were asking about whether DSM could reduce the size of other amortized assets, and Mr. Weaver responded that his understanding is that the -- Enbridge's sales have been fairly flat for a decade, and so he is not sure that there is any substantial capital investments necessary to meet growing peak demands.

I think you might have responded partly to this already a few minutes ago, but it seems to me that DSM programs have been running for decades, and they have likely reduced demand growth.  Is that not correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Poch, have likely, I would tend to agree with.  But it's not relevant for this DSM plan proposal.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I'm just trying to -- I think Mr. Weaver's under a certain impression, and I am just trying to understand the factual background to see if his assumption is correct.

Can you just indicate, is -- for your purposes
isn't -- I understand that energy sales have been more flat, but my understanding was that peak demand is growing.  Is that not the case?

MR. FERNANDES:  I'm sorry, this panel, like, there is nothing in the DSM plan proposal that talks about peak growth on the overall system or in any particular area.

So I would believe that a lot of the asset plan -- and I am speculating here, because I am not an expert -- is totally dependent on where the growth is, and, you know, a lot of it is going to be driven by, you know, population density-type changes or where people are putting in new buildings, not -- so I don't know how we can answer your question, or why it is relevant for what we proposed.

MR. POCH:  Again, I am not going to start getting into argument here, so let's move on.

In topic 9, GEC 14(b) -- again, this is, I think, an answer by Mr. Weaver, but I want to get your answer on -- he -- we were asking about this choice of lifetime savings versus first-year savings, and he referred to other jurisdictions.  He mentions Illinois regulators approving guardrails, requiring average measure lives not to drop below a certain -- the planned levels by a certain amount as a safeguard against that choice of first-year savings, giving you a bad incentive.

If the Board agrees with your approach to use first-year savings for calculating some of your shareholder incentive, is Enbridge amenable to a condition such as that in Illinois?

MR. FERNANDES:  Do you have something more specific?  Because in general I think we would be comfortable with that, depending on exactly what the specific threshold is, assuming that it's not going to impede our offerings and it relates to a whole bunch of other things within the framework and scorecard structure.

So as a hypothetical, generic item, I think we wouldn't be opposed to that, but we need the specifics.

MR. POCH:  Sure.  Obviously, some specific -- some version of that's going to be more appealing than others.  I appreciate that.

Okay.  I am going to leave it there, and that is it for this panel.  Thank you.  Hopefully we made up some time.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  I want to check with the panel now.  Is now a good time for the afternoon break?  Or are you guys prepared to continue for another questioner?

MS. GIRVAN:  I'd be -- this is Julie Girvan speaking.  I'm next.  I would prefer a break now so I can get myself organized.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  So why don't we have a break and come back at 3:35.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:24 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:36 p.m.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much.  We are back on the record.  Before I pass it over to Ms. Girvan from CCC, I just wanted to let people know where the schedule stands.  In terms of scheduling, we will go out of order for CCC because there is a bit of a conflict tomorrow morning.  We weren't sure whether or not we would get to her otherwise today.

Then we're going to proceed back to the normal schedule, Pollution Probe next and if we can hopefully also finishing FRPO today, depending upon how quickly CCC and Pollution Probe are.  But with that, I will pass things over to Ms. Girvan.
Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  Julie Girvan with the Consumers Council of Canada.

So I have given Bonnie the references.  Bonnie, could you turn up CCC number 3, please?

This sets out, if you can maybe highlight the chart.  There.  I don't know if you guys can see that, but -- so essentially what this is demonstrating is what it says in the beginning, that the level of natural gas savings achieved for each dollar spent has been decreasing.

You can see the pattern there, and I am just wondering if you could explain to me your understanding of why that is happening.

MR. FERNANDES:  There's probably quite a number of reasons for that.  Number one, I don't think anyone should be surprised, because that's actually the structure of the industry.

First and foremost, you've got a case where, you know, most of the buildings in Ontario have existed for a long time and will continue to exist.  So as you make some of the them more efficient, there is less available.  From both a participant and a program administrator perspective, it is always best to go after the lowest hanging fruit first, which means there is less available in the future.

The other component is that over time, partially due to the utility efforts, we have increasing case lines because of increased codes and standards or industry standard practices, and I think Mr. Grochmal or Mr. Hodgins might be able to provide some of those for specific examples.

But, you know, we're currently being measured on a go-forward basis to a higher bar than would be in the past.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Just briefly, have you looked into how to fix this essentially, how to get sort of a bigger bang for your buck?

I note that in Mr. Neme's evidence, he refers to other jurisdictions and how the numbers are different.  I just wondered what Enbridge is doing in a proactive way to try to achieve more savings with the same amount of money.

MR. FERNANDES:  So part of that would be the new programs that are being introduced.  So from a perspective of codes and standards, we have very different standards than most other jurisdictions.

So one example, which is probably the easiest to understand, is amendment 15 changed the base line from something that was much higher than those other jurisdictions Mr. Neme mentions of 90 percent to 95.  So we're being measured, or the utility program can only claim a much smaller portion of any equipment efficiency improvement over and above that base line, whereas some other jurisdictions are still being measured against 80 or 85.

So there is a substantial difference from that perspective.

In terms of what are we doing about it to be proactive, that's where some of the new programming and, you know, going towards heat pumps, and we have both hybrid systems and gas-fired heat pumps in the proposed plan, and those would help increase or provide more head room over the base line that we have.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right, thank you.  Could you please turn to CCC number 9?  This sets out the, basically the program budget and shareholder incentive amounts.

And I am just curious as to why, in 2027 it jumps significantly.  Is that because of the structure of your new proposed incentive, where an element of it comes in at the end?  Is that right?

MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.  So this is talking to the maximum in the particular year.  So there is one portion of the maximum shareholder incentive that was allocated to a five-year GHG target.  So it's only available in the final year, assuming that the criteria to achieve it are met.

MS. GIRVAN:  Why do we see a dip in 2025 relative to the previous year, 2024?

MR. FERNANDES:  That would be the same basic mechanism, because the low carbon transition program is a two-year scorecard.  It pays out potentially in 2024, assuming the criteria are met, but it can't pay out in 2025 or --


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Could you please turn to CCC 10?  If you scroll down -- so this talks about, if you keep going down a little bit further.

So we talk about the six percent increase in the residential and low-income budget in 2023 when compared to 2022 and 2021, and the 6.5 in the commercial, industrial.

This is getting back to how this all came about, but is that specifically derived from the sort of dollar bill impact that the Board had set out in the last plan?

How did you arrive at the 6 percent and the 6.5 percent specifically?  I know there's inflation in there, but what about the other element?

MR. FERNANDES:  The simple answer is that was calculated after we determined the plan, and that's just the mathematics that is shown there.

We started off trying to interpret the OEB direction from the DSM letter.

We looked at -- you know, we came across the concept and said, you know, which is fairly unique of trying to break-out the major scorecards into the sector scorecards that you see, being low-income, residential, commercial, industrial.  And we started with a rate impact or bill impact point of view, which is how we landed on those sectors.

Our initial allocation down was to try and grow individual budget envelopes for each of those sectors, you know, approximately the same.  But, you know, then the individual sectors built up program elements and targets to try to meet that.  As a consequence of having to trade off some items, it was iterative.

There were some minor changes that were done throughout the process in order to fit the mathematical formula for the total budget envelope.  So the differences are a consequence of making some inherent trade offs once we looked at the individual elements of programming.

MS. GIRVAN:  So can I take it, when you refer to the December letter, that the 6 percent is kind of your determination of a modest increase?  Is that --


MR. FERNANDES:  I wouldn't say that.  The 6 and 6 and a half percent is the mathematical consequence.

When we originally filed, we included 2022 and once the OEB made a determination to roll over 2022 and asked the company to refile in order to do it within a reasonable period of time, we made the decision to simply truncate the 2022 year from the original plan and then that necessitated the least number of changes in the application.

So the 2023 year is now being measured against effectively 2021, and that's where the 6 and 6.5 percent comes in from that point.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.  Could you please turn to CCC number 11.

So the residential -- the home retrofit program is, you're spending between 40 to 44 million in each year throughout the plan, and I am just curious because you have the -- I am trying to figure out what the impact on residential ratepayers are for that program.

You have access to the DSMVA, and I am just wondering, from your perspective, how much more budget dollars could you access through the DSMVA for this particular program?

MR. FERNANDES:  And to clarify, are you referring to just the 15 percent overspend allowance?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  Yes.  Are you allowed to spend more than 15 percent through the DSMVA for this program, or not?

MR. FERNANDES:  So --


MS. GIRVAN:  I'm not sure how the DSMVA works in the context of this program.  Maybe you could help me with that.

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Johnson, do you want to briefly have a quick chat so that we can make sure we --


MR. JOHNSON:  Sure, sounds good.

MR. FERNANDES:  -- respond?  Okay, be right back.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thanks.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, I was on mute.  Can you hear me?  I see nodding, so I will take that as a yes.

So I do want to clarify, I think.  When you talk about the DSMVA, the DSMVA is the account with which we use to track variances.  The DSMVA itself is not an allowance.  Within the framework we have talked about a couple of pieces, and I can try and find them if you would like or I can just describe them and if it is not sufficient then we can try and dig those up.

But there is two separate pieces.  One is an allowance to overspend by 15 percent towards programs that have been successful.  So 15 percent of the total budget towards programs that have been successful, which I think --


MS. GIRVAN:  Can I stop you there, sorry.  What do you mean, that have been successful?  What is the trigger?

MR. JOHNSON:  So that have exceeded their target, their scorecard target.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  What is shown in the evidence is the 100 percent OEB target.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  Which is the centre of the range between the threshold of starting and the maximum.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Go on, sorry.

MR. JOHNSON:  And then separately, there is an allowance to transfer up to 30 percent of spend between programs.  So again, both of those separate pieces would be tracked through the VA.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So potentially you could increase the budget for this program by 45 percent?

MR. JOHNSON:  Depending on how things worked out, yes, that is absolutely a possibility.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  That clears up that for me.

MR. FERNANDES:  The only thing, Ms. Girvan, that I think we should add is that the -- the structure that the company is proposing, breaking out the various sectors, it puts up a constraint.

So if we transfer money into residential using the 30 percent flexibility, it means there is less available in the other scorecard, and we've weighted all of those scorecards equally, so in order to overachieve in one area we would necessarily be underachieving in another.

So we have tried to ensure that there is incentives for the company to be balanced in its approach, and that is one of the reasons why we broke out the sectors, because we do feel that the OEB direction wanted us to address all sectors and have broad reach.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I understand that.  I guess just, I think in the past there have been instances where you have been sort of not doing so well in a particular sector, where that would make that money available for the other sector where you are actually being very successful.  I am just trying to get a sort of a goalpost idea of potentially how much money this program could amount to.  That's all.  I think I understand your answer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It is Michael Buonaguro for OGVG.  I just didn't -- wasn't sure the math worked properly.

I think just to ask, if you move 30 percent of the program budget from other areas into the specific program, the increase would be something other than 30 percent, wouldn't it?  It might be higher than 30 percent increase in the budget?

MR. JOHNSON:  So the maximum amount that can be moved into an area is 30 percent of that scorecard.  I am pausing there on the wording.  Perhaps it would be best if I actually dug it up.  There is the maximum that can be -- the maximum that can be moved is in 30 percent, and I am just struggling to remember on how we define the area.

But for example, the maximum you can move into the residential scorecard would be 30 percent.

MS. GIRVAN:  30 percent of 40 million?

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I think, Michael, is that
answer --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That helps.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.  And you don't have to pull it up, but I did ask a question about the NRCan joint program.  And you spoke about this with Mr. Poch and a bit with Mr. -- I think Mr. Elson was going to look at your update.

So can you just help me understand, are you going to file an update to your evidence related to the eventual agreement you have with NRCan?  And if so, could it potentially change, for example, incentive levels and all sorts of things with the program?  I am just curious as to when we're going to find out what the actual program that you are going to roll out with NRCan will be.

MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  So the company's position would be is that, so we should proceed with the proceeding with what we have proposed.  We don't believe based on what we know today that the structure of the scorecard would need to change.  We don't believe that the metrics on the scorecard would need to change.

We are negotiating from the point of having the budget that we proposed for the residential area, you know.  So given that it is not a finalized agreement, we absolutely expect to file an update, given the scale of the agreement that is absolutely necessary.

If we do come back, where we think it would be is potentially an adjustment to the target on the residential scorecard, but we wouldn't expect it to change any of the other structural elements.

And then there might be a requirement for flexibility, as we just spoke about.  Right now we have that 30 percent ability to shift and the 15 percent overspend allowance.

We know that one of the things we want to have is making sure that the market participants or, you know, customer-facing, that it can proceed through -- you know, have continuity throughout that time frame, and the two parties have different fiscal periods and budget challenges, but we both expect we would have some level of flexibility, to make sure that you're not, for example, cutting off an offer in December only to try and start it up in January.

We don't really know what that looks like, but it is possible that we would need some form of flexibility to keep that offering in market on the budgetary front, but don't expect it would be any more than what we already have in the framework.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  When do you think you will file an update?

MR. FERNANDES:  We would need a little bit of time after we file, sign an agreement with NRCan.

MS. GIRVAN:  And when is that expected?  Sorry, I am not sure I --

MR. FERNANDES:  We're in the process with that negotiation.  So I don't really have a timeline as to when we can expect it.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  But, you know, the hope is that that would actually happen prior to the beginning of this plan where we would be implementing in 2022.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Would the ultimate agreement with respect to attribution of savings, would that potentially impact your target?

MR. FERNANDES:  That's probably the number one item that we, you know, don't have here today.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  Between the attribution of the savings based on what funding is being provided, there's also, you know, NRCan has a number of other measures.  So how our funding is going to come together and what the ultimate forecast for the totality of the program, there's a number of items that we don't have the visibility to and that would be things like primarily electric-based measures, that they are funding and would like to deliver.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  An example could be like resiliency measures or formal -- there is a number of items we don't really have a good handle on, so we are reliant on NRCan with respect to, you know, the forecasting of those elements, in order to combine our budgets together and then go through attribution to see what our targets would look like.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  If you could turn to CCC number 13, please.  This is in reference to the portfolio costs and how they're allocated to each program based on pro rata share of program spend relative to total program spend.

I just wanted to clarify.  Is this the way you have always done it?  Or is this a change?

MR. JOHNSON:  Subject to check, I am pretty sure that is the way that we have always done it.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And do you have any understanding of how other utilities do it?

MR. JOHNSON:  I do not.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  You haven't looked at that?

MR. JOHNSON:  I have not, no.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right, thank you.  I am almost done.

If you could turn to CCC number 28, please.  If you turn to the next page, there is a chart.  And this looks at the home retrofit offerings from both Union and Enbridge in the previous plans.

And the first thing is -- I had asked you in E to provide both projected savings and actual savings, and you have only provided me the actual savings.  So if as an undertaking you could provide the projected savings for each of those.  Is that possible?

MR. JOHNSON:  Could you clarify what you mean by projected savings?

MS. GIRVAN:  So in 2012, it says your actual net annual natural gas savings is 264,815.  What were you projecting in that year?

MR. JOHNSON:  So do you mean what was our target?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, hmm-hmm.

MR. JOHNSON:  So the challenge would be, we don't have the -- the targets that we have are not set at the residential level.

So there were difference between the two legacy utilities.  But for -- like Enbridge, for example, we had a large volume target and a small volume target.  So residential would be part of the small volume target, but there would be a number of other components that would have made up part of that target.

On the legacy UG, it was one large or one -- I shouldn't say one large.  There was one overall target of which residential would have been a component.  So residential was not broken up as a separate target.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  I just noticed if I look -- and I recall that this is what actually happened was that if you look at participation rates, your actual participation rates were significantly higher, particularly in the later years relative to your targets.

And I am just wondering, have you changed the way that you set the participation rates going forward?

MR. FERNANDES:  We don't have a participation component on the scorecard proposed.  It's purely gas savings.

MS. GIRVAN:  But isn't gas savings really then derived from essentially the number of participants?

MR. FERNANDES:  So now that the scorecards are broken out and we have a residential scorecard on its own --

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. FERNANDES:  -- we proposed a single metric for all of the offerings within the program, and we proposed that to be gas savings.

MS. GIRVAN:  But I guess what I am asking is, isn't gas savings per household the way you arrive at the annual savings for the entire program?  Don't you have to make a guess as to how many people are going to participate?

MR. JOHNSON:  But are you asking what are -- again, we interpreted this question -- and I think you referenced HER participant target, that is an actual metric that the OEB was measuring us on.  And I think what Mr. Fernandes said is with we are not proposing a metric we would be measured on.

So there is not an actual value that we proposed as part of that.

MS. GIRVAN:  How did you derive the annual savings?

MR. JOHNSON:  That I will leave to Mr. Hodgins.

MR. HODGINS:  Sorry.  I lost you there.  Can you repeat that question?

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.  How did you derive the annual savings from the -- going forward for the home retrofit program.

MR. HODGINS:  Our forecast going forward?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. HODGINS:  We would take an expected participant forecast and use what we have been able to derive as an average home savings --

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. HODGINS:  -- or participant savings.

MS. GIRVAN:  That is exactly what I was looking for.  All I am saying is that in the last several years of the previous programs, you weren't really very good at anticipating the number of participants.  I am just wondering to what extent you feel that you can do that now, or have you changed it.  That is really what I am getting at.

MR. HODGINS:  Well, I will point out that in, you know, the results in 2018/2019 also reflect a collaboration, there were some collaboration efforts in there with Green Investment Fund and IESO Whole Home which would have impacted the number of participants achieved.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.

Now, just one last question.  If you can turn to OEB Staff 10(a), number 36 and 37.  And if you can pull up 36, but I am getting the impression that with respect to the single measure offering, you are not quite finished, in the sense that you need substantiation documents and I don't think you figured out necessarily what the savings per measures are.

I just wondered is that correct?  And if so, when will that be determined?

MR. HODGINS:  In terms of your first part, yes, that is correct.  We put in what we believe are our best estimates at this point for those metrics.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. HODGINS:  It is dependent on research to be completed.  I don't have a time frame on when that will be done.

MS. GIRVAN:  So in terms of what the Board is supposed to approve with respect to this program, can you help me?

MR. HODGINS:  Well, I don't think it will substantially change what the proposed targets are, but I don't think -- if you are asking will we have an update before the hearing, we would not.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  When do you think you will update these?

MR. HODGINS:  Well, I'm not sure on the time frame of the research associated with that, unless one of my colleagues is.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I would jump in to say we don't have the research.  It is underway on those residential single measures, it will get done this year and it will get submitted to the EAC for review.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. GROCHMAL:  So that is all I can offer at the moment.

MR. JOHNSON:  We also do, if I can just add a little bit of context there as well, we also do, in B1.1,  page 5 -- we can turn it up if you'd like, but we outline how the targets would be adjusted, and it is basically the same process with which targets would be adjusted for other TRM measures if we were to introduce one today in the existing framework if we were to introduce a target -- or, sorry, a new measure, how that would flow through in terms of the target adjustment mechanism would work the same way.

The reason we have called it out here specifically is simply because again 2023 are fixed targets, so this is something that exists outside of the normal update process.  So we sort of tried to capture the wording in there.

If you could scroll down -- sorry, I should have brought it up too, so I can make sure I am giving you the correct reference there.  We do outline how that change would work.

So we would expect the targets to update accordingly.  If the numbers from those documents resulted in higher savings than we expected the target would go up.  If they resulted in lower savings than we expected the targets would go down.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And this is going to the EAC?

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.  Well, sorry, the EC -- it is the OEB's led TRM process.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  I was a part of that for a while, so --


MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.

MS. GIRVAN:  -- I do know what's that -- anyway, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  Now it is over to you, Mr. Brophy.
Examination by Mr. Brophy:

MR. BROPHY:  Good afternoon, panel.  Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.  I am just going to jump right in and hopefully stay within the time allotted.  I will just pull up the questions.

So a lot of these you probably don't need to bring up the references, but I am happy to do that if you need it.

First off, I just had a quick and simple request from this morning.  I didn't want to jump in and inconvenience Mr. Elson more than -- Mr. Johnson was discussing with Mr. Elson some information related to Environmental Defence number 8, and Mr. Johnson offered to confirm the average measure life value for Enbridge's DSM portfolio.

We would ask that Mr. Johnson provide that value.  Are you still able to and willing to do that, Mr. Johnson?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  We can take that away.

MR. BROPHY:  All right.

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark that as Undertaking --


MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, I was just going to say -- pardon me.  I can't recall any more.  Was that already in the undertaking in the morning or...

MR. BROPHY:  No, it wasn't.

MR. JOHNSON:  No?  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  Just for simplicity so I don't get confused, I am going to mark it as a new undertaking.  It is JT1.28.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.28:  TO CONFIRM THE AVERAGE MEASURE LIFE VALUE FOR ENBRIDGE'S DSM PORTFOLIO.

MR. BROPHY:  Great, thank you.  The next thing I would like to clarify relates to some of the panel discussions again this morning on a few issues that relate to IRs with Mr. Elson.

It sounded like some of the responses from the panel, at least from my hearing them, it sounded like Enbridge was coming across like it was not a supporter of DSM or some of the benefits that it would bring to Ontario and its energy ratepayers.

So my understanding is that is not correct, but I thought I would clear it up, and it should be fairly easy to clear up with the following simple -- or simple yes or no question, if the panel is okay with that.

The question is, does Enbridge support increased DSM results for Ontario's consumers and communities?

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Brophy, we clearly have proposed a plan based on the direction that we received, and it does propose increased budgets over time.

You know, I think we were talking earlier the direction that we received was clear and that it wasn't just about savings in terms of gas savings.  There is a number of items that we needed to look at.

So our proposal was intended for knowing there would be a large number of interested parties, but specifically put together so that parties could weigh in on that.

MR. BROPHY:  So if I hear you correctly, Enbridge does support incremental DSM?

MR. FERNANDES:  We have proposed that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Thank you.

Okay.  So the next question relates to Pollution Probe 7.  Again, I don't think you need to pull it up.  It is a quick question.  But if you need it, feel free.

In there the answer indicated that First Tracks Consulting Inc. was sole-sourced by the company following a recommendation provided to the company in the course of doing broad jurisdictional research across various utilities in the United States.

Do you recall that, that answer?

MR. FERNANDES:  To clarify, you said Pollution
Probe --


MR. BROPHY:  7(a), I believe it was.

MR. FERNANDES:  And that was to the reply evidence, correct?

MR. BROPHY:  Correct.  Yeah.  It sounded like you had answered that.  Not, you know, based on the wording.

MR. FERNANDES:  Sorry, which one did you perceive as being an Enbridge response?  Because we marked all of the responses that were written by Enbridge.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah.  If you want to go to 7(a).  Oh, you know what?

MR. FERNANDES:  That was not an Enbridge response.

MR. BROPHY:  We might have had the wrong -- we might have had the wrong reference.  It was in relation to the -- we asked for whether it was put out for RFP, and Enbridge indicated that it wasn't.  It was sole-sourced.

MR. JOHNSON:  It looks like it is on the page.  PP 8.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, I am off by one number.

MR. FERNANDES:  So I can say that it was sole-sourced.  I believe we have already responded to that.

We heard of First Tracks through an industry contact.  So is there something additional you are seeking on that or --


MR. BROPHY:  Yeah, if you could just -- if you just scroll down a couple of lines.  There, great.

Okay.  So it indicated that Enbridge has done broad jurisdictional research across various utilities in the United States, which actually I was happy to see, because you can learn a lot from those jurisdictions.

So I didn't see that in the filed evidence.  So can you just explain what types of things were covered in the Enbridge jurisdictional research that was conducted?

MR. FERNANDES:  So, you know, the company's been doing DSM programming for multiple decades.  So we did have a request to provide on the record all of our jurisdictional research, and it was actually just too numerous to provide.

We provided what was relevant for the plan, but as a going concern, we're quite frequently doing that.

So I don't know what specifically you are looking for, but we don't think we really want to provide thousands of pages on the record that is not relevant to the plan that we proposed.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  What I am specifically looking for -- so, you know, you engaged First Tracks Consulting in 2021.  You indicate that it was because you got introduced to them when you were doing jurisdictional research in 2021.

And that research was in relation to the issues in this proceeding, and that's why you retained First Tracks to do research, additional research, and then end up filing evidence and being a witness in this proceeding.

So it sounds like that research that Enbridge was doing was very -- it was exactly specific to this proceeding.  It wasn't -- and it was -- you know, it was in 2021 as well when you engaged First Tracks.  So is it -- yeah.

MR. FERNANDES:  So the origin of that is going back to the OEB-led framework consultation.  And part of it was looking at amortization of DSM costs.

And when we did our initial kind of lookout, we saw that Illinois was one of the areas that did that, and we had industry contacts in Illinois.

From those discussions, trying to understand a little bit of what they do was how we made contact with First Tracks.  But the amortization items that relate to this have already been filed.  I would have to find the reference.

So in terms of the -- I think we filed some items related to amortization, but to be clear, we haven't proposed amortization and part of that is because the direction that we received didn't ask us to.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So when I read this, I thought okay there is other jurisdictional research that was done in 2021 that wasn't filed.  But I think what you are saying is there wasn't.  Is that correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  Again, we do jurisdictional, you know, desktop types of things for a number of items.  They're too numerous.

We filed everything that we felt was specific to the plan we proposed in this proceeding.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So just to close this off then, you did research, but there is too much of it to collate and file so the answer you referred to earlier is still applicable?  Is that correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  So the next question came from Pollution Probe 6, but it really relates to the First Tracks report, page 36.  And so if you are going to look at something, that is probably the spot to look.

I will just tell you my question, and then you can decide if you have anything you need to look at.

So First Tracks had put forward a compromised proposal in their report.  Has Enbridge had an opportunity to review the compromised proposal that First Tracks prepared for Enbridge?

MR. FERNANDES:  We have.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  And then is the compromised proposal something Enbridge is willing to agree with?

MR. FERNANDES:  So the company still believes what we proposed in our application that is most responsive to the direction we received from the OEB.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So at this time, you are not willing to accept the compromised proposal put forward by First Tracks.  Is that correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  Well, it requires quite a bit of context, Mr. Brophy.

The compromised proposal was done by an independent expert and it was provided to the OEB, not to the company.  So it was directed to the OEB panel.

But it was an attempt to take the Optimal Energy and Energy Futures Group proposals and, you know, in some ways average it or compromise between the two in order to be helpful is how I read it, and you will have an opportunity to question Mr. Weaver.

But the biggest contextual item is that the basis which he had for that compromise is both the Optimal Energy and the Energy Futures Group proposals, and the company doesn't believe that they were actually responsive to the direction that we provided.  So averaging or compromising them can't be responsive either, necessarily.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, yes, I understand your point that the compromised proposal was developed by First Tracks and they developed it with the intent of filing for the OEB.

The part I am having trouble understanding is -- so First Tracks is a consultant for Enbridge, and Enbridge set the scope.  So they couldn't just go off and do stuff on their own.  They have to be responsive to what Enbridge requested.

So did that -- when they came back with extra work on this compromised proposal, that goes beyond the scope of what you hired them to do?

MR. FERNANDES:  So we were aware of First Tracks' intention to file that, but their scope of work was to respond to the other experts in the proceeding.  So we did not direct them to do that or not do that.

Mr. Weaver did speak with us and the real basis was -- and you should confirm this with Mr. Weaver, it is his evidence -- the real basis was really saying, you know, what would the OEB panel do with these recommendations.

He can come in with yet a third opinion, and that is not necessarily helpful.  And you know, we kind of said, well, we will leave that to you as an independent.  That is a pretty valid opinion.

So we did not direct Mr. Weaver in any way to file that proposal and, you know, it is what it is.  I think there is an opportunity for him to respond to that, but from a company's position, the real underlying issue is that the proposals from Optimal Energy and EFG don't actually respond to the direction that we received.

There is a number of areas where that can be demonstrated, most probably because the Optimal Energy report appears to have been done prior to receiving the OEB direction and the DSM letter.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  So as you mentioned, I will get a chance to ask Mr. Weaver about some specifics, given that Enbridge didn't ask First Tracks to actually do the compromised proposal.

But I guess, you know, one of the areas I am confused on as well is -- so they went off and did work outside the scope of the contract with Enbridge.  They're probably going to get paid for Enbridge to do it.

It's not being accepted by Enbridge.  And I don't see a way that that work can be used in this proceeding.  There is no settlement conference or process where then parties like Enbridge or others would say, hey, do you think this makes sense?  Should we settle?

So it looks like wasted mob to me.  Am I missing something?

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Brophy, can you help me understand how that differs from the recommendations from Optimal Energy or Energy Futures Group?

MR. BROPHY:  They were retained under a scope of work and delivered under that scope of work, right.  But First Tracks delivered things beyond the scope of work, including the compromised proposal.

I am not saying it is right or wrong.  Like to be honest, I don't know if it is good or bad, having done a full assessment of it.  But I would have thought if they had spent the time, it would be used for something.  But it's not going to get used for anything.

MR. FERNANDES:  So, Mr. Brophy, the scope of work for First Tracks was to specifically comment on the other two experts' work products.

So, you know, a compromised proposal, while we didn't contemplate it and explicitly put in a scope of work, we couldn't have done that because when we had the scope of work, we hadn't see their evidence.

So it is not completely out of scope.  He asked an honest question, saying how is this going to be useful for the panel if I don't propose something that is a compromise, and he went down the exact panel line of questioning of is there some sort of settlement process and we said no, in terms of this is what the procedural elements that are laid out before us.

So I don't know how this would have been any different in any other kind of a situation, but it was an eminently reasonable thing to do.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thanks.  We will get a chance to ask questions.  I just -- hopefully my areas of confusion were clear around how it would actually get used, because I still don't understand how it would if there is no settlement process in this proceeding, you know, we would use a compromised proposal.  Okay, so --


MR. FERNANDES:  But to that point, Mr. Brophy, I don't know how you would use two separate expert witnesses proposals that disagree with -- they're literally mutually exclusive.

So that situation that you are speaking to existed prior to filing any reply evidence.

MR. BROPHY:  Well, that is a fair point.  There is proceedings where there's sets of expert witnesses that appear, and to the extent that they're compelling and the Board agrees with, you know, their evidence and points of view, then they might adopt them.  That would be similar in this proceeding and, you know, depending on what the experts say and what the panel believes is appropriate, they will take that.  That is just based on the facts that they're putting forward.

I don't think any of the other expert witnesses put forward a compromise proposal, but I think based on your discussion with First Tracks, I think I understand how it came about.  So I am happy to move to the next question, unless you want to clarify more.

MR. FERNANDES:  I think we are good to proceed.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, super.  Thank you.

So the next topic questions is on the shareholder incentive.  So there is a lot of different IRs and evidentiary references but, as you know, Enbridge's expert First Tracks had opinions on the shareholder incentive and they differed from some of the other experts, I think as you know as well.

Let's see.  Some of these questions were dealt with, so I just want to make sure I am not repeating.

So -- okay.  There is a couple of different proposals on potential for shareholder incentives and how that would work.  One of my questions is, if the OEB decided that Enbridge shouldn't receive a shareholder incentive at all, would that change anything for DSM results?

MR. FERNANDES:  I'm sorry.  What is this in reference to, Mr. Brophy?

MR. BROPHY:  So there was a variety of shareholder incentive proposals that are put forward.  Are you familiar with those, including the ones from First Tracks?

MR. FERNANDES:  I am.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  But I don't think any of the experts suggested that the utility should not receive any incentive at all.  As a matter of fact, I think they said quite the opposite.

MR. BROPHY:  So depending on the shareholder incentive that the Board adopts, would it impact the level of DSM results that are delivered by Enbridge?  Does it matter which one they pick?

MR. FERNANDES:  If you give me a second, I think if you look at First Tracks' report -- let me find the reference -- they explicitly stated that they looked at a number of high-performing other jurisdictions and noted that their performance incentive or scorecard structure is different in all of them, but I don't think you can draw the conclusion that performance is related to the structure of the scorecard.  Is that what you are asking?

MR. BROPHY:  That's exactly the point.  So there is a large variety of shareholder incentives that have been used in jurisdictions in North America, including, you know, no shareholder incentive in some.

So if you look at the ones that have been put forward by the experts or that are being reviewed in this proceeding, the OEB could land on any variety of these or potentially pick something else that wasn't suggested.

So what I was trying to get at is, would the OEB's decision on the shareholder incentive impact the DSM results delivered by Enbridge?

MR. FERNANDES:  Without having more context in what you're referring to, it is very difficult to respond to that.

What decision?  What framework?  What scorecard structure?  What -- like, it is just too open-ended of a question.  I'm sorry, I can't respond to that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So it sounds like you would need the details to know how it would impact Enbridge, and then you decide what you are going to do with your DSM portfolio.  Is that what I am hearing?

MR. FERNANDES:  Sorry.  Correct me if I'm wrong.  Are you saying if there is no shareholder incentive, and nothing else changes, what would we expect?

MR. BROPHY:  No.  What I'm saying is the OEB is going to pick something when they give their decision.  It could be the First Tracks proposal, it could be one of the expert witnesses, it could be no incentive.  It could be any mix in between.

And so is there an impact to the results that will happen from Enbridge's DSM portfolio?  Will the shareholder incentive impact that?  Or is it, regardless of which one they pick, you will still be delivering the same level of results?

MR. FERNANDES:  So the way we approached what we proposed is that the scorecard structure that drives the shareholder incentive is supposed to be the OEB's governance structure, given the significant amount of spend.

So the breakouts and the weightings and all of the various scorecards that we proposed are an attempt to be responsive to the OEB's direction.  And, you know, one of the items, for example, is going to fix sector scorecards.

We're proposing that to respond to the OEB's direction that we should, you know, serve all markets and have broad-based programs so that all customers have an opportunity to participate.

So we think the shareholder incentive being equal between residential, low-income, commercial, and industrial scorecards is appropriate.

If the Board changes that weighting, it is an incentive structure.  The company is supposed to respond to the weighting of the incentives before it.  That is the whole point.

So, yes, I would think it would change our behaviour, because it is supposed to.  The Board puts together that incentive structure to drive the behaviour that it wants.  So without knowing more detail, I can't really respond to you.  But, if for example, in that exact one, if the Board said, we're putting no weighting on low-income, we're going to put it all on residential, that would be something that, you know, the company would and should respond to, because it's been directed by the Board to do so.

Now, that particular example I absolutely do not think will happen, but that is what should be expected.  Like, that is the purpose of the structure and having a shareholder incentive at all.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  No, that is helpful.  That was my understanding.  I just wanted to validate that that is the way Enbridge sees it.

The next question relates to partnerships, and I know with Ms. Girvan you chatted a bit about the Greener Homes Program.  So hopefully I will just be quick on this one.  But based on the material that you filed it sounds like Enbridge has come to an agreement to feed into the Greener Homes Program and have NRCan deliver on their behalf.  Is that correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  We're in the process of an agreement, so I think what's been filed is, the Ontario Ministry did send a letter to NRCan asking them to work with Enbridge on a jointly-funded program.

We filed an update that shows where the status is, that we are in those negotiations, and, yeah, I think you have already seen, or did you have an opportunity to review what was filed?  Or was it just from this morning?

MR. BROPHY:  No.  I saw the deck, and -- so that -- yeah, that is my understanding.  And I don't know if you are aware.  Last time there was that kind of partnership on a program like the Greener Homes.  It was done directly with the Province of Ontario, not Enbridge.  And the results were gangbusters.  It far exceeded anybody's expectations, so I know you have connections and you have discussions with folks at the ministry regularly on this stuff, including the letter you mentioned.

So you may want to -- and again, I am not going to ask for an undertaking to, you know, feed back the results of this discussion, but if anything were to change based on your discussions with the ministry, based on their experience, you know, you may want to let folks know, because I think you are going to get a lot more results through that -- feeding that partnership than you are thinking just based on past history for that one.

So I am happy again to make intros there if you need it.

So I guess the question that relates to that is, so since Enbridge is leveraging another organization's program and the costs and the core program costs are already covered, would it be fair to say that Enbridge's funding into that should make this one of the most cost-effective programs, if not the most cost-effective program for your portfolio?  Because a lot of the costs you would have incurred on your own programs are already being covered by somebody else.  Does that sound reasonable?

MR. FERNANDES:  So I think we can say first off -- there is quite a few things in that, but the previous framework the Board had asked to have collaborative programs with the CDM, our electric side of things and that with one of the driving forces was to have administrative cost savings.

We did propose that that principle in the framework we proposed gets extended so that it is not simply referencing electric, you know, within the province, noting that there would be situations like this with other funding sources.

So we have kind taken that previous framework principle and expanded it to include all other funding sources, and that is consistent with what the ministry stated to NRCan.

But to answer your question, we already have a fairly large-scale program in the residential sector, we're proposing about $40 million a year.

So yes, NRCan bringing in its funding will probably have some administrative savings, but we're already fairly close to scale.  Until we finalize all of the details in the forecast, I don't think we can speak to what that might look like at this time.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  But bringing your money to that program you think is going to have an impact.  There will be incremental program results, I am assuming, right?  Or else you wouldn't do it.

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  I think the two alternatives that we had before us was to try and engage with NRCan and offer, you know, a single customer-facing program in the market or have two alternatives that are largely overlapping.

This is clearly the better alternative for our customers and Ontarians.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, we agree with that, certainly.

Okay.  I think you mentioned the agreement hasn't been finalized yet.  The OEB has accepted and recognized attribution agreements in the past, both by Enbridge and other parties, including electric LDCs for purposes of Enbridge claiming those savings and -- so that's been successful in the past.

But because you don't have that attribution agreement yet available for this proceeding, you know, some could argue that Enbridge is getting a free ride off that program.

What documentation or information would you have to dissipate those concerns?

MR. FERNANDES:  Sorry.  How are we getting -- we haven't reached an agreement yet.

MR. BROPHY:  But there is a program out there operating that you are going to be tying into, and hopefully you will get an attribution agreement and can file that.  And in the past, that clearly, you know, allocated gas savings to Enbridge when you partnered with IESO or some of the electric utilities, or even some of your agreements with municipalities in the past as well.

So there is no question that Enbridge deserves those full savings.  But right now, there is a gap, because that doesn't exist yet.  So are you just -- you don't have anything to fill that gap right now.  You are just going to wait until the attribution agreement is available to file?

MR. FERNANDES:  Well, we certainly hope to have an agreement, and we actually hope to have an agreement and be implemented before the start of the term in this proceeding.

So I am not -- I am not certain what you are referencing to for what we have here in this proceeding.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah.  Well, we hope that you can have the agreement filed before 2023 as well.  But I know in the information, I think it was slide 4 of what you filed indicated that the agreement would follow agreement with the other provinces and if, you know, from -- you know, Pan-Canadian framework and some of the other cross provincial, you know, kind of initiatives, it sometimes takes years to work that out.

So it could be, you know, after 2023 or even after 2027 -- hopefully not -- when that kind of contribution agreement actually is finalized.  So what would happen in that case?

MR. FERNANDES:  We have no indication that that would be the case.  So I wouldn't want to speculate.  It is certainly within the realm of possibility, but I would expect it to be not plausible.

We fully expect to have an agreement before the start of the planned term that we're talking about here.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So would you deliver your programs like normal, as if there is no agreement.  Then once the agreement is in place, then you will actually comply with whatever that agreement says.  Is that what you are thinking?

MR. FERNANDES:  We already are.  Both the programs are in market today.  So I'm -- you know, but that's -- the Greener Homes Grant Program was announced about a year ago, a little bit more than that.  So I am not sure what your question is for today.  So that is the base case.

We were in the market with a program and NRCan announced theirs that has a substantial overlap and we're currently operating in that state today.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And the agreement you are hoping that will get finalized will clarify coordination and attribution between the two programs?

MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Okay, great.  So moving off of NRCan, but the same kind of concept, you know, Enbridge has been delivering DSM for, what is it, 30, 40 years now and decades ago, you know, was the only game in town for DSM programs.  But now there is a lot of programs and organizations delivering those.  So NRCan is an example, and I am sure you know of other ones as well.

Does Enbridge -- does your current plan have any specific plans to outsource DSM programs other than the Greener Homes Program?

MR. FERNANDES:  I'm sorry, Mr. Brophy.  We don't have a plan to outsource Greener Homes.

We have -- we are working on a co-funding agreement to deliver our combined program, and Enbridge would be the program administrator.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, you would be delivering for NRCan in that?

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  You know, in terms of the administrative-type efficiencies that I think you were speaking of earlier, we were already in market and NRCan was not.

MR. BROPHY:  The way I understood it -- and maybe I read your slide update wrong -- is that I thought you would have an agreement that you could then provide support and then you would get the results coming out of the NRCan program, but they would be the ones collecting it and providing you those results.

But it sounds like you are going to deliver a program for NRCan.  Maybe I --


MR. FERNANDES:  To be clear, we're going to jointly fund the single program, a single program from, you know, facing the market so there is less confusion in the marketplace.  But it is jointly funded.  We expect there to be an attribution agreement.

The program administrator for that single program will be Enbridge.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So you will cut the cheques to people and it will include the money from both the funders.

MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  That is very helpful.  So in the past, you had other partnership agreements.  I won't go through the whole list, but City of Toronto was one where you provided funding and incentives for them to deliver DSM savings in Toronto.  Enbridge also loaned staff to them to help them run their programs and get results you counted towards the DSM portfolios.

These kind of partnership approaches -- and I think you alluded to this earlier that they're very cost-effective and reduce overall overheads and deliver a lot of DSM.

So I am just wondering, you know, why hasn't Enbridge proposed to continue more of those types of programs in the 2023-2027 plan?  Like you could even replicate what you did with City of Toronto and expand it to others, it would get you incremental savings.  I am not sure why you're not doing that.

MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Brophy, the plan covers 2023 to 2027.  Any kind of collaborative agreement requires another party and it requires the agreement with the other party.  So I don't think it is necessary for us to incorporate all of those things and come and apply before the Board.

Our practice has been to implement as a program administrator.  So if an opportunity arises in the middle of the term, we would take it.  And that's exactly what the previous framework states and that's what our proposed framework states with the broadening of the funding sources that I mentioned earlier.

So, you know, you have to have that other partner or you can't have the agreement.

MR. BROPHY:  No, I absolutely agree with that.  So I think you are aware or people in Enbridge should be aware that there is significant interest from Ontario municipalities and other stakeholders, but particularly Ontario municipalities, to deliver or partner on these programs.

So what I understand then, because you say it will take time to come to agreements then, you would not have those types of things available for 2023, but would bring them forward at the mid-term review, if you've got agreements in place?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. FERNANDES:  No, that is not what I am saying.  We're asking for the OEB to approve what we've proposed.  That includes a number of items around budget flexibility.  And it also has a framework embedded in it that encourages the company to seek those types of collaborative agreements, and I think, depending on the nature of them, we wouldn't necessarily file anything with the Board.  We would just execute the agreement and proceed.

And I think in the past when they've been, you know, smaller-type ones, we have said there's some administrative efficiencies here, but we're under a shareholder incentive model.  We can't keep any of the money.  There's a number of items that require the accounting.

So any savings either gets reinvested in delivering program results for participants, so it goes back to ratepayers in that way, or it gets -- you know, the savings get refunded through the DSMVA and it is part of the clearance proceeding.

So depending on the specifics of what you are talking about, we wouldn't -- we wouldn't even ask the Board's permission.  It is in the framework.  We would just do it as we should from a -- like any good program administrator would.

If it required by the very agreement a material change to the plan, then we would file an adjustment to the plan.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, yes.  So you know you were talking earlier with, I think it was CCC, about ways to bring incremental DSM, I think GEC as well.  And one of the ways to do that potentially is to leverage, you know, willing delivery agents and like the municipalities out there.  So we would encourage you to look at that.

So -- okay.  So I might as well move on to the next question.  And you were breaking up just a little bit, so I turned the video off in case you are wondering, because I didn't want to...

MR. JOHNSON:  I don't know if I am frozen.  You broke up there, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Yeah, I was worried about that.  I turned off the video just because something was happening with the Internet here.  Can you hear me now?

MR. FERNANDES:  We can hear you now.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great, thank you.  Okay.  The next question -- so -- okay.  I was looking at the response to GEC number 1, and we don't need to go through that full response, but it sounded like Enbridge is indicating that the DSM plan and framework that you filed -- which I guess was originally May 2021 and updated in September 2021 -- remains valid and is [audio dropout]

[Reporter appeals]


[Technical interruption]


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Sorry.  I can repeat the question.  Apologies for that.  Internet has been great today up to now.

So -- okay.  The reference was GEC 1, and in that response it sounded like Enbridge believed that what you put forward for your DSM plan and framework is still valid, and therefore you are not proposing to change that right now, that it is still your position.  Is that correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  You are referring to the compromised proposal filed by First Tracks?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, I think the context of the question was about, you know, do you change anything and adopt any of this, and I think your response was, no, we believe what we filed is still relevant and valid and, you know, we're not switching our position to what First Tracks is now proposing.  Right?  You know, in a nutshell.

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  We believe what we've proposed is most responsive to the direction we received from the OEB and the other policy items in context in Ontario.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So you are not willing or interested to change your position based on Mr. Weaver's review or recommendations?

MR. FERNANDES:  I wouldn't characterize it that way.  It is not that we're adamant that, this is the plan and that's it.  What we said was that Mr. Weaver's evidence was based off of Optimal Energy and Energy Futures Group, and we don't believe that their recommendations were grounded in the direction that we received or the policy environment.

So, you know, having a compromise between the two doesn't address what the Board's direction was to us.  If that had been the case our answer could have been completely different.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  And also even beyond First Tracks' evidence there was intervenor experts and OEB experts that submitted proposals and evidence, but, you know, I think to your point, you are not accepting or changing your proposal based on their recommendations either.  Is that correct?

MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  Like, specifically to note on Optimal Energy, in one of their responses to our interrogatories, they appeared to have completed their work prior to the DSM letter being issued by the OEB.

So, you know, maybe we could go back to that.  So Ms. Adams, I don't know if you could bring up attachment 3 to the IRs from Staff's response to our interrogatories on their evidence.

MR. BROPHY:  Just while they're pulling that up, I will let Board Staff know I only have one or two other quick questions, so hopefully I will be passing the torch soon.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Thanks.  We really would like to try and get through Pollution Probe today so that we can try and keep as close to on schedule as possible.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  Is Mr. Fernandes looking for a document, or...

MR. FERNANDES:  I apologize, Ms. Adams.  I should give you the reference if I am going to do that, right?

MR. BROPHY:  Usually the regulatory staff can read your mind and have it up there before you even think of it.  It's...

MR. FERNANDES:  So it is 7-EGI-1-OEB-Staff 1, and there is attachment 3.  And it really speaks to the scope of work.  So it appears that the Optimal Energy report was done as part of the original framework consultation, and basically, looking at it, the scope of work and what was written for that scope of work and the timing was that it appears that the OEB had at minimum a draft report if not a final report and presentation about two months prior to providing the direction to Enbridge in the DSM letter.

So there is a number of recommendations that don't align with the OEB direction.  So presumably, that is because the OEB had -- okay, thank you, Ms. Adams.

So if you look at this date, it was the final scope of work quite a bit prior to the DSM letter.  And if you just simply scroll down, you should be able to see a schedule on page 5.

So it looks like the work from Optimal Energy or if not the bulk of it was provided to the OEB prior to providing direction to Enbridge.

MR. BROPHY:  So I guess --


MR. FERNANDES:  Presumably, they already knew about a number of the items.  And if they didn't explicitly mention them in the direction to Enbridge, presumably they don't want to do that.

So if that is the case, like, we had fairly clear direction and we were responsive to that.

So does that help, Mr. Brophy?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, I guess, you know, to your point earlier, there is a lot of information and water under the bridge in relation to DSM, including your ongoing research, industry research and things like that, right.

So, you know, all of that kind of feeds in, right.  You know, some of it is the last kind of framework is a benchmark where you said your scorecards kind of became the precedent and now is the basis for what you bring forward.

But I guess the question really was there's no real process or intent for Enbridge to make changes to what it's proposing based on its original evidence in this proceeding, right?  There is no settlement conference.  We're heading to a hearing then there will be some submissions and a Board decision.

So basically what you are proposing today -- even if it doesn't include any of the feedback from these experts or any other stakeholders -- you are kind of locked into what your path is.  I don't see anything else that is being proposed that would shift from that, unless I am missing something.

MR. FERNANDES:  Are you asking does the company expect there to be procedural elements that differ from what the Board has put forward?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, you had mentioned before that you provide updated information at any time when it becomes available.  You don't need the OEB to order you or give a procedural order to that.

So in the same vein, if Enbridge thought there was anything that's come up, you know, either through the evidence or stuff that's going on in your ongoing jurisdictional review that you think is better than the plan you put forward, I would have thought that the door is open.  You don't need the OEB to tell you to come in and say we think this is a better direction.

MR. FERNANDES:  So I think -- the thing to answer that question, Mr. Brophy, is we proposed a five year term as the Board asked us to do, up to six years and we know there is one that was rolled over.

The Board has said in the past that it doesn't want to micro-manage the company as the program administrator.

So you have kind of raised a number of fairly hypothetical situations and I would say we would react as appropriate.

Many things would not necessarily change our plan.  We're under an incentive model.  We're proposing a different incentive model in terms of the structure, but that is intended to guides us so that we don't have to have the kind of regulatory process that I think you are implying, and I think one of the other parties earlier today was questioning about the costs of the regulatory proceedings as well.

So the very basis on what the Board asked us to do is propose a longer term plan with the right governance structure around it so we can operate the business without getting into micro managing the individual elements.

MR. O'LEARY:  It is Dennis O'Leary speaking.  Mr. Brophy, I am just curious given the timing of the day, whether or not you do have several further questions.  It seems to me the area you are questioning right now has been reviewed extensively and I am wondering if perhaps you would consider moving on.

MR. BROPHY:  Thanks for the nudge, Mr. O'Leary.  Okay, so I might as well get on to my last question which ties into the temporal element that Mr. Fernandes brought up around materials, letters, evidence being created over a certain period of time and how that relates to each other.

So I know Enbridge has been referring back to the original kind of letter that kind of started the proceeding and gave some direction.

There's been more up-to-date letters since then, although Enbridge keeps referring back to the older one.

So one example would be the most recent one that I know of -- unless Enbridge is aware of something more recent -- was the mandate letter of November 15th, 2021, where the Ministry highlighted the need for increased natural gas savings and reducing greenhouse gas emissions, and specifically did not mention anything about budget or some of the wordings -- wording that Enbridge was getting tripped up on as far as budget.

So in my mind, that is the most recent policy direction here and anything before it could be considered old.

So can you explain why we shouldn't give weight to the most recent kind of policy direction and keep referring to some of the older letters?  I know you said sometimes things that are old we shouldn't consider, but I will just stop there and see if you have thoughts on that.

MR. FERNANDES:  So I do believe that we will update things as they become apparent.  But the direction from the government that I am aware of to the OEB has been consistent.

They've always spoken about, you know, a desire to have higher gas conservation, you know, run by the gas utilities, and they've also said but that needs to be balanced with the impacts on rates and bills.

So I don't see anything in the letter that -- the mandate letter was issued on November 15th that really changes that.

MR. BROPHY:  So are you aware of anything more recent than the November 15th mandate letter that would relate to DSM?

MR. FERNANDES:  I am not.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. FERNANDES:  I certainly can't think of anything that is directly related.

MR. BROPHY:  Neither was I.  Okay.  Well, Mr. O'Leary, you will be happy to know I am finished and I will pass the baton.  Thank you, panel.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Brophy.  I see we're after five o'clock, so I thank people for standing on four minutes longer.

Before we go, I just -- I just wanted to talk to people briefly about the schedule.  We have been able to make up some time this afternoon.  We still have a bit of a ways to go,  I anticipate staff will probably send out a revised schedule starting tomorrow morning.

But I would ask that questioning parties once again go back and look at their time estimates and to the extent they can shave any time off, it would be appreciated.  We have made up some time.  We still have a bit to go, but I am confident if people stick to their time or hopefully some people can try to reduce their time a little bit, we will still finish on time on Wednesday.

So I would ask people to take that away and think on it this evening.

With that, I will say good night to everyone and we will see you all tomorrow morning at 9:30.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.  Good night.

MR. FERNANDES:  Have a good evening.  And thank you, Ms. Adams and Ms. Walter.
--- Whereupon proceedings adjourned at 5:05 p.m.
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